Natural Killer Cell Function in Chronic HCV Infection

by

Mark Collister

A Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies of

The University of Manitoba

in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Department of Immunology

University of Manitoba

Winnipeg

Copyright © 2013 by Mark Collister

# **Table of Contents**

Dedication	iv
Acknowledgements	v
List of Figures	vi
List of Tables	viii
Abbreviations	ix
Abstract	xi

Introduction1		
1.1 He	patitis C virus1	
1.2 HC	2V infection	
1.2.1	HCV prevalence, incidence and natural history1	
1.2.2	HCV transmission2	
1.2.3	HCV life cycle	
1.2.4	HCV genome and encoded proteins	
1.3 Im	mune system4	
1.3.1	Innate and adaptive immunity	
1.3.2	Cellular responses to HCV5	
1.3.3	Natural killer cell functions	
1.3.4	Natural killer cell activation10	
1.3.5	NK cell subsets	
1.3.6	NK cells and the liver	
1.3.7	NK cells in acute HCV infections	
1.3.8	NK cells in chronic HCV infections14	
1.4 HC	2V treatment	
1.4.1	Treatment for chronic HCV infections	
1.4.2	Factors influencing treatment outcomes	
1.5 HC	21 CV treatment and immunity	
1.5.1	Genetics	
1.5.2	Impact of treatment on immune system	
1.5.3	Impact of treatment of NK cells	
1.6 Pro	bject summary	

2	Met	thods	.25
	2.1	Patient recruitment	. 25
	2.1.	1 Ethics	. 25
	2.1.	2 Recruitment	. 25
	2.2	Sample preparation	. 26
	2.2.	1 Blood collection and PBMC isolation	. 26
	2.2.1	2 Plasma	. 26
	2.3	NK cell functional assays	. 27
	2.3.	1 Target Cell culture maintenance	. 27
	2.3.	2 NK cell cytotoxicity	. 27
	2.3.	3 Flow analysis of activation markers	. 29
	2.3.	4 Data Analyses	. 32
3	Res	ults	.33
	3.1	Study demographics	. 33
	3.2	NK-92 control cell line used for patient normalization	. 33
	3.3	Caucasian versus Aboriginal patients with chronic HCV infections	. 36
	3.3.	1 Demographics based on Caucasian and Aboriginal ethnicity	. 36
	3.3.	2 NK cell cytotoxicity between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients	. 38
	3.3.	3 Degranulation marker CD107a between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients	. 42
	3.3.	4 TRAIL expression between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients	. 45
	3.3.	5 Exhaustion marker PD-1 expression between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients	. 47
	3.3.	6 Cell-specific IFNγ between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients	. 49
	3.3.	7 Cell-specific TNFα production between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients	. 52
	3.3.	8 NK cell functions between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients	. 54
	3.4	Viral Loads	. 56
	3.4.	1 Baseline parameters between high and low viral loads	. 56
	3.4.	2 NK cell cytotoxicity and baseline viral loads	. 58
	3.4.	3 Degranulation marker CD107a between high and low viral load patients	. 60
	3.4.	4 Exhaustion marker PD-1 expression between high and low viral loads	. 64
	3.4.	5 Cell-specific IFNγ between high and low viral loads	. 67
	3.4.	6 NK cell functions between high and low viral loads	. 72
	3.5	Liver damage	. 77

ii

	3.5.1	NK cell cytotoxicity and fibrosis	77
	3.5.2	Fibrosis and other parameters	79
	3.5.3	NK cell cytotoxiity and liver damage	79
	3.5.4	Degranulation marker CD107a and serum AST	81
	3.5.5	TRAIL expression and serum AST	85
3	.6 Trea	atment Outcomes	87
	3.6.1	Study demographics between treatment outcome cohorts	87
	3.6.2	NK cell cytotoxicity and EVR	89
	3.6.3	NK cell cytotoxicity and SVR	92
	3.6.4	CD107a, TRAIL and PD-1 expression and SVR	94
	3.6.5	NK cell cytokine production and SVR	97
	3.6.6	NK cell functions and SVR	99
4	Discussi	on	101
4	.1 NK	cell function in Caucasian and Aboriginal patients with chronic HCV infections	102
	4.1.1	Differences in NK cell function between ethnic cohorts	102
	4.1.2	Stimulation of NK cells between ethnic cohorts	107
	4.1.3 infection	Summary of NK cell function in Caucasian and Aboriginal patients with chronic HCV s108	7
4	.2 Vira	I loads and NK cell function	109
	4.2.1	NK cell functions between high and low viral	109
	4.2.2	NK cell function between high and low viral loads	113
	4.2.3	Viral load and NK cell function summary	114
4	.3 NK	cell function and liver damage	115
	4.3.1	NK cell function and fibrosis	115
	4.3.2	NK cell function and liver enzymes levels	115
	4.3.3	NK cell function and liver damage summary	117
4	.4 The	role of NK cells in treatment outcomes	117
	4.4.1	Baseline NK cell functions cannot predict EVR	117
	4.4.2	Baseline NK cell functions cannot SVR	118
	4.4.3	The role on NK cells in treatment outcomes summary	120
4	.5 Con	clusion	120
4	.6 Con	siderations and limitations	121

Dedicate to my family and friends

# Acknowledgements

I would like to sincerely thank my supervisor, Dr. Julia Rempel, for the opportunity to work on my M.Sc. within her laboratory. I have learned very much from you over the past few years. From scientific writing to presentation styles, I have learned much from you that I will continue to use for the rest of my life.

Thank you to my committee members, Dr. Sam Kung and Dr. Michael Carpenter for your criticisms, suggestions and discussions during the course of my degree. Both of you have kept me on my toes during my yearly committee meetings.

A special thanks to members of the Section of Hepatology including Dr. Gerald Minuk for the challenging questions during research and lab rounds, and the nursing staff, especially Kim Hawkins, Claudia Watson, Jacquie DeLaney and Marianne Wiebe for coordinating the many projects over the years.

I have really enjoyed working with my fellow lab members. Thank you Amelie and Charles for your help in getting me started in the lab and answering all my questions. Thank you Kiran, Betty and Juliet for always making time to talk during your busy days. Your friendships mean a lot to me. To Meaghan and Neil, we always had the most in-depth conversations in the hallways of the 8<sup>th</sup> floor JBRC. Thanks to the rest of the lab staff including Sid, Jordyn and Alyssa whose banter with I have thoroughly enjoyed.

To all the friends I've made from the Department of Immunology. You know who you are and I am thankful to have met you. I can't walk around the lab area in Apotex without catching up with somebody. To Kelly, for sharing an office towards the end, for keeping me on track, and for the billiard games, you will always be a good friend.

Lastly, I am extremely grateful for the support of my family. Thanks Mom and Dad for equipping me to succeed with my life. Thanks to my grandparents for the support and home-cooked meals. Thanks to my siblings and other friends for their encouragement.

# List of Figures

Figure 1: NK-92 control cell line used for patient normalization.	35
Figure 2: NK cell cytotoxicity is similar between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients with chronic HCV infections.	40
Figure 3: Decreased IFNα-induced NK cell cytotoxicity within Aboriginal patients at 3 months of treatment relative to baseline.	41
Figure 4: Representative flow cytometry data to illustrate gating strategy for our intracellular cytokine staining protocol.	43
Figure 5: CD107a expression on NK cell subtypes is similar between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients.	44
Figure 6: TRAIL expression on all NK cell subtypes is similar between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients.	46
Figure 7: PD-1 expression on all NK cell subtypes is similar between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients.	48
Figure 8: A greater percent of NK cell subsets from Caucasian patients produce IFN <sub>γ</sub> compared to Aboriginal patients.	51
Figure 9: TNF $\alpha$ production within all NK cell subsets is similar between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients	53
Figure 10: Number of NK cell functions are similar between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients.	55
Figure 11: NK cell cytotoxicity negatively correlates with viral loads.	59
Figure 12: Spontaneous expression of CD107a in all NK cell subsets correlate with baseline viral loads.	62
Figure 13: Increased CD107a expression on CD56bright NK cells in patients with highviral loads compared to patients with low viral loads at baseline.	63
Figure 14: Expression of PD-1 in all NK cell subsets upon K562 stimulation correlate with baseline viral loads.	65
Figure 15: Increased expression of PD-1 on NK cells in patients with high baseline viral loads.	66

Figure 16: The portion of IFN $\gamma$ producing CD56bright NK cells correlate with baseline viral loads.	69
Figure 17: Increased portion of IFN $\gamma$ producing CD56bright NK cells in patients with high baseline viral loads.	70
Figure 18: CD107a expression correlates with IFN $\gamma$ production within the CD56bright population.	71
Figure 19: Spontaneous NK cell functions associate with viral loads.	74
Figure 20: K562 stimulated NK cell functions do not associate with viral loads.	75
Figure 21: Number of NK cell functions are similar between high and low viral load patients.	76
Figure 22: NK cell cytotoxicity was suggestive of a positive correlation with baseline fibrosis.	78
Figure 23: Increased expression of CD107a in NK, CD56dim and NKT cells upon K562 stimulation correlate with baseline serum AST.	83
Figure 24: TRAIL expression within the total NK and CD56dim populations upon K562 stimulation correlate with baseline serum AST.	86
Figure 25: NK cell cytotoxicity does not differ between patients who achieve and do not achieve an EVR.	91
Figure 26: NK cell cytotoxicity does not differ between patients who achieve and don't achieve an SVR.	93
Figure 27: CD107a, TRAIL and PD-1 expression are not predictors of SVR.	96
Figure 28: IFN $\gamma$ and TNF $\alpha$ production from NK cells cannot predict SVR.	98
Figure 29: Number of NK cell functions are similar between SVR+ and SVR- patients.	100

# List of Tables

Table 1: Antibodies used for flow cytometry	31
Table 2: Baseline parameters between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients	37
Table 3: Baseline parameters between high and low viral loads	57
Table 4: NK cell cytotoxicity did not correlate with liver damage.	80
Table 5: CD107a expression correlates with liver damage upon HepG2 stimulation.	84
Table 6: Patient demographics of SVR+ and SVR- patients	88

# Abbreviations

Aboriginal	AB
Alanine aminotransferase	ALT
Alpha	α
Antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity	ADCC
Antigen presenting cell	APC
Aspartate aminotransferase	AST
Beta	β
Body mass index	BMI
Caucasian	CA
Culture medium	СМ
Cytolytic T lymphocyte	CTL
Dendritic cells	DC
Direct-acting antiviral	DAA
Early virological response	EVR
Gamma	γ
Gamma glutamyl transpeptidase	GGT
Granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor	GM-CSF
Hepatitis C virus	HCV
Hepatitis B virus	HBV
High viral load	HVL
Human immunodeficiency virus	HIV
Human leukocyte antigen	HLA
Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motifs	ITIM
Injection drug users	IDU
Interferon	IFN
Interferon regulatory factor	IRF
Interferon-stimulated genes	ISG
Interleukin	IL
Internal ribosomal entry site	IRES
Intracellular cytokine staining	ICCS
Killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors	KIR
Low-density lipoprotein	LDL
Low viral load	LVL
Lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus	LMCV
Lysosomal-associated membrane protein 1	LAMP1
Myeloid dendritic cells	MDC
Natural killer	NK
Natural killer T cell	NKT

Non-responder	NR
Non-structural	NS
Pattern recognition receptor	PRR
Pegylated interferon	pegIFN
Peripheral blood mononuclear cell	PBMC
Plasmacytoid dendritic cells	PDC
Polymerase chain reaction	PCR
Programmed cell death protein 1	PD-1
Protease inhibitor	PI
Rapid virological response	RVR
Ribonucleic acid	RNA
Scavenger receptor class B	SR-B1
Signal transducer and activator of transcription	STAT
Single nucleotide polymorphism	SNP
Sustained virological response	SVR
T helper	Th
TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand	TRAIL
Tumor necrosis factor	TNF

# Abstract

NK cells control viral replication through cytotoxicity and IFNγ production. These functions were assessed in chronic HCV infected patients undergoing treatment. Aboriginals have genetic polymorphisms that may enhance NK cell function suggesting more effective clearance of chronic HCV than Caucasians.

NK cell function was similar at baseline between ethnicities. At 3 months of treatment, Caucasian had higher NK killing potential compared to Aboriginal patients. This had no effect on treatment outcomes. NK cell cytotoxicity negatively correlated with viral loads while NK IFNγ production, particularly within the CD56bright subset, positively correlated with viral load suggesting that viral loads control NK cells function through an unknown mechanism. NK cell killing reflect fibrosis, but not liver damage measured by liver enzymes. IFNγ production, by NK cells does not reflect fibrosis nor liver enzymes levels. Lastly, NK cell function does not associate with therapeutic outcomes of chronic HCV infection suggesting that they do not directly play a role in therapeutic clearance of HCV.

# Introduction

#### **1.1 Hepatitis C virus**

The Hepatitis C virus (HCV) was first discovered in 1989 when it became apparent that most cases of hepatitis resulting from blood transfusions were not due to hepatitis A or B viruses [1, 2]. HCV is now estimated to infect 200 million people worldwide [3]. People with acute HCV tend to remain asymptomatic and have few clinical manifestations. Acute HCV infections may eventually develop into chronic infections. Chronic HCV results in ~20% of infected people to progress to liver cirrhosis over the course of decades [4, 5]. Once this occurs, the only possible intervention is a liver transplant. Although treatment continues to evolve, current regimens require IFN and may be only moderately successful with multiple side effects.

# 1.2 HCV infection

# **1.2.1** HCV prevalence, incidence and natural history

The global prevalence rate of HCV is estimated to be 2-3% which accounts for 170-200 million people [6]. The prevalence rates are estimated to be 5.3% in Africa, 4.6% in the Eastern Mediterranean, 3.9% in the West Pacific, 2.15% in Southeast Asia, 1.7% in the Americas and 1.03% in Europe [7].

Within Canada, the prevalence rate is estimated to be 0.8% [8]. The prevalence of HCV in the Canadian Aboriginal population varies. However, higher incidences of acute HCV infection are generally reported [9, 10]. Nonetheless, within Canada, lower rates of chronicity have been observed compared to other populations [10-12].

## **1.2.2 HCV transmission**

HCV transmission occurs primarily through direct percutaneous exposure to blood mainly through illicit injection drug use (IDU) [13]. Prior to the `1990's, transfusion or transplantation from infectious donors were also common forms of transmission. In countries that now routinely test blood donors, transfusion-associated HCV infection has nearly been eliminated [14]. Other risk factors for acquiring HCV infection include unsafe therapeutic injections and occupational exposure to blood primarily through accidental needle sticks. HCV is also less efficiently transmitted by mucosal exposures to blood or serum-derived fluids such as vertical transmission from mother to child or engaging in sexual intercourse with an infected partner [15, 16].

#### **1.2.3 HCV life cycle**

HCV is a member of the Flaviviridae family with a positive-strand RNA genome. The liver is the major site of HCV replication with HCV RNA being detectable in 5-50% of hepatocytes in chronically infected individuals [17, 18]. The HCV virus attaches to a cell via specific interactions between host cell receptors and viral proteins resulting in pH-dependent endocytosis which is believed to be a characteristic of the family Flaviviridae life cycle [19]. Although a detailed mechanism for HCV has yet to be determined, studies have suggested the importance of CD81, scavenger receptor B1 (SR-B1) and LDL receptor (LDLr) for viral entry [20-24]. C-lectins, including L-SIGN and DC-SIGN, along with a tight junction component, claudin-1, have also been suggested as potential co-receptors for virus attachment based on their affinity to HCV glycoprotein E2 [25-27].

Once viral entry has occurred, the plus strand RNA is translated to produce the NS proteins, including the viral RNA dependent RNA polymerase essential for generating the membranous

web and subsequent negative strand synthesis. This complementary negative-strand is then used to produce genomic positive-strand RNA. Multiple interactions between host cell membrane and viral nonstructural proteins control the assembly and activity of this process.

After viral replication, translation of the HCV RNA molecules occurs via a cap-independent IRES-mediated process with direct recruitment of each ribosome to the starting site of translation [28]. The main translation product from the HCV genome is a large precursor polyprotein that is processed by cellular and viral proteases to generate the structural and non-structural proteins.

Viral assembly involves oligomerization of the capsid proteins and encapsidation of viral genomic RNA. Once this nucleocapsid forms in the cytoplasm, it acquires an envelope as it buds through an intracellular membrane. It is then believed that HCV particles are released through the host cell secretory pathway as HCV structural proteins have been observed in the endoplasmic reticulum and the Golgi apparatus [29].

# **1.2.4** HCV genome and encoded proteins

The positive strand HCV RNA genome is about 9,600 nucleotides [30] with a single large open reading frame that encodes a 3,000 amino acid polyprotein flanked by short 5' and 3' untranslated RNA regions [1]. The polyprotein can be divided into two segments: the NH<sub>2</sub>-terminal region containing the structural proteins core, E1 and E2 and the COOH<sup>-</sup> terminal region containing the nonstructural proteins p7, NS2, NS3, NS4A, NS4B, NS5A and NS5B. The nucleocapsid protein (core) is highly conserved among the different HCV genotypes. Core and the two envelops glycoproteins (E1 and E2) are the major structural components of the virion [1]. HCV proteins are multifunctional and have roles in viral propagation and immune modulation. Core is essential for viral replication, virion formation and pathogensis. E1 and E2 proteins are necessary for viral entry, but E2 in particular is also immune modulatory. The small

p7 protein assembles into a membrane-bound multimer which may function as an ion channel [31]. Its function is believed to be in particle assembly and release, and is not certain whether it is incorporated into virus particles. NS2 is thought to play a role in viral morphogenesis and release. NS3 in conjunction with NS4A forms the NS3-4A complex which is essential for viral polyprotein processing and RNA replication. NS4B is believed to play a critical role in assembly of the HCV replication process and also has GTPase activity which is important for RNA replication. NS5B is an RNA-dependent RNA polymerase. When considering that HCV has a high replication rate of between  $10^{10}$  and  $10^{12}$  virions per day, one can see the enormous potential to create a diverse viral population known as quasispecies. These viral quasispecies can escape immune surveillance resulting in viral persistence.

Similar to other RNA viruses, HCV shows astonishing genetic diversity due to its error prone RNA-dependent RNA polymerase. Six distinct HCV genotypes have been identified to date and a consensus has been reached on the nomenclature used to describe them along with the much larger number of HCV subtypes [32]. Regardless of the HCV genotype, HCV proteins interact with the immune system.

# **1.3** Immune system

# **1.3.1** Innate and adaptive immunity

The immune system can broadly be classified into two parts: the innate and the adaptive immune systems. Innate immunity is the body's first line of defense against an infectious disease. Components of innate immunity consist of physical barriers such as skin, mucosal surfaces that prevent pathogens from adhering to the epithelium. Innate immunity deals with most pathogens without requiring adaptive immunity. It is able to recognize different pathogens through different pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) that can distinguish components of bacteria, viruses and fungi from healthy cells. Hallmarks of the innate immune system include rapid, non-specific responses and no classical memory responses. Adaptive immunity is critical when a pathogen overwhelms innate immunity. Antigen presenting cells such as dendritic cells and macrophages act as a mediator between innate and adaptive immunity. These cells present specific antigens from the pathogen to effector cells of the adaptive immune system. Effector cells include a repertoire of T and B cells, of which a select few will undergo clonal expansion to generate cell-mediated and humoral immunity. Hallmarks of the adaptive immune system include a delayed response, specificity and memory responses.

#### **1.3.2** Cellular responses to HCV

### 1.3.2.1 Natural killer cells

Natural killer (NK) cells are CD56<sup>+</sup>CD3<sup>-</sup> lymphocytes which are part of the innate immune system as they can induce death of allogeneic cells and autologous cells undergoing various forms of stress such as microbial infection or malignant transformation [33, 34]. They comprise 5-15% of lymphocytes within the periphery and may account for 40-60% of intrahepatic lymphocytes [35, 36]. Their principle function is to sense pathogen infected or transformed cells and, upon activation, eliminate these cells. They act through two main effector functions: target cell lysis, as well as cytokine and chemokine secretion [37-39]. NK cells are also involved in bidirectional cross-talk with dendritic cells (DCs). Through direct cell contact, activated NK cells enhance DC maturation and production of IL-12 while DCs enhance NK cell cytotoxicity [40, 41]. Please see Section 1.3.3 for NK cell functions.

# 1.3.2.2 Dendritic cells and monocytes

DCs are capable of taking up and processing viral antigens to present them to other immune cells [42]. They are a critical component that bridges innate and adaptive immunity. DCs detect the presence of pathogens, process antigenic material, and present it through major histocompatibility complex molecules to lymphocytes, including T cells [43]. There are two major subsets of DCs, myeloid dendritic cells (MDCs) and plasmacytoid dendritic cells (PDCs), based on their development from either myeloid or lymphoid precursors and distinct cytokine profiles: myeloid DCs produce IL-12 and IL-10 with little interferons while plasmacytoid DCs produce abundant type-1 interferons and little of anything else [44].

During chronic HCV infections, there is selective impairment in the maturation process of both MDCs and PDCs [45, 46]. Furthermore, the PDC compartment in patients with chronic HCV appears reduced relative to healthy donors. This may contribute to the defective type-1 interferon response [47, 48]. HCV core protein has been shown to interact with toll-like receptor (TLR)2 expressed by monocytes to increase IL-10 secretion by monocytes. This is believed to result in the inhibitory effect of HCV on DC differentiation [49]. Taken all together, this may contribute to the failure to maintain a sustained HCV-specific T cell response required for HCV eradication.

# 1.3.2.3 T cells

There are different subsets of T cells, each with their own specific functions. The main subsets are CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and regulatory T cells. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells provide the necessary help for both cellular and humoral immunity. They provide costimulatory signals to B cells, activate antigen presenting cells (APCs) and prime and sustain the CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell response. They are classified based on their function and the types of cytokines they produce. They can be divided into Th1 cells that produce cytokines such as IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-2, Th2 cells that primarily

produce IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13, and Th17 cells that mainly produce IL-17 [50, 51]. CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells have two effector functions: i) to eliminate infected target cells and ii) secrete of cytokines. Secreted cytokines include IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  which use different pathways to create an antiviral environment. Regulatory T cells are classically defined as CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup>, and are divided into two major subsets: thymus-derived natural Tregs and peripherally inducible Tregs. They function mainly in self-tolerance and to limit harmful immune responses [52, 53]. They do so directly through contact-dependent mechanisms and indirectly via TGFB1 and IL-10 production [54, 55]. Numerous studies have indicated that individuals with initial, strong, and multi-specific T cell responses may clear virus spontaneously [56-58]. In contrast, during chronic HCV infections, CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells lose their proliferative and effector functions in a process known as Tcell exhaustion [59]. HCV-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells have been shown to have impaired IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-2 secretion [60, 61]. HCV-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses during chronic infections are weak and target only a narrow selection of viral epitops compared to people who clear the virus [62]. Regulatory T cells are elevated in the peripheral blood of individuals with chronic HCV infections and are believed to inhibit the Th1 CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell response [63, 64]. Th17 cells have been shown to be correlated with ALT levels, but not HCV RNA in individuals with chronic HCV. Thus they may not play a role in controlling disease progression during the infection as seen in other liver diseases [65-67].

It is believed that HCV develops its viral quasispecies during the time required to generate an adaptive immune response. Thus CTLs have not had time to expand and acquire effector functions [68, 69]. It is believed that these escape mutations within epitopes restricted by HLA class I alleles result in the development of chronic HCV infection [70, 71].

# 1.3.2.4 B cells

B cells are lymphocytes that are an essential component of the adaptive immune system and they play a role in the humoral immune response to pathogens. They are capable of serving as antigen-presenting cells, but their main function, once activated with T cell help and after differentiation into plasma B cells, is to make antibodies against antigens. Another major function of B cells is to differentiate after activation into memory B cells that are long-living cells that can respond much more quickly to secondary exposures to the same antigen.

As previously mentioned, chronic HCV is characterized by viral quasispecies. By the time antibodies are made specific to the HCV virus, it has already mutated making those neutralizing antibodies obsolete. Clonal expansion of peripheral CD5<sup>+</sup> B cells has been reported [72, 73]. B cell regulatory dysfunction is also reported as important regulatory B cell receptors such as Fas, TNF receptors I and II, and B-lymphocyte stimulator have been shown to be elevated which may induce B cell clones and autoantibody production [74, 75]. The end result of HCV-related B cell clonal expansion and dysfunction is up to 40% of infected individuals have extrahepatic symptoms including mixed cryoglobulinemia, glomerulonephritis, systemic vasculitis, Sjögren's syndrome, and B cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma [76].

# **1.3.3** Natural killer cell functions

As previously mentioned, NK cells have two main functions. They can kill target cells directly through cytolysis or indirectly through cytokine production. There are three main mechanisms of NK cell cytolysis. The first involves the delivery of secretory lysosomes or granules containing perforin and granzyme B into the immunological synapse between the NK cell and its target [77, 78]. These cytotoxic granules are formed during development and NK cells constitutively express perforin and granzymes B [79]. Lining these cytolytic granules is the

lysosomal-associated membrane protein (LAMP)-1, otherwise known as CD107a, which can readily be detected via flow cytometry [80]. Once inside the synapse, it facilitates entry of granzymes into the target cell. Once inside the target cells, granzymes, in particular granzyme B, promotes apoptosis through proteolysis of a few different substrates. It can directly cleave and activate caspases [81-83]. Granzyme B may also promote caspase-independent apoptosis by triggering mitochondrial permeabilization [84, 85]. A second mechanism of NK cell killing is known as antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC). This process occurs through the activating receptor CD16 found on the surface of NK cells. CD16 is a low-affinity activating Fc receptor (FcγRIIIA) that allows NK cells to bind to and eliminate antibody-coated cells [86], [87]. The final mechanism of NK cell killing is through the binding of TNF-related apoptosisinducing ligand (TRAIL) on the surface of NK cells to its death receptor DR4 (TRAIL-R1) and DR5 (TRAIL-RII) on the surface of target cells [88].

The other main function of NK cells is to produce cytokines with antiviral functions including IFN $\gamma$  and TNF $\alpha$ . The importance of NK cell-produced IFN $\gamma$  is well documented with detectable protein levels observed during some but not all viral infections [89-92]. The production of these cytokines is also important in the development of antiviral T cell responses.

HCV E2 has been shown to inhibit protein kinase receptor activity via crosslinking with CD81 to inhibit NK cell functions including cytotoxicity and IFN production [93, 94]. Inhibiting NK cells early in infection may allow HCV to establish a replication advantage prior to the induction of specific immune responses from which the host may never recover. NK cells have a number of different regulatory receptors which participate in the activation/inhibition of cytotoxicity and cytokine production.

## **1.3.4** Natural killer cell activation

Unlike other lymphocytes, NK cells do not express antigen-specific receptors, but are still able to selectively eliminate virus-infected and tumor cells. NK cell activation is controlled by a delicate balance between activating and inhibitory signals. Two models of NK cell activation have been proposed and are called the 'missing self' and 'induced self' models [95, 96]. The 'missing-self hypothesis' suggests that NK cells eliminate target cells that show reduced or abnormal MHC or HLA class I molecules. In other words, they attack target cells that are missing expression of self-molecules normally found on healthy cells. The 'induced self' model suggests that stressed cells upregulate expression of "inducible self" ligands which NK cells are able to recognize without the need for altered MHC or HLA class I molecules. More activation tips the balance in favour of NK cell activation.

Three groups of NK cell receptors have been distinguished: the immunoglobulin superfamily, the C-type lectin superfamily and the natural cytotoxicity receptors. The immunoglobulin superfamily killer-cell immunoglobulin-like receptor (KIRs) and lectin-like receptors can be activating or inhibitory, while natural cytotoxicity receptors have only activating functions. For the immunoglobulin and C-type lectin superfamilies, inhibitory and activating elements can be found in the cytoplasmic tails of these receptors. Inhibitory receptors signal through intracellular immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motifs (ITIMs) located in the cytoplasmic tail. In contrast, activating receptors signal through immunereceptor tyrosine-based activating motifs (ITAMs) which are not contained in the receptor's cytoplasmic tails but rather in associated molecules. It is believed that a balance of inhibitory and activating signals is responsible for NK cell activation.

KIR receptors recognize classical MHC classI-like molecules including HLA-A, -B and -C. They are able to recognize polymorphisms within these molecules. Each individual has their own KIR repertoire based on their genes. The KIR cluster contains 15 genes and 2 pseudogenes [97]. Due to different allelic variants and levels of expression, different ethnic populations of NK cells can express a variety of KIRs [98, 99].

The C-type lectin superfamily recognizes non-classical MHC class I or class I-like molecules. Three C-type lectin receptors include NKG2D, a receptor for the stress-inductible MHC class Ilike molecule MICA, MICB and ULBP1, NKG2C [100, 101], a receptor for the non-classical MHC class I molecule HLA-E [102], and NKRP-1, a putative NK cell receptor for still undefined carbohydrates, glycolipids and/or glycoproteins [103].

Natural cytotoxicity receptors are immunoglobulin-like receptors including NKp30, NKp44 and NKp46. Although several viral ligands of natural cytotoxicity receptors have been identified, little is known about their cellular targets. One study shows that they bind to heparin sulfate on cancer cells [104]. These receptors are specific to NK cells and once crosslink, participate in cytotoxicity and cytokine release [105]. The activation status of NK cells correlates with liver inflammation. Increased expression of NKG2A, CD69 and CD107a, a marker of NK cell degranulation, on peripheral NK cells have been associated with disease activity [106-109].

# 1.3.5 NK cell subsets

As mentioned, NK cells kill target cells directly through cytolysis or indirectly through cytokine production. NK cells can be divided into two subsets based on their expression of CD56 and CD16. Approximately 90% of peripheral blood NK cells are CD56dimCD16<sup>+</sup> whereas the remaining 10% are CD56brightCD16+/-dim [110]. Although early studies show that resting CD56dim NK cells were naturally more cytotoxic compared to CD56bright NK cells [111], it has

subsequently been observed that these subsets have similar levels of cytotoxicity after activation with IL-2 or IL-12 in vitro [112, 113]. CD56dim NK cells, having greater expression of CD16, therefore it is believed that they participate more in ADCC compared to the CD56bright NK cell subset. The CD56bright subset are the main producers of immunoregulatory cytokines or chemokines including interferon IFN- $\gamma$ , tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$ , TNF- $\beta$ , granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF), IL-10, and IL-13 [114, 115]. The CD56dim subset, under the same conditions, produces negligible amount of immunoregulatory cytokines [114].

# **1.3.6** NK cells and the liver

The liver is enriched with NK cells known as intrahepatic NK cells. Under normal conditions, intrahepatic NK cells account for about 30% of resident lymphoid cells but may reach up to 90% in liver diseases [35]. Intrahepatic NK cells are embedded in the endothelial lining of the liver sinusoids and was originally described as 'pit' cells [116]. Intrahepatic NK cells can be sub-classified based on the density and size of their granuoles (low density/small granuoles vs. high density/large granuoles). High density/large granuoles most resemble peripheral NK cells. It has been shown, in rats, that peripheral blood high-density–large granular cells migrate to the liver and differentiate into liver-specific low-density–small granular NK cells [117].

There is limited data on intrahepatic NK cells. Liver biopsies from healthy people are rare. Intrahepatic NK cells may behave differently than peripheral NK cells due to the tolerogenic environment of the liver. This hyporesponsive state of intrahepatic NK cells has been described in the early stages of hepatitis B virus infection in humans and may contribute to the establishment of chronic viral infection [118]. Murine intrahepatic NK cells are less cytotoxic and have an alterered cytokine profile producing less IFN $\gamma$  and greater levels of immunoregulatory cytokines such as IL-10 compared to peripheral and splenic NK cells [119]. Most evaluations of intrahepatic NK cells are compared to peripheral NK cells or to intrahepatic cells from other liver diseases. In general, however, a larger portion of intrahepatic NK cells express activation molecules and TRAIL receptors compared to the peripheral blood compartment [109, 120].

#### **1.3.7** NK cells in acute HCV infections

People with acute HCV infections rarely come to the attention of clinicians as most infections are asymptomatic. Therefore, limited data exists during this phase of infection with regard to NK cells. The majority of individuals (55-85%) exposed to HCV develop chronic infections [121]. Those individuals who do not develop a chronic infection clear the virus spontaneously. Differences in viral genotype and host age, gender and ethnicity affect spontaneous clearance. African Americans have been shown to have reduced rates of spontaneous clearance, while Canadian Aboriginals have increased rates of spontaneous clearance when compared to Caucasians [10-12, 122, 123]. A possible explanation for ethnic differences in spontaneous clearance could be the prevalence of different KIR profiles among different ethnicities. The presence of different KIR receptors has been shown to influence the outcome of HCV infections [124, 125]. African Americans have unique KIR gene profiles which may account for their increased rate of chronicity [126]. Previously, the Rempel lab has shown that relative to Caucasians, Canadian Aboriginals possess KIR clusters that display a greater immune activating phenotype associated with genes of the KIR B haplotype [127]. Similarities exist between the KIR gene profiles seen in the Manitoban Aboriginal population and KIR gene profiles reported to be associated with spontaneous clearance of HCV [125, 128, 129].

Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) within the IL-10 gene promoter may also in part explain the ethnic disparity in spontaneous clearance of HCV. HCV protein induction of IL-10 may impair IFNγ production and proliferation of HCV-specific T cells in acute HCV infection [49, 130]. SNPs can be classified as high, intermediate or low IL-10 producers based on IL-10 production from PBMC [131]. SNPs defined as low IL-10 producers have been associated with HCV clearance [132, 133]. The Rempel lab has previously shown that Aboriginals have a genetic tendency to produce less IL-10 compared to Caucasians and that this may contribute towards higher spontaneous clearance rates seen in this population [134].

Upon any viral infection, peripheral blood NK cells become more prevalent and activated. One study reported an increase in the number CD56bright NK cells and a reduction in the number of CD56dim NK cells in chronic HCV infections [135]. Despite this change in NK cell subset composition, both cytotoxicity and IFNγ production of NK cells are greater in acute HCV infections compared to healthy controls [135]. This same study has found that expression of the activating receptor NKG2D was also increased in the acute phase of HCV infection. Another study reported an increase in NK cell activity as measured by a degranulation assay [136]. They found lower IFNγ production however this may be attributed to opioid use by the subjects. NK cell activity correlated with the magnitude of HCV virus-specific T cell responses during spontaneous clearance which implies a coordinated innate and adaptive immune response during acute HCV infection.

# 1.3.8 NK cells in chronic HCV infections

In contrast to acute HCV infections, more studies have been done examining NK cell in the context of chronic HCV infections. Within the peripheral blood compartment of individuals with chronic HCV, NK cell frequencies in both absolute and percentage of total lymphocytes are reduced when compared to healthy individuals [107, 137, 138]. A number of studies have documented a relative increase in peripheral CD56bright, but not CD56dim NK cells [107, 137, 139, 140]. When examining effector functions of NK cells, there is more conflicting information. Some groups report an increase [108, 141], one reports no difference [137], and yet others report a decrease [142-144] in NK cytotoxic activity between individuals with chronic HCV infections compared to healthy individuals. IFN $\gamma$  production from NK cells, however, generally appear decreased in chronic HCV infections supporting the T cell exhaustion hypothesis [108, 109, 141]. Changes in NK cell phenotype include an increase in activating receptor expression including NKG2C, NKp44, NKp46 and NKp30 [109, 140, 145]. Conflicting information with regard to NKG2D expression exists with reports suggesting upregulation, downregulation or no change [140, 145-147].

Few studies have examined the role of intrahepatic NK cells in chronic HCV infections. TRAIL was found to be down-regulated on intrahepatic NK cells from HCV infected patients compared to intrahepatic NK cells from healthy controls [148]. The intrahepatic NK cell compartment is also significantly reduced in patients with chronic HCV compared to healthy people [107, 148, 149]. Accompanying a reduced intrahepatic NK cells compartment, there is reduced cytotoxicity and similar IFNγ production from intrahepatic NK cells when compared to intrahepatic NK cells from otherwise healthy subjects who agreed to donate a liver tissue fragment during laparoscopic cholecystectomy [148]. Another study suggests reduced cytotoxicity and IFNγ production from intrahepatic NK cells in cirrhotic patients with chronic HCV compared to healthy donors [150]. Needless to say, more research is needed to address the role of intrahepatic NK cells during chronic HCV infections.

# **1.4 HCV treatment**

# 1.4.1 Treatment for chronic HCV infections

Current standard of care antiviral therapy includes pegylated interferons (pegIFN) and ribavirin, although this is rapidly changing. PegIFN is a product of pegylation, the attachment of inert polyethylene glycol polymers, to IFN. This results in a larger molecule with a longer half-life due to reduced clearance while maintaining its biological activity. Interferon monotherapy used before the development of pegIFN, was successful in 15-20% of cases [151]. Using the current standard of care treatment regime, successful treatment occurs in approximately 50% of genotype 1 infections and up to 80% for genotype 2 or 3 [152, 153]. This is an improvement over interferon monotherapy which was successful in 15-20% of cases [151]. Treatment success, or sustained virological response, is defined as having undetectable HCV RNA six months after the end of treatment. More than 97% of patients who achieve a sustained virological response (SVR) remain HCV RNA free as detected by PCR for the following 5-14 years [154, 155].

Although the mechanism of action of interferon is currently unknown in the context of HCV infection, it is believed that induction of interferon-stimulated genes (ISGs) is important for favourable outcomes. It has been shown that HCV viral loads begin to decline approximately 8 hours after a single dose of interferon [156]. This rapid initial decline in viral loads during the first one to 2 days of treatment is followed by a gradual second phase of viral elimination over the course of several months [157].

Ribavirin  $(1-\beta-D-ribofuranosyl-1,2,4-triazole-3-carboxamide)$  is an oral purine nucleoside analogue with broad activity against viral pathogens [158]. Although the exact antiviral mechanism of ribavirin is unclear, the current theory is that it acts as a mutagen to increase the probability of lethal mutations being incorporated into the HCV genome. Ribavirin exposure has been linked to an increase in HCV mutation frequency in HCV replicon cell lines, as well as in patients treated with ribavirin monotherapy [159]. In contrast, for those receiving combination pegIFN and ribavirin, the mutation frequency fell on treatment between 20 and 47 days [159]. Another study also identified an increase in HCV mutation frequency in humans treated with ribavirin monotherapy at 4 weeks but not at 24 weeks of treatment [160]. However, ribavirin monotherapy followed by combination interferon/ribavirin treatment did not support an increase in HCV mutations [161].

In addition, ribavirin may modulate the innate immune response. Tissue expression profiling of liver biopsies from patients treated with a single dose of peginterferon with or without ribavirin indicated that ribavirin increased expression levels of several ISGs and also decreased several negative regulators of interferon signaling such as PP2A and SOCS1 [162]. Evidence also suggests that ribavirin, at clinically achievable plasma levels, suppresses IL-10 production by PBMC from HCV RNA positive patients exposed to HCV core protein [163].

IFNα treatment is associated with a range of adverse effects including leucopenia, thrombocytopenia, autoimmunity, neutropenia, depression, fatigue, and "flu-like" symptoms which can become serious. Maintenance of pro-inflammatory cytokine expression during the first four weeks of pegIFN and ribavirin treatment has been associated with treatment induced depression [164]. Ribavirin is also associated with serious side effects including hemolytic anemia. Side effects from HCV treatment are sometimes dose limiting and may lead to discontinuation of treatment in approximately 20% of patients [153, 165].

New therapeutics for treating chronic HCV infections were introduced during 2011. These therapeutics are known as direct-acting antivirals (DAA) as they target specific viral elements pathways that interfere with HCV infection and replication. The best known DAAs are the first-

generation NS3/4A protease inhibitors (PI) that were added in combination with pegIFN and ribavirin to treat genotype 1 infections. These PIs are known under their trade names of boceprevir and telaprevir and increase the SVR rates in naïve patients upwards to 75% [166, 167]. More importantly, these benefits are even more important in raising SVR rates in treatment-experienced patients [168, 169].

Other potential targets of DAAs include both structural and nonstructural proteins [170, 171]. Structural proteins include the nucleocapsid core protein, the envelope glycoproteins E1 and E2. Nonstructural proteins targeted include the NS2/NS3 region, the NS3 serine protease RNA helicase, the NS4A peptide cofactor of NS3, the NS5A protein and the NS5B RNA-dependent RNA polymerase. The research behind these other DAAs is still in its infancy. As our understanding of HCV molecular biology improves, so will the development of drugs to improve treatment response rates.

# **1.4.2** Factors influencing treatment outcomes

# 1.4.2.1 Viral factors

Viral factors can influence treatment outcomes. These include viral genotypes and viral load. Viral genotype is perhaps the most important viral factor that influences treatment outcomes. SVR rates differ drastically among viral genotypes with SVR rates of approximately 50% for genotypes 1 and 4 compared to up to 80% for genotypes 2 and 3 [152, 153, 172]. High baseline viral loads (measurement of HCV RNA levels in the blood prior to commencement of treatment), at >800,000 IU/ml, have been associated with worse therapeutic outcomes in particular for genotype 1 infections [173-175].

Viral kinetics during the first few weeks of treatment are strong indicators of subsequent treatment outcomes. HCV RNA levels generally fall in a biphasic manner during treatment [156]. The first drop in HCV RNA occurs in the first few hours of treatment. It is due to an inhibition of viral replication by the direct, non-specific action of IFN. The second drop of HCV RNA occurs gradually leading to seroclearance. It is believed to be related to the elimination of infected cells. The presence of a rapid virological response (RVR), defined by undetectable HCV RNA after 4 weeks of treatment is the single best predictor of an SVR to current antiviral therapy for patients with genotype 1 infections (89% and 89% respectively) [176, 177], or patients with genotype 2 or 3 infections (89% and 81% respectively) [178, 179]. The presence of an early virological response (EVR), defined as at least a 2 log drop in HCV RNA from baseline levels at 12 weeks of treatment, is also predictive of successful treatment outcomes with 72% of patients subsequently developing an SVR [155]. EVRs can further be broken down into complete EVR (cEVR, a lack of HCV RNA at 12 weeks) and partial EVR (pEVR, a greater than 2 log drop in HCV RNA at 12 weeks). Achieving either a cEVR or a pEVR may be used to optimize treatment duration in previously non-RVR patients [180].

#### **1.4.2.2 Host factors**

Host factors that influence treatment outcomes include gender, age, ethnicity and comorbidities. A gender effect on treatment response has been reported. Females had higher SVR rates in studies using conventional IFN-based therapy [181], but in studies using pegIFNribavirin, no gender differences were observed [153, 182]. Younger patients under 40 years of age also had higher SVRs on pegIFN and ribavirin therapy [152, 153, 172]. Ethnicity also impacts therapeutic success. Please see section 1.4.2.3 for details. In addition, concurrent morbidities impair the ability to achieve a SVR. Chronic HCV patients with body mass indexes (BMIs) greater than 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> are more likely to be insulin-resistant and have been shown to be a risk factor for nonresponse to antiviral therapy independent of viral genotype [183]. They are also more likely to have hepatic steatosis or steatohepatitis, which are also negative predictors of SVR rates [184, 185]. Excessive alcohol use further reduces the likelihood of a response to treatment [186]. Other virus co-infections, most notably HIV and HBV, have been associated with lower SVR rates [187]. It has been estimated that 3-6% of HCV carriers are co-infected with HBV with a higher prevalence rate in high-risk groups and in geographical regions are both viruses are endemic [188]. Up to 50% of HIV-infected patients are co-infected with HCV with prevalence being higher in injection drug addicts compared to other risk categories [189]. The presence of fibrosis and cirrhosis has been shown in several studies to be an unfavourable predictor of treatment outcomes [190-192].

## 1.4.2.3 Ethnicity

African-American patients, when compared to Caucasian patients, have been shown to have lower rates of SVR with genotype 1 infections [193, 194]. However, when looking at genotype 2 and 3 infections, there is no difference between these ethnicities [193, 195]. Patients of Asian descent, on the other hand, have been shown to have enhanced rates of SVR compared to Caucasian patients [196, 197]. Not a lot is known of Latino/Hispanic patients, however it has been suggested that they tend to have lower rates of SVR compared to Caucasians [196, 198]. Lastly, within the Canadian Aboriginal population, it has been suggested that they have similar rates of SVR compared to Caucasians [199]. However, this study does not take into account treatment-naïve individuals. When considering that 0 of the previously 14 treated Aboriginal patients achieved an SVR compared to 260 of the 854 previously Caucasian patients, this information suggests that the rate of SVR within treatment-naïve Aboriginal patients is slightly higher than their Caucasian counterparts. Ethnic differences in treating chronic HCV infections may be due to different genetics between ethnic populations.

# **1.5 HCV treatment and immunity**

# 1.5.1 Genetics

Recently, using genome-wide association studies, the importance of single nucleotide polymorphisms near a gene encoding a type III interferon, IL-28B, has been identified as a strong indicator of the ability to achieve a SVR with treatment [200, 201]. Different major and minor IL-28B alleles have been associated with SVR or non responders. More interestingly, the nonresponse allele frequency was much higher in African Americans compared to Hispanics or European Americans, while the effect of response genotype on SVR was essentially identical regardless of race [201]. In a independent, multiethnic population, the highest frequency of the major allele was seen in East Asians. Thus differences in allele frequency may help to explain the racial difference in SVR rates.

Another polymorphism which may impact IFN-based therapies for chronic HCV lies within the IL-10 gene. IL-10 can modulate immune responses and is a classical anti-inflammatory cytokine. When examining IL-10 polymorphisms, several groups reported distribution associations with treatment outcomes [133, 202]. It has been shown that serum IL-10 levels are lower in individuals who achieve a SVR compared to those who do not achieve a SVR [203, 204]. In contrast, no associations with treatment outcomes have been found [205-207]. With such conflicting information, it is difficult to correlate IL-10 SNPs with treatment outcomes.

Other genetic studies have indicated that certain KIR and HLA-C genes are associated with favourable responses to IFN $\alpha$ -based treatment regimes [208, 209]. It is interesting to note that these KIR genes are among those that have been beneficial in spontaneously resolving HCV infections.

# **1.5.2** Impact of treatment on immune system

As mentioned, current standard of care antiviral therapy includes pegIFN $\alpha$  and ribavirin. Exogenously administered IFN activates endogenous pathways of type I IFN signaling. Firstly, throughout the body, IFN binds to IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  receptors (IFNAR) and activates the Jak-Stat signal transduction pathway. IFNAR exists as a heterodimer of IFNAR-1 and IFNAR-2 [210], and can be found on nearly all cell types. Once activated, it recruits and phophorylates the tyrosine kinases Jak1 and Tyk2, which in turn phosphorylates STAT1 and STAT2. Phosphorylated STAT1 and STAT2 combine with IRF9 to form the heterotrimeric transcription factor known as ISGF3. ISGF3 binds to the interferon-stimulated response element upstream of interferonstimulated genes (ISGs) to promote their transcription. One of these ISGs is IRF-7, which amplifies interferon- $\alpha$  and - $\beta$  transcription, thus generating a positive feedback loop for the amplification of type I interferon signaling [211].

Type I IFNs have broad antiviral activity. Several hundred genes can be induced, yet others can be negatively regulated [212-214]. A large number of these genes have unknown functions, but taken altogether they establish an "antiviral state" in the cell [215]. This "antiviral state" protects the cell from viral infection by directly targetting many different stages of viral replication including viral entry, envelope uncoating, genome replication, protein assembly, and release of viral progeny to limit infection [216, 217]. Type I IFNs also have indirect immunomodulatory activity to control viral infections. They can target innate immunity by promoting neutrophil

survival [216, 218] and the activation of macrophages [219], natural killer cells [220] and DCs [221]. In addition to its crucial role in regulating innate antiviral immunity, type I IFNs can also enhances the adaptive immune response. Type I IFNs have been shown to have an important role in the differentiation of both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells [222, 223]. Furthermore, type I IFNs stimulate the proliferation of memory T cells [224], enhances dendritic cell differentiation [225, 226], and upregulates class I MHC expression on hepatocytes [227].

#### **1.5.3** Impact of treatment of NK cells

IFN $\alpha$  is the foundation of current anti-viral therapy for chronic HCV infections because it is a potent stimulator of NK cells. It has been shown to increase NK cell cytolytic activitity [228, 229]. Two studies have shown that antiviral therapy shifts the balance of peripheral NK cell subsets by increasing the proportion of CD56+bright NK cells, while slightly declining the CD56+dim subset [230, 231]. These authors argue that this is an advantageous strategy as increased secretion of IFN $\gamma$  by CD56+bright NK cells has an antiviral effect, whereas the decrease in the CD56+dim subset may limit damage to hepatocytes. A different study has shown that the reduction of NK frequency and suppression of IFN $\gamma$  synthesis due to chronic HCV were reversed after antiviral therapy [138].

In addition, during IFN $\alpha$  therapy, there is an increase in NK cell cytotoxicity which may be due to enhanced degranulation or the capacity to induce apoptosis [232]. The exposure to IFN $\alpha$  *in vitro* induces TRAIL expression on NK cells, TRAIL expression inversely correlated with viral load, and that patients who responded to antiviral therapy had higher levels of TRAIL on CD56+dim cells than those who did not respond to therapy [106]. Increased frequency and total number of intrahepatic NK cells on treatment may also associate with SVR [149].

# **1.6 Project summary**

Based on the ethnic differences in spontaneous and therapeutic HCV clearance which involve the KIR genes, we were interested in evaluating peripheral NK cell function between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients preparing to undergo treatment for chronic HCV infection. NK cell function was examined before treatment and after 12 weeks of treatment. The two functions of NK cells we were interested include NK cell cytotoxicity and cytokine production (IFN $\gamma$  and TNF $\alpha$ ). Three separate mechanisms of NK cell cytotoxicity were examined.

The main objectives of this study were:

- 1. To examine if NK cell function differed between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients with chronic HCV infections.
- 2. To examine if NK cell function in chronic HCV associated with viral control and/or cellular injury
- 3. To examine if NK cell function associated with therapeutic outcomes in chronic HCV infections

The hypothesis for objective 1 was that Caucasian patients would have inferior NK cell function when compared to Aboriginal patients. We hypothesized for objective 2 that NK cell function would negatively associate with viral loads, but positively associate with liver damage. Lastly, our hypothesis for objective 3 was that enhanced NK cell function would associate with favourable treatment outcomes.
## 2 Methods

#### 2.1 Patient recruitment

#### **2.1.1** Ethics

This study was approved by the University of Manitoba Research Ethics Board and was conducted in accordance with discussions with thre Health Research Information Committee, Assembly of Manitoba Chiefs. Participation was voluntary and written consent forms were signed by all study participants.

## 2.1.2 Recruitment

Caucasian and Aboriginal patients preparing to undergo treatment for chronic HCV infections were recruited through the Viral Hepatitis Investigation Unit, Health Sciences Centre, Winnipeg, MB, Canada. Standard of care inclusion and exclusion criteria for pegylated-IFN and ribavirin treatment applied. The majority of participants had HCV genotype 1 infections. Participants were HIV and HBV antibody negative. Hepatic inflammation was monitored by examination of serum levels of aspartate aminotransferase (AST), alanine aminotransferase (ALT), gamma-glutamyl transferase (GGT) and bilirubin. Fibrosis and inflammation were graded according to the METAVIR scoring system. Viral loads were measured by quantitative PCR at Cadham Provincial Laboratory, MB, Canada. Early virological responses (EVR), defined as at least a 2 log reduction in viral titer in the serum at 3 months relative to pre-treatment levels, were recorded. The absence (SVR+) or presence (SVR-) of detectable HCV-RNA 6 months after the end of treatment was determined. In addition, seven Aboriginal patients with chronic HCV infections who did not start treatment were recruited from there Mount Carmel Clinic, Winnipeg, MB, Canada.

## 2.2 Sample preparation

#### 2.2.1 Blood collection and PBMC isolation

Blood samples (~40ml) were drawn and collected in sterile 10 ml EDTA tubes (BD, Franklin Lakes, NJ). Isolation of PBMC from whole blood was performed in a biosafety cabinet under sterile conditions. Two parts blood was diluted with one part sterile 0.85% saline before being carefully layered on top of Histopaque® (Sigma, St. Louis MO) and spun at 600 x g for 30 minutes at room temperature. PBMC were collected using a 2ml pipette, washed twice with sterile 0.85% saline and spun at 300 x g for 10 minutes at room temperature. PBMC were then resuspended in 4ml of PBMC culture medium and counted using a hemocytometer. PBMC culture medium consisted of RPMI 1640 (Hyclone, Logan, UT) supplemented with 10% (v/v) heat-inactivated fetal calf serum (Invitrogen Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY) and 2mercaptoethanol (Sigma). PBMC viability was determined using trypan blue exclusion with a 1 in 10 dilution of PBMC in culture medium in trypan blue (Sigma). Aliquots of fresh PBMC were used to evaluate NK cell cytotoxicity in chromium release assays and for *in vitro* cultures. PBMC were also frozen for flow cytometry analysis performed at a later date.

#### 2.2.2 Plasma

Plasma samples (diluted 1:2) were acquired following density centrifugation of PBMC using a 2ml pipette. Samples were aliquoted into 2ml eppendorf tubes (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany) and stored at –80°C until analysis for cytokine levels.

## 2.3 NK cell functional assays

#### 2.3.1 Target Cell culture maintenance

K562 (ATCC<sup>®</sup> CCL-243<sup>™</sup>) and HepG2 (ATCC<sup>®</sup> HB-8065<sup>™</sup>) cell lines were used as targets for chromium release assay and functionality assessed by flow cytometry. NK-92 (ATCC® CRL-2407<sup>TM</sup>) control cell line was used as a control for the chromium release assay. These cell lines were purchased from American Type Culture Collection (Manassas, VA). K562 cells were maintained in RPMI 1640 (Hyclone) supplemented with 10% (v/v) heat-inactivated fetal calf serum (Invitrogen Life Technologies). Medium was changed every 2 to 3 days. New cultures were started with 1.0 x  $10^5$  and were subcultured at 1.0 x  $10^6$  in a T25 flask (Corning, Tewksbury, MA). Adherent HepG2 cells were maintained in DMEM (Hyclone) supplemented with 10% (v/v) heat-inactivated fetal calf serum (Invitrogen Life Technologies). Medium was changed every 3 days. Subculturing occurred when plate confluency reached >90%. Cell monolayer was washed with sterile 0.85% saline and digested with TrypLE (Invitrogen) before subculturing 1 in 6 in a T75 flask (Corning). NK-92 cells were maintained in aMEM supplemented with 12.5% (v/v) fetal calf serum (Invitrogen Life Technologies), 12.5% (v/v) horse serum (Lonza, Basel, Switzerland) 0.2 mM inositol (Sigma), 0.1 mM 2-mercaptoethanol (Sigma), 0.02 mM folic acid (Sigma) and 100U/ml recombinant human IL-2 (R&D, Minneapolis, MN). Medium was changed every 2 to 3 days to start a new culture at 2.0 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells/ml into a new T25 flask (Corning).

## 2.3.2 NK cell cytotoxicity

To measure NK cell cytotoxicity, fresh PBMC were used in a standard 4 hour chromium release assay. This assay does not work on previously frozen cells. Isolated patient PBMC were cultured overnight with or without 100 IU/ml recombinant human IFN $\alpha$ -2b (PBL

InterferonSource, Piscataway, NJ) in 15ml sterile round bottom tubes (Corning Incorporated, Corning, NY) at a concentration of 5.0 x  $10^6$  PBMC/ml. The following day, the PBMC were washed and resuspended in PBMC culture medium at concentration of 2.5 x 10<sup>6</sup> PBMC/ml. Serial dilutions were made to get additional concentrations of 1.25 x  $10^6$  and 0.63 x  $10^6$ PBMC/ml. 100µl of each PBMC dilution was added to a 96 well v-bottom plate (Corning). 1.5 x 10<sup>6</sup> K562 or HepG2 target cells were put in sterile 50ml conical tubes (Corning) and spun at down at 300 x g. The supernatants were discarded and the target cells were then labeled with 500µCi Na<sub>2</sub>CrO<sub>4</sub> (PerkinElmer, Waltham, MA) for 1 hour at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. After the incubation, target cells were washed once with 1x Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (Invitrogen) and again with appropriate cell culture medium before being resuspended at  $1.0 \times 10^4$  cells/ml. 100µl of each target cell suspension was added to each PBMC dilution along with wells with 100ul of appropriate cell culture medium to measure the spontaneous release or 5% Triton X-100 (Sigma) to measure the maximal release. After the 4 hour effector:target (E:T) incubation at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, the 96 well v-bottom plate was spun and 100µl from each well was collected into a non-sterile 5ml round bottom tube (BD Biosciences) to measure counts per minute (cpm) on a Wallac Wizard 1470 Gamma Counter (PerkinElmer). All analyses was done in triplicate. NK cell lysis was defined as the amount of Cr-51 released into the medium upon target cell lysis. Specific lysis was calculated by the following formula:

specific lysis (%) = 
$$\frac{\text{cpm test} - \text{cpm spontaneous release}}{\text{cpm max release} - \text{cpm spontaneous release}} \times 100$$

To compare NK cell cytotoxicity results from different patients, NK-92 cells were run in parallel to patient samples at E:T ratios of 10:1, 5:1, 2.5:1 1.25:1 and 0.6:1 to normalize patient data as described in the Results.

#### 2.3.3 Flow analysis of activation markers

To examine activation markers on the surface of NK cells and their association to NK cell function, surface stains of NK cells were performed. Patient PBMC, previously frozen in liquid nitrogen, were thawed, washed twice in PBMC culture medium and aliquoted ( $2.5 \times 10^5$  cells) into 5 ml round bottom tubes (BD Biosciences). All tubes were washed with 1x PBS and resuspended in 1x PBS. Fixable Viability Dye eFluor® 506 was added to each tube for 20 minutes on ice. Tubes were then washed and resuspended in FACS buffer (0.5% BSA, 0.05% NaN<sub>3</sub> in 1x PBS). Fluorochrome conjugated antibodies against NK cell surface markers were added for 30 minutes on ice as per Table 1. PBMC were also used to examine mechanisms of lysis and intracellular cytokine staining.

PBMC were washed with FACS buffer and fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde (from a 16% stock, Canemco Inc., Lakefield, Quebec) for 20 minutes on ice. After washing in 1x PBS, PBMC were resuspended in FACS buffer until acquisition on a FACS Canto II (BD Biosciences) the following day. Acquisition was performed using FACSDiva software. Analysis was done using FlowJo (Tree Star Inc., Ashland, OR).

Flow cytometry was used to examine the appearance of protein involved in different NK cell lytic pathways on NK cells in conjunction with NK cell-specific cytokine production. Patient PBMC were washed twice in PBMC culture medium and PBMC ( $2.0 \times 10^6$  cells) were resuspended at a concentration of  $1.0 \times 10^6$  PBMC/ml with either  $4.0 \times 10^5$  K562 or HepG2 target cells at an E:T ratio of 5:1 in a sterile 5ml snap cap round bottom tube (BD Biosciences).

In addition, PBMC  $(2.0 \times 10^6)$  were cultured with PMA/ionymycin (Sigma) as a positive control, or alone as a negative control. PBMC were stained with a mouse anti-human CD107a:PE-Cv5 (BD Biosciences) or with mouse IgG1:PE-Cy5 isotype control (BD Biosciences) for 1 hour at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> before addition of 6µg/ml monensine (Sigma) and 10µg/ml brefeldin A (Sigma). Cells were incubated for five hours at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, except for the PMA/ionomycin tube which was placed at 4°C after 3 hours to prevent excessive cell death. After five hours, all tubes were centrifuged, washed with 1x PBS and resuspended in 1x PBS. Fixable Viability Dye eFluor® 506 was added to each tube for 20 minutes on ice. Tubes were then washed and resuspended in FACS buffer. For each PBMC tube, two 2.5 x 10<sup>5</sup> PBMC aliquots were washed a second time. Staining was performed on 2.5 x  $10^5$  PBMC to reduce antibody usage in analysis of NK cell surface markers and Panel 2 (Table 1). Antibodies for surface staining were added and incubated for 30 minutes on ice. PBMC were washed with FACS Buffer and fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde (Canemco Inc.) for 20 minutes on ice. PBMC were washed with 1x PBS and permeabilized in FACS buffer with 0.1% saponin for 20 minutes on ice. After another wash with FACS buffer containing 0.01% saponin, PBMC were stained intracellularly for IFN $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$ for 30 minutes on ice. PBMC were washed with FACS buffer containing 0.01% saponin and resuspended in FACS buffer and kept at 4°C in the dark until acquisition. Samples were acquired the following day on a FACS Canto II flow cytometer (BD Biosciences). All data was analyzed using FlowJo software (TreeStar).

Antibody	Clone	Conjugated fluorochrome	Compensation antibody
Viability Dye	_	eFluor® 506 (AmCyan)	-
NK surface markers			
CD3	SK7	PE-Cy7	CD3:PE-Cy7
CD56	B159	Alexa488	CD3:Alex488
CD16	3G8	APC-H7	CD16:APC-H7
CD69	FN50	PE	CD8:PE
NKG2D	1D11	PE	CD8:PE
Lytic mechanisms			
CD107a	H4A3	PE-Cy5	CD4:PE-Cy5
TRAIL	RIK-2	PE	CD8:PE
PD-1	MIH4	PE	CD8:PE
Intracellular staining			
TNF-α	MAb11	APC	CD3:APC
IFN-γ	B27	v450	CD3:v450

Table 1: Antibodies used for flow cytometry

## 2.3.4 Data Analyses

All statistical analyses and figure generation were done using GraphPad Prism version 5 (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA). All correlations shown were determined using the non-parametric Spearman's rank test. All differences between study cohorts were evaluated using the non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test. Within cohort significant differences were determined by paired t test. p<0.05 (two-tailed) was considered significant.

#### **3** Results

#### 3.1 Study demographics

Forty-five patients were enrolled in this study with eight patients not qualifying to start treatment. Viral loads (n=37) were assessed at baseline and at 3 months into treatment to determine EVR, and six months after treatment to determine SVR. Baseline liver enzymes (n=39) were assessed as a surrogate of liver inflammation or damage. Liver biopsies were also performed for sixteen patients to determine fibrosis and inflammation. Fibrosis stage was assessed by the METAVIR five point scale ranging from 0 (no fibrosis) to 4 (cirrhosis). Grade of inflammation was determined on a four point scale ranging from 0 (no inflammation) to 3 (severe inflammation).

#### 3.2 NK-92 control cell line used for patient normalization

NK-92 cells were run in parallel to patient samples at E:T ratios of 10:1, 5:1, 2.5:1 1.25:1 and 0.6:1 to normalize percent lysis values between different patients to account for inter-assay variation. We believe that NK-92 cells are an adequate control as percent lysis values titrate down with decreasing E:T ratios (Fig. 1). In addition, each individual experiment yielded percent lysis results that were consistently all above or all below the mean values. If the NK-92 cells ran in parallel to patient PBMC had higher percent lysis values for that day compared to the mean value from all experiments, then a method to lower patient percent lysis values is required. For each patient at every E:T ratio, the percent lysis value was compared to the mean percent lysis value from all experiments to calculate a ratio. This ratio was calculated for every E:T ratio. The average of the five ratios was determined and this value was used to multiply the patient percent lysis values. For example, if an individual experiment yields NK-92 percent lysis values that are higher compared to the mean NK-92 percent lysis values, then a number is calculated (in this

case, greater than 1) to divide (and lower) the patient percent lysis values. On the other hand, if an individual experiment had low NK-92 percent lysis values, then the ratio (in this case, less than 1), would increase the patient percent lysis values. These normalized patient percent lysis values were used in subsequent analyses.



**Figure 1: NK-92 control cell line used for patient normalization.** NK-92 cells were run in parallel to patient PBMC in a four hour <sup>51</sup>Cr release assay against K562 target cells at E:T ratios of 10:1. 5:1, 2.5:1, 1.25:1 and 0.63:1. Grey dots and black lines indicate an individual experiment. Mean and standard error from all experiments are shown in red.

## **3.3** Caucasian versus Aboriginal patients with chronic HCV infections

## 3.3.1 Demographics based on Caucasian and Aboriginal ethnicity

Ethnicity, as observed between Caucasians, African Americans and South-East Asians, can influence therapeutic clearance of chronic HCV infections. Based on our labs' previous findings with KIR gene profiles as detailed in the Section 1.5.1, we hypothesized that Caucasian patients, when compared to Aboriginal patients, would display a worse therapeutic clearance of chronic HCV infections that would be reflected by decreased NK cell function [127],

Ethnicity had limited influence on baseline subject demographics and disease characteristics (Table 2). The Caucasian cohort had a slightly lower percentage of males and a higher median age, but these differences were not significant. The distribution of genotype 1 infections was also comparable (Caucasian 75% versus Aboriginal 90%). Baseline viral loads, liver enzymes including ALT, AST, GGT and bilirubin, fibrosis scores and grades of inflammation also did not differ between ethnicity. Caucasian and Aboriginal patients also demonstrated similar rates of treatment discontinuation (Caucasian, 3/20, 15% vs. Aboriginal, 3/9, 33%) and SVR for individuals completing treatment (Caucasian 47% vs. Aboriginal 44%).

Parameters	Caucasian (n=20)	Aboriginal (n=17)
Patient factors		
Male (%)	40%	53%
Age (median, range)	52.5 (23-65)	45 (31-65)
Viral factors		
Genotype 1 (%)	75%	90%
Viral Load (log, IU/ml, median, range)	6.11 (3.21-7.33)	5.79 (1.74-6.91)
ALT (median, range)	79 (27-330)	67 (22-248)
AST (median, range)	74 (22-221)	63 (20-142)
GGT (median, range)	59.5 (10-361)	54 (22-328)
Bilirubin (median, range)	10.0 (4.0-25.0)	9(2.4-21.6)
Fibrosis Scores (median, range)	2 (1-4)	2 (1-3)
Grade of Inflammation (median, range)	2 (1-3)	2 (1-3)
Treatment factors		
% EVR Genotype 1	60%	55%
% SVR Genotype 1	47%	44%
% Treatment Discontinuation	20%	33%

# Table 2: Baseline parameters between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients

#### **3.3.2** NK cell cytotoxicity between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients

We evaluated NK cell cytotoxicity to determine if ethnic differences exist at baseline and at three months of treatment corresponding to EVR assessment. At these time points, patients donated blood samples. PBMC, freshly isolated from blood, were incubated overnight in culture medium (CM) or culture medium supplemented with IFN $\alpha$  (1000 IU/ml). PBMC incubated overnight in CM yields spontaneous NK cell cytotoxicity while PBMC cultured overnight in the presence of IFN $\alpha$  yield maximal NK cell killing. The following day, PBMC were used in a standard four hour chromium (<sup>51</sup>Cr) release assay against K562 target cells to assess NK cell cytotoxicity at E:T ratios of 25:1, 12.5:1 and 6.3:1. The <sup>51</sup>Cr release assay is the gold standard for evaluating NK killing potential. For the analysis, an E:T ratio of 12.5:1 was used since as the intermediate value it consistently fell within the linear portion of the NK cell killing curve.

This analysis revealed that at baseline overnight incubation with IFN $\alpha$  enhanced PBMC killing of targets relative to CM alone in Caucasian (Fig. 2, n=16, 1.42 fold, p=0.001) and Aboriginal (n=14, 2.34 fold, p=0.001) cohorts. However, there were limited differences between ethnic cohorts with response to spontaneous NK cell cytotoxicity (p=0.467) or IFN $\alpha$ -induced cytotoxicity (p=0.983).

In contrast, at 3 months of treatment, relative to CM, overnight incubation with IFN $\alpha$  did not increase median percent lysis values for either Caucasian (Fig. 3a, p=0.636) or Aboriginal patients (p=0.980). However, NK cells from the CA cohort (n=15) demonstrated greater spontaneous NK cell cytotoxicity (p=0.042) and IFN $\alpha$ -induced NK cell cytotoxicity (p=0.0219) compared to the Aboriginal cohort (Fig 3a, n=8).

To address the potential bias of the reduction in samples size from baseline to 3 months of treatment, a paired evaluation of baseline and 3 month samples from the same donor was performed. At baseline, similar increases in IFN $\alpha$ -induced NK cytotoxicity relative to spontaneous cytotoxicity were observed for Caucasian (Fig. 3b, n=12, 1.42 fold, p=0.0151) and Aboriginal (n=5, 1.77 fold, p=0.0465) patients. In addition, between ethnic cohorts, there were limited differences in spontaneous (p=0.958) and IFN $\alpha$ -induced (p=0.635) NK cell cytotoxicity.

As was shown in Fig. 3a, at 3 months of treatment, NK cytotoxicity did not increase upon IFN $\alpha$  stimulation. Additionally, spontaneous NK cell cytotoxicity from Caucasian patients was increased 3.93 fold when compared to Aboriginal patients, but this was not significant (p=0.0651). In contrast, a similar increase in IFN $\alpha$ -induced NK cell cytotoxicity was observed in Caucasian patients compared to Aboriginal patients (p=0.0234). Thus paired samples reflected the whole cohort analyses.

To further evaluate the impact of treatment on NK cell killing, the fold difference between cytotixicity at 3 months relative to baseline was determined for paired samples (Fig. 3c). The fold change in spontaneous NK cell killing was similar between Caucasian and Aboriginal cohorts (p=0.102). However, the fold change in IFN $\alpha$ -induced killing was significantly higher in Caucasian patients compared to Aboriginal patients was retained (p=0.0398).



Figure 2: NK cell cytotoxicity is similar between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients with chronic HCV infections. PBMC were incubated overnight in culture medium (CM) and IFN $\alpha$ . NK cell cytotoxicity was measured by Cr-51 release assay. At E:T ratio of 12.5:1, similar NK cell cytotoxicity was observed between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients at baseline. Lines indicate an individual patient's values for each condition. Within cohort significant differences between CM and IFN $\alpha$  treatments were determined by paired t test. Between cohort significant differences are indicated as \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001.



Figure 3: Decreased IFN $\alpha$ -induced NK cell cytotoxicity within Aboriginal patients at 3 months of treatment relative to baseline. PBMC were incubated overnight in culture medium (CM) and IFN $\alpha$ . NK cell cytotoxicity was measured by Cr-51 release assay. A. At E:T ratio of 12.5:1, similar NK cell cytotoxicity was observed between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients at baseline and at 3 months of treatment. B. For patients with samples available at baseline and 3 months, a paired analysis was performed. C. Fold change in NK cell cytotoxicity from baseline to 3 months for each condition indicated. Lines indicate an individual patient's values for each condition. Within cohort significant differences between CM and IFN $\alpha$  were determined by paired t test. Between cohort significant differences were determined by Mann-Whitney U test. Significant differences are indicated as \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001.

#### 3.3.3 Degranulation marker CD107a between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients

An alternative method of assessing NK cell activation is lysosomal-associated membrane protein (LAMP)-1, also known as CD107a, expression on NK cells. CD107a is significantly upregulated on the surface of NK cells following stimulation with target cells such as K562 which lack MHC rendering them sensitive to NK cell killing [233]. Thus, the appearance of CD107a on the surface of NK cells is considered an alternate measure of killing potential.

For flow cytometric assessment of NK cell proteins, any remaining PBMC not required for the <sup>51</sup>Cr release assay were frozen in Cell Culture Freezing Medium (Gibco, Carlsbad, CA) (n=22). Due to treatment induced lymphopenia at 3 months, there was not sufficient cell numbers for subsequent analysis. Therefore, only baseline events were examined. To evaluate NK cell protein expression, PBMC were thawed and incubated with culture medium or K562 target cells for six hours. PBMC were then stained with antibodies specific for protein expression on NK cells (CD3-/CD56+) as per our ICCS protocol. Flow cytometric data was assessed as total NK cell population, as well as CD56dim and CD56bright populations. Refer to Figure 4 for our ICCS gating strategy and to Table 1 for the staining panel.

Relative to CM alone, K562 stimulation upregulated CD107a expression from Caucasian (Fig. 5a, n=10, 1.46 fold, p=0.0163) and Aboriginal (n=12, 1.75 fold, p=0.0022) NK cells. This was also observed for the CD56dim (Fig. 5b, Caucasian 1.28 fold, p=0.0132; Aboriginal 1.53 fold, p=0.0029) and CD56bright (Fig 5c, Caucasian 1.43 fold, p=0.0273; Aboriginal 2.67 fold, p=0.0001) subsets. At baseline, spontaneous (Fig. 5a, p=0.804) and K562-induced (p=0.156) CD107a expression within the total NK population did not differ between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients. The same observation was noted within the CD56dim and CD56bright subsets.



Figure 4: Representative flow cytometry data to illustrate gating strategy for our intracellular cytokine staining protocol. A. PBMC were first gated on forward scatter/side scatter (FSC/SSC) to visualize the lymphocyte population. Lymphocytes were then sorted into alive/dead populations based on our viability dye. Live cells were further sorted into the total NK, CD56dim and CD56bright populations based on CD3 and CD56 expression. **B.** Within the total NK, CD56dim and CD56bright populations, CD107a, TRAIL and PD-1 expression along with cell specific TNF $\alpha$  and IFN $\gamma$  production were assessed from PBMC incubated with culture medium (CM) or K562 target cells against an isotype control.



Figure 5: CD107a expression on NK cell subtypes is similar between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients. Frozen PBMC from patient samples prior to treatment (baseline) were thawed and incubated with culture medium (CM) or K562 target cells for 6 hours. CD107a expression was assessed in Caucasian and Aboriginal patients by flow cytometry for A. all NK cells, B. CD56dim and C. CD56bright populations. Lines indicate an individual patient's values for each condition. Within cohort significant differences between CM and K562 were determined by paired t test. Between cohort significant differences were determined by Mann-Whitney U test. Significant differences are indicated as p<0.05, p<0.01, p<0.001.

## 3.3.4 TRAIL expression between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients

Another process by which NK cells induce apoptosis of target cells is the binding of TRAIL (TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand) to its death receptors DR4 (TRAIL-R1) and DR5 (TRAIL-RII) on the surface of target cells. Similar to examining the degranulation marker CD107a, TRAIL expression was examined on the surface of NK cells in our ICCS protocol.

In contrast to CD107a expression, relative to CM alone, stimulation of NK cells with K562 target cells did not induce expression of TRAIL within either Caucasian (Fig. 6a, n=10, p=0.999) or Aboriginal (n=12, p=0.284) patients in the total NK cell population or the CD56dim and CD56bright subsets (Figs. 6b and 6c). Between ethnic cohorts, no differences were observed in TRAIL expression from the total NK cell, CD56dim and CD56bright populations with CM alone or with K562 target cells.



**Figure 6: TRAIL expression on all NK cell subtypes is similar between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients.** Frozen PBMC from patient samples prior to treatment (baseline) were thawed and incubated with culture medium (CM) or K562 target cells for 6 hours. TRAIL expression was assessed in Caucasian and Aboriginal patients by flow cytometry for **A.** all NK cells, **B.** CD56dim and **C.** CD56bright populations. Lines indicate an individual patient's values for each condition. Within cohort significant differences between CM and K562 were determined by paired t test. Between cohort significant differences were determined by Mann-Whitney U test.

## 3.3.5 Exhaustion marker PD-1 expression between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients

Programmed death-1 (PD-1) is an important marker of T cell exhaustion. It was previously implicated in the negative regulation of T cell function during chronic viral infections [234]. Recently, PD-1 expression was found to be elevated on NK cells in patients with persistent HCV infections when compared to healthy controls suggesting that PD-1 may play a role in suppressing NK function during chronic HCV infection [235]. Expression of PD-1 was examined in conjunction with other cell surface markers in our ICCS protocol.

Similar to TRAIL expression, relative to CM alone, stimulation of NK cells or the CD56dim and CD56bright subsets with K562 targets did not upregulate PD-1 expression within Caucasian or Aboriginal patients (Fig. 7a). Between ethnicities, when comparing spontaneous (p=0.594) and K562-stimulated (p=0.692) PD-1 expression on the surface of NK cells and the CD56dim and CD56bright subsets, no differences were found (Fig. 7).



**Figure 7: PD-1 expression on all NK cell subtypes is similar between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients.** Frozen PBMC from patient samples prior to treatment (baseline) were thawed and incubated with culture medium (CM) or K562 target cells for 6 hours. PD-1 expression was assessed in Caucasian and Aboriginal patients by flow cytometry for **A.** all NK cells, **B.** CD56dim and **C.** CD56bright populations. Lines indicate an individual patient's values for each condition. Within cohort significant differences between CM and K562 were determined by paired t test. Between cohort significant differences were determined by Mann-Whitney U test.

#### 3.3.6 Cell-specific IFNy between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients

Aside from directly killing target cells through cytotoxicity, NK cells can also control viral replication indirectly through IFN $\gamma$  production. NK cell-specific IFN $\gamma$  production was determined by ICCS in parallel to CD107a quantification.

Stimulation with K562 cells did not enhance NK cell IFNy production in the Caucasian cohort (Fig. 8a, n=10, p=0.142). In contrast, K562 stimulation by NK cells from Aboriginal patients (n=12, p=0.0011) upregulated IFNy production 3.68 fold relative to CM alone. The same trends are observed within the CD56dim subset (Fig. 8b, Caucasian p=0.1229, Aboriginal p=0.0012), but not within the CD56bright subset (Fig. 8c, Caucasian p=0.2588, Aboriginal p=0.1865) suggesting that only CD56dim NK cells can upregulate IFNy production upon stimulation with MHC lacking target cells. Between ethnicities, a greater percentage of NK cells from Caucasian patients produce IFN $\gamma$  spontaneously (Fig. 8a, p=0.0360) and from K562 stimulation (p=0.0161) when compared to Aboriginal patients. Similar observations were seen within the CD56dim subset. A greater percentage of CD56dim cells from Caucasian patients produce IFNy spontaneously (p=0.0428) and from K562 stimulation (p=0.021) when compared to Aboriginal patients (Fig. 8b). Within the CD56bright subset, no difference in percentage of NK cells that produce IFNy spontaneously was observed between ethnicity (Fig. 8c, p=0.082). However, similar to all NK cells and the CD56dim subset, a greater percentage of CD56bright NK cells from Caucasian patients produced IFNy upon K562 stimulation when compared to Aboriginal patients (p=0.0481)

In addition to examining NK cells, NKT and T cell-specific IFN $\gamma$  production was also determined. Relative to CM alone, neither NKT (Fig. 8d, Caucasian p=0.767, Aboriginal p=0.393) or T cells (Fig. 8e, Caucasian p=0.368, Aboriginal p=0.806) significantly upregulated

IFN $\gamma$  production upon K562 stimulation from either ethnicity. Within the NKT cell compartment, NKT cells from Caucasian patients produced significantly more spontaneous IFN $\gamma$  when compared to Aboriginal patients (p=0.0428). IFN $\gamma$  production from K562 stimulated NKT cells did not differ between ethnicity (p=0.0927). Within the T cell compartment, both spontaneous (p=0.0209) and K562 stimulated (p=0.0076) T cells from Caucasian patients produce significantly more IFN $\gamma$  compared to Aboriginal patients (Fig. 8e).



Figure 8: A greater percent of NK cell subsets from Caucasian patients produce IFN $\gamma$  compared to Aboriginal patients. Frozen PBMC from patient samples prior to treatment (baseline) were thawed and incubated with culture medium (CM) or K562 target cells for 6 hours. Cell-specific IFN $\gamma$  prodution was assessed in Caucasian and Aboriginal patients by flow cytometry for **A.** all NK cells, **B.** CD56dim, **C.** CD56bright, **D.** NKT cells and **E.** T cells. Lines indicate an individual patient's values for each condition. Within cohort significant differences between CM and K562 were determined by paired t test. Between cohort significant differences were determined by Mann-Whitney U test. Significant differences are indicated as \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01.

#### 3.3.7 Cell-specific TNFa production between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients

Strong Th1 cytokine profiles have been associated with increased therapeutic clearance of chronic HCV infections [236, 237]. TNF $\alpha$  is a pro-inflammatory cytokine produced by NK cells which contributes to this anti-viral state. We were interested in seeing if there was a difference in cell-specific TNF $\alpha$  production between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients with chronic HCV infections. Cell-specific TNF $\alpha$  production was assessed by flow cytometry.

Relative to culture medium, in the presence of K562 targets, a significantly greater portion of NK cells from Caucasian patients produced TNF $\alpha$  (Fig. 9a, 1.85 fold, p=0.0212). A similar increase was seen in Aboriginal patients, but this was not significant (1.60 fold, p=0.0598). Within the CD56dim compartment, relative to CM alone, a significantly greater percentage of CD56dim cells incubated with K562 targets produced TNF $\alpha$  in Caucasian (p=0.0184) and Aboriginal (p=0.0450) patients. Within the CD56bright compartment, relative to CM alone, incubation with K562 targets did not increase the percentage of TNF $\alpha$  producing CD56bright NK cell between Caucasian (p=0.235) or Aboriginal (p=0.272) patients. Between ethnicities, no differences were observed in the percentage of NK cells producing TNF $\alpha$  spontaneously (p=0.972) or in the presence of K562 targets (p=0.717). The same results were obtained within the CD56dim and CD56bright subsets.



Figure 9: TNF $\alpha$  production within all NK cell subsets is similar between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients. Frozen PBMC from patient samples prior to treatment (baseline) were thawed and incubated with culture medium (CM) or K562 target cells for 6 hours. Cell-specific TNF $\alpha$  prodution was assessed in Caucasian and Aboriginal patients by flow cytometry for A. all NK cells, B. CD56dim and C. CD56bright populations. Lines indicate an individual patient's values for each condition. Within cohort significant differences between CM and K562 were determined by paired U test. Between cohort significant differences were determined by Mann-Whitney U test. Significant differences are indicated as \*p<0.05.

## 3.3.8 NK cell functions between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients

As another method to assess NK cell activity, the number of functions displayed by NK cells within these cohorts was evaluated. Specifically, we included the appearance of degranulation marker CD107a, and NK cell-specific IFN $\gamma$  and TNF $\alpha$  production. NK cells were divided according to the number of functions they displayed.

The number of NK cell functions was evaluated between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients prior to the start of treatment (Fig. 10). Relative to CM alone, the number of NK cell functions did not increase upon incubation with K562 targets. In addition, between ethnicities, there was no difference in the number of NK cell functions either cultured with CM or in the presence of K562 targets.



Figure 10: Number of NK cell functions are similar between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients. Frozen PBMC were thawed and incubated with culture medium for 6 hours to assess NK cell functions. NK cell functions examined include degranulation marker CD107a, NK cell-specific IFN $\gamma$  and TNF $\alpha$  production. Pre-treatment spontaneous and K562-stimulated NK cell functions were evaluated in Caucasian and Aboriginal patients by flow cytometry. The percentage of total NK cells with 0, 1, 2 or 3 functions are indicated as the median values for each cohort condition. Statistical significance of number of functions between cohorts was determined using the Mann-Whitney U test.

## 3.4 Viral Loads

High baseline viral loads (defined in the literature as >800,000 IU/ml), have previously been associated with worse therapeutic outcomes in particular for genotype 1 infections [173-175]. NK cells are principle effectors against viral infections particularly early in infection. HCV is reported to inhibit NK cell function [93, 94]. Thus, we were interested in evaluating NK cell function in our patient cohort with regard to HCV loads.

## 3.4.1 Baseline parameters between high and low viral loads

Due to the association of baseline viral loads with treatment outcomes, we examined NK activity according to high and low viral loads. High viral loads (HVL) are defined as >800,000 IU/ml whereas low viral loads (LVL) are defined as  $\leq$ 800,000 IU/ml [173-175]. Subject demographics and disease characteristics were similar between high and low viral loads (Table 3) including the distribution of genotype 1 infections (HVL, 92% versus LVL, 80%) and markers of liver disease and inflammation. Unexpectedly, HVL patients had surprisingly higher EVR (p=0.170) and SVR (p=0.07) rates when compared to LVL patients. We would expect the opposite trend as high viral loads have previously been associated with worse therapeutic outcomes in particular for genotype 1 infections [173-175].

Parameters	HVL (n=13)	LVL (n=10)
Viral Load (log, IU/ml, median, range)***	6.67 (5.90-7.33)	5.44 (1.74-5.84)
Patient factors		
Male (%)	46	30
Caucasian (%)	77%	60%
Age (median, range)	54 (23-62)	50 (40-65)
Viral factors		
Genotype 1 (%)	92%	80%
ALT (median, range)	67 (27-330)	57 (38-181)
AST (median, range)	63 (22-221)	81 (32-168)
GGT (median, range)	54 (10-361)	65 (19-297)
Bilirubin (median, range)	7 (4-20)	9 (5-25)
Fibrosis Scores (median, range)	2 .5 (1-4)	3 (2-4)
Grade of Inflammation (median, range)	2 (1-3)	2.5 (2-3)
Treatment factors		
% EVR Genotype 1	75	38
% SVR Genotype 1	58	13
% Treatment Discontinuation	17	38

Table 3: Baseline parameters between high and low viral loads

#### 3.4.2 NK cell cytotoxicity and baseline viral loads

In chronic HCV infections, some studies suggest NK cytolytic functions can be unaffected [108, 137] or impaired [93, 142]. To further explore this debate, we evaluated the association between baseline viral loads and NK cell cytotoxicity. NK cell cytotoxicity was assessed by <sup>51</sup>Cr release assay as previously described. Correlations were used to evaluate the association between baseline viral loads and NK cell killing in the total study population.

At baseline (n=23) using our <sup>51</sup>Cr release assay, spontaneous NK cell cytotoxicity at E:T ratio of 12.5:1 negatively correlated with viral loads (Fig. 11a, r=-0.437, p=0.037). A similar trend was observed with IFN $\alpha$ -induced NK cell killing at E:T ratio of 12.5:1 (n=23), but this correlation was not significant (Fig. 11b, r=-0.372, p=0.081).

When distinguishing between high and low viral loads, our analysis revealed that overnight incubation with IFN $\alpha$  enhanced PBMC killing of targets relative to CM alone from both high (n=11, 1.42 fold, p=0.002) and low (n=12, 1.78 fold, p=0.003) viral loads. In addition, PBMC from high viral loads patients had significantly reduced spontaneous (p=0.021) and IFN $\alpha$ -induced (p=0.0151) NK cell killing at E:T ratio of 12.5:1 compared to PBMC from low viral load patients (Fig. 11c). This observation suggests patients with high viral loads may have difficulty in controlling viral replication due to reduced NK cytotoxicity.



**Figure 11:** NK cell cytotoxicity negatively correlates with viral loads. PBMC were incubated overnight in culture medium (CM) and IFN $\alpha$ . NK cell cytotoxicity was measured by Cr-51 release assay. Baseline viral loads were plotted against NK cell cytotoxicity at 12.5E:1T ratio with **A.** CM (n=22) or **B**. IFN $\alpha$  stimulation (n=23). Spearman rank correlation, r, is shown. **C.** Baseline NK cell cytotoxicity was evaluated between high viral load (HVL) and low viral load (LVL) patients at 125E:1T ratio. Lines indicate an individual patient's values for each condition. Within cohort significant differences between CM and IFN $\alpha$  were determined by paired t test. Between cohort significant differences were determined by Mann-Whitney U test. Significant differences are indicated as \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01.

#### 3.4.3 Degranulation marker CD107a between high and low viral load patients

To evaluate how viral loads might influence mechanisms of NK cell killing, CD107a expression was examined with respect to viral loads. CD107a expression was evaluated on the total NK cell, CD56dim and CD56bright populations after stimulation with culture medium alone or with K562 target cells.

In contrast to NK cell cytotoxicity measured by our <sup>51</sup>Cr release assay, in the presence of CM alone, NK cell killing measured by CD107a expression positively correlated with viral loads (Fig. 12a, n=14, r=0.578, p=0.030). Similar observations were seen within the CD56dim population which associated with cytotoxicity (Fig. 12b, r=0.552, p=0.041) and CD56bright population which associated with cytokine production (Fig. 12c, r=0.78, p=0.001). However, in the presence of K562 targets, CD107a expression did not correlate with baseline viral loads for the total NK cell, CD56dim and CD56bright populations.

Relative to CM alone, K562 stimulation increased CD107a expression 1.12 fold within the total NK cell population from high viral loads, but this was not significant (Fig. 13a, p=0.099). The same results were seen within the CD56dim and CD56bright subsets. Similarly, relative to CM alone, K562 stimulation increased CD107a expression 1.41 fold within the total NK cell population from low viral loads, but again this was not significant (p=0.068). However, both the CD56dim (Fig. 13b, p=0.023) and CD56bright (Fig. 13c, p=0.027) subsets could induce CD107a expression upon K562 stimulation relative to CM alone.

Further analysis between high and low viral loads revealed limited differences in spontaneous (p=0.282) and K562 stimulated (p=0.388) percentages of CD107a expression on the total NK cell and CD56dim populations. In contrast, the CD56bright population from high viral loads
when compared to low viral loads showed increased spontaneous CD107a expression (p=0.029). However, similar to the total NK cell and CD56dim populations, the CD56bright population did not differ between high and low viral loads in its CD107a expression upon K562 stimulation (p=0.371).



**Figure 12: Spontaneous expression of CD107a in all NK cell subsets correlate with baseline viral loads.** Frozen PBMC were thawed and incubated with culture medium (CM) or K562 target cells for 6 hours. Pre-treatment CD107a expression was assessed by flow cytometry and plotted against baseline viral for **A.** all NK cells, **B.** CD56dim and **C.** CD56bright populations. Spearman rank correlation, r, is shown. p<0.05 is considered significant.



**Figure 13: Increased CD107a expression on CD56bright NK cells in patients with highviral loads compared to patients with low viral loads at baseline.** Frozen PBMC were thawed and incubated with culture medium (CM) or K562 target cells for 6 hours. Pre-treatment CD107a expression was evaluated by flow cytometry between high viral load (HVL) and low viral load (LVL) patients for **A.** all NK cells, **B.** CD56dim and **C.** CD56bright populations. Lines indicate an individual patient's values for each condition. Within cohort significant differences between CM and K562 were determined by paired t test. Between cohort significant differences were determined by Mann-Whitney U test. Significant differences are indicated as \*p<0.05.

#### 3.4.4 Exhaustion marker PD-1 expression between high and low viral loads

PD-1 expression was found to be significantly elevated on the surface of NK cells in individuals with chronic HCV infections compared to healthy individuals [235]. We were interested to see if PD-1 expression on NK cells correlated with viral loads.

Spontaneous expression of PD-1 from the total NK and CD56bright populations did not correlate with baseline viral load (Fig. 14). Further evaluation spontaneous PD-1 expression within the CD56dim (Fig. 14b, r=0.512, p=0.061) revealed a potential correlation with baseline viral loads, but this was not significant. In contrast, K562-stimulated PD-1 expression positively correlated with baseline viral loads for the total NK (n=15, r=0.649, p=0.009), CD56dim (r=0.652, p=0.008) and CD56bright (r=0.763, p=0.0009) populations.

Relative to CM alone, incubation of the total NK, CD56dim and CD56bright populations with K562 target cells did not increase PD-1 expression within the high viral load cohort (Fig. 15). Likewise, incubation of the total NK, CD56dim and CD56bright populations with K562 targets, relative to CM alone, did not increase PD-1 expression within the low viral load cohort.

Subsequent analysis between high and low viral loads revealed no differences in spontaneous expression of PD-1 on the total NK (p=0.142) and CD56 bright (p=0.867) populations. In contrast, spontaneous PD-1 expression was increased on CD56dim cells (p=0.019) from the high viral load cohort compared to low viral load cohort. Upon incubation with K562 target cells, once again no differences were prevalent within the total NK population between the two viral load cohorts (Fig. Xa, p=0.114). However, both the CD56dim (p=0.040) and CD56bright (p=0.0007) populations from the high viral load cohort had increased PD-1 expression compared to the low viral load cohort.



**Figure 14: Expression of PD-1 in all NK cell subsets upon K562 stimulation correlate with baseline viral loads.** Frozen PBMC were thawed and incubated with culture medium (CM) or K562 target cells for 6 hours. Pre-treatment PD-1 was assessed by flow cytometry and plotted against baseline viral loads for **A.** all NK cells, **B.** CD56dim and **C.** CD56bright populations. Spearman rank correlation, r, is shown. p<0.05 is considered significant.



Figure 15: Increased expression of PD-1 on NK cells in patients with high baseline viral loads. Frozen PBMC were thawed and incubated with culture medium (CM) or K562 target cells for 6 hours. Pre-treatment PD-1 expression was evaluated by flow cytometry between high viral load (HVL) and low viral load (LVL) patients for A. all NK cells, B. CD56dim and C. CD56bright populations. Lines indicate an individual patient's values for each condition. Within cohort significant differences between CM and K562 were determined by paired t test. Between cohort significant differences were determined by Mann-Whitney U test. Significant differences are indicated as \*p<0.05, \*\*\*p<0.001

#### 3.4.5 Cell-specific IFNy between high and low viral loads

NK cell-specific IFNγ production is considered another mechanism by which NK cells can control viral replication. We examined whether correlations existed between NK cell-specific IFNγ production and baseline viral loads. NK cell-specific IFNγ production was determined by ICCS.

Spontaneous cell-specific IFN $\gamma$  production from the total NK (Fig. 16a, n=14, r=0.334, p=0.240) and CD56dim populations (data not shown) did not correlate with baseline viral loads. In contrast, we found a positive correlation between spontaneous cell-specific IFN $\gamma$  production and baseline viral loads within the CD56bright population (Fig. 16b, n=14, r=0.581, p=0.030). No correlations were observed between cell-specific IFN $\gamma$  production with K562 stimulation from the total NK (Fig. 16a, n=15, r=0.293, p=0.290), CD56dim (data not shown) and CD56bright (Fig. 16b, n=15, r=0.216, p=0.439) populations.

Further analysis examined differences in cell-specific IFN $\gamma$  production between viral load cohorts. Relative to CM alone, stimulation of the total NK (Fig. 17a, p=0.603) and CD56dim (data not shown) populations with K562 target cells did not upregulate IFN $\gamma$  production within the high viral load cohort. In contrast, the CD56bright population did upregulate IFN $\gamma$  production (Fig. 17b, p=0.0174). In addition, relative to CM alone, stimulation of the total NK (p=0.0082) and CD56bright (p=0.0049) populations with K562 targets did upregulate IFN $\gamma$  production whereas the CD56dim (data not shown) population did not within the low viral load cohort.

Between viral load cohorts, limited differences were present in spontaneous (p=0.573) and K562-stimulated (p=0.388) IFN $\gamma$  production from the total NK and CD56dim (data not shown)

populations. In contrast, the high viral load cohort had increased spontaneous IFN $\gamma$  production within the CD56bright population (p=0.0290) compared to the low viral load cohort. Limited differences were observed in K562 stimulated IFN $\gamma$  production from CD56bright cells between high and low viral loads (p=0.7131).

CD107a has been shown to correlate not only with target cell lysis, but also with cytokine secretion [233]. Thus we evaluated the relationship between CD107a expression and cell-specific IFN $\gamma$  production. No relationship was apparent between CD107a expression and cell-specific IFN $\gamma$  production when incubated in culture medium within the total NK (Fig. 18a, r=0.227, p=0.322) or CD56dim populations (Fig. 18b, r=0.235, p=0.305). However, a significant positive correlation was observed within the CD56bright population (Fig. 18c, r=0.516, p=0.017) suggesting that IFN $\gamma$  is responsible for the appearance of CD107a within this cell population.



Figure 16: The portion of IFN $\gamma$  producing CD56bright NK cells correlate with baseline viral loads. Frozen PBMC were thawed and incubated with culture medium (CM) or K562 target cells for 6 hours. Cell-specific IFN $\gamma$  production was assessed by flow cytometry and plotted against baseline viral loads for A. all NK cells and the **B**. CD56bright population. Spearman rank correlation, r, is shown. p<0.05 is considered significant.



Figure 17: Increased portion of IFN $\gamma$  producing CD56bright NK cells in patients with high baseline viral loads. Frozen PBMC were thawed and incubated with culture medium (CM) or K562 target cells for 6 hours. Pre-treatment cell-specific IFN $\gamma$  production was evaluated by flow cytometry between high viral load (HVL) and low viral load (LVL) patients for **A.** all NK cells and the **B.** CD56bright population. Lines indicate an individual patient's values for each condition. Within cohort significant differences between CM and K562 were determined by paired t test. Between cohort significant differences were determined by Mann-Whitney U test. Significant differences are indicated as \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01



Figure 18: CD107a expression correlates with IFN $\gamma$  production within the CD56bright population. Frozen PBMC were thawed and incubated with culture medium for 6 hours. Pretreatment CD107a expression and cell-specific IFN $\gamma$  production was assessed by flow cytometry. CD107a expression was plotted against IFN $\gamma$  production for **A.** all NK cells, the **B.** CD56dim and **C.** CD56bright populations. Spearman rank correlation, r, is shown. p<0.05 is considered significant.

#### **3.4.6** NK cell functions between high and low viral loads

The HCV E2 protein has been shown to inhibit protein kinase receptor activity via crosslinking with CD81 to inhibit NK cell functions including cytotoxicity and IFN production [93, 94]. In addition, NK cell activity had no relationship with declining viral loads in patients who cleared their acute HCV infection [238]. We evaluated the potential relationship between NK cell activity and viral loads from individuals with chronic HCV infections. The NK cell functions measured by ICCS to assess NK cell activity include CD107a and cell-specific IFN $\gamma$  and TNF $\alpha$  production. NK cells were divided according to the number of functions they displayed.

Spontaneous numbers of NK cell functions were assessed against baseline viral loads. There was a trend towards a correlation between the percentage of NK cells with three (Fig. 19a, r=0.451, p=0.097) spontaneous functions, but this was not significant. Two spontaneous functions (Fig. 19b, r=0.398, p=0.159) did not associate with baseline viral loads. In contrast, one (Fig. 19c, r=0.635, p=0.015) spontaneous function positively correlated with baseline viral load while zero (Fig. 19d, r=-0.565, p=0.035) spontaneous functions negatively correlated with baseline viral loads.

Patient PBMC were also incubated with K562 target cells to assess K562-stimulated NK cell functions against baseline viral loads. Analysis of K562-stimulated NK cell functions revealed no correlation between the percentages of NK cells with three (Fig. 20a, r=-0.143, p=0.612), two (Fig. 20b, r=0.229, p=0.413), one (Fig. 20c, r=0.318, p=0.248) or zero (Fig. 20d, r=-0.364, p=0.182) functions against baseline viral loads.

Spontaneous and K562-stimulated percentage of NK cell functions were also evaluated between high and low viral loads prior to the start of treatment (Fig. 21). Relative to CM alone, the number of NK cell functions did not increase upon incubation with K562 targets within both viral load cohorts. In addition, in between viral load cohorts, there were no differences in spontaneous or K562-stimulated NK cell functions.



Figure 19: Spontaneous NK cell functions associate with viral loads. Frozen PBMC were thawed and incubated with culture medium for 6 hours to assess NK cell functions. NK cell functions examined include degranulation marker CD107a, NK cell-specific IFN $\gamma$  and TNF $\alpha$  production The spontaneous percentage of totals NK cells with **A.** three, **B.** two, **C.** one or **D.** zero functions were plotted against baseline viral loads. Spearman rank correlation, r, is shown. p<0.05 is considered significant.



Figure 20: K562 stimulated NK cell functions do not associate with viral loads. Frozen PBMC were thawed and incubated with K562 target cells for 6 hours to assess NK cell functions. NK cell functions examined include degranulation marker CD107a, NK cell-specific IFN $\gamma$  and TNF $\alpha$  production The spontaneous percentage of totals NK cells with **A.** three, **B.** two, **C.** one or **D.** zero functions were plotted against baseline viral loads. Spearman rank correlation, r, is shown. p<0.05 is considered significant.



Figure 21: Number of NK cell functions are similar between high and low viral load patients. Frozen PBMC were thawed and incubated with culture medium for 6 hours to assess NK cell functions. NK cell functions examined include degranulation marker CD107a, NK cell-specific IFN $\gamma$  and TNF $\alpha$  production. Pre-treatment spontaneous and K562-stimulated NK cell functions were evaluated in Caucasian and Aboriginal patients. The percentage of total NK cells with 0, 1, 2 or 3 functions are indicated as the median values for each cohort condition. Statistical significance of number of functions between cohorts was determined using the Mann-Whitney U test.

# 3.5 Liver damage

NK and NKT cells in the liver play a key role in innate defenses against viral infections, and thus are considered to protect again liver fibrosis in chronic HCV infections [137, 150]. However, NK cells also appear to be involved in liver damage during chronic HBV infection [120]. Thus we were interested in seeing the association between NK and NKT cell function and liver damage in this chronic HCV infection cohort. Liver fibrosis was assessed from biopsy samples according to the METAVIR scoring system. In addition, liver damage was measured by liver enzymes including ALT, AST, GGT and bilirubin.

# 3.5.1 NK cell cytotoxicity and fibrosis

To assess whether NK cell cytotoxicity correlated to fibrosis scores, cytotoxicity was measured using a standard four hour <sup>51</sup>Cr release assay. An E:T ratio of 12.5:1 was used for analysis as it was the intermediate value and was most likely to fall within the linear portion of the NK cell killing curve. We evaluated whether correlations existed between NK cell cytotoxicity and METAVIR fibrosis scores (Fig. 22). Spontaneous (n=20) NK cell cytotoxicity did not correlate with fibrosis score (r=0.375, p=0.103). Yet IFN $\alpha$ -stimulated (n=20) NK cell cytotoxicity was suggestive of a positive correlation with fibrosis, but this was not significant (r=0.400, p=0.080).



Figure 22: NK cell cytotoxicity was suggestive of a positive correlation with baseline fibrosis. PBMC were incubated overnight in culture medium (CM) and IFN $\alpha$ . NK cell cytotoxicity was measured by Cr-51 release assay. Fibrosis measured by METAVIR scoring system was plotted against NK cell cytotoxicity at E:T ratio of 12.5:1 with A. CM (n=20) or B. IFN $\alpha$  stimulation (n=20). Spearman rank correlation, r, is shown.

# **3.5.2** Fibrosis and other parameters

In addition to the <sup>51</sup>Cr release assay, PBMC were cultured with medium or with K562 targets for six hours. PBMC were stained for CD107a, TRAIL, PD-1 and intracellularly for TNF $\alpha$  and IFN $\gamma$  via ICCS to evaluate these parameters against patient fibrosis scores. Analysis of these parameters against patient fibrosis yielded no significant correlations.

# 3.5.3 NK cell cytotoxiity and liver damage

We evaluated NK cell cytotoxicity to determine if cytotoxicity correlated with liver damage. NK cell cytotoxicity was assessed by  ${}^{51}$ Cr release assay as previously described. Liver damage was measured by liver enzymes including ALT, AST, GGT and bilirubin. No significant correlations were observed between spontaneous and IFN $\alpha$ -stimulated NK cell cytotoxicity and liver enzymes (Table 4).

	CM 12.5E:1T		IFNα 12.5E:1T		
	r	р	r	р	
ALT	0.113	0.554	0.072	0.707	
AST	0.306	0.100	0.263	0.160	
GTT	0.295	0.113	0.227	0.228	
Bilirubin	0.278	0.136	0.287	0.124	

 Table 4: NK cell cytotoxicity did not correlate with liver damage.

#### 3.5.4 Degranulation marker CD107a and serum AST

As an alternative method of assessing NK cell cytotoxicity, patient PBMC (n=21) were used in our ICCS protocol with culture medium or K562 target cells to indirectly measure cytotoxicity through the appearance of CD107a on the surface of NK cells. We examined whether any association existed between NK and NKT CD107a expression and serum AST. AST is an enzyme associated with liver parenchymal cells. Destruction of these cells leads to an increase in this enzymes concentration in the blood. AST is not specific to the liver, and is found in other cell types including red blood cells, and cardiac and skeletal muscle. Nevertheless, AST is a biomarker of liver injury [239].

Spontaneous CD107a expression within the total NK (Fig. 23a, r=0.372, p=0.097) and CD56dim (Fig. 23b, r=0.345, p=0.126) populations did not correlate with serum AST. In contrast, CD107a expression positively correlated with serum AST within the CD56bright population (Fig. 23c, r=0.535, p=0.013). There was a trend towards a positive correlation between CD107a expression within the NKT population and serum AST, but this was not significant (Fig. 23d, r=0.400, p=0.072).

Upon K562 stimulation, CD107a expression positively correlated with serum AST within the total NK (Fig. 23a, r=0.488, p=0.021) and CD56dim populations (Fig. 23b, r=0.435, p=0.043). On the other hand, the CD56bright population lost its significance (Fig. 23c, r=0.322, p=0.145). CD107a expression within the NKT population also positively correlated with serum AST (Fig. 23d, r=0.592, p=0.004)

HepG2 cells, a human liver carcinoma cell line, were also used as target cells in our ICCS protocol. Compared to K562 target cells, HepG2 cells more closely resemble the *in vivo* 

interaction of immune cells with hepatocytes. HepG2 targets were used for 11 patient samples. Upon HepG2 stimulation, CD107a expression within the total NK (Table 5, r=0.711, p=0.014) and NKT populations (r=0.691, p=0.019) correlated with serum AST.



**Figure 23: Increased expression of CD107a in NK, CD56dim and NKT cells upon K562 stimulation correlate with baseline serum AST.** Frozen PBMC were thawed and incubated with culture medium (CM) or K562 target cells for 6 hours. Pre-treatment CD107a expression was assessed by flow cytometry and plotted against serum AST for **A.** all NK cells, **B.** CD56dim, **C.** CD56bright and **D.** NKT populations. Spearman rank correlation, r, is shown. p<0.05 is considered significant.

		CD107a	TRAIL	PD-1
	NK	0.333	-0.045	0.138
ALI	NKT	0.373	0.018	-0.269
AST	NK	0.711*	0.418	0.422
A51	NKT	0.691*	0.300	0.091
CTT	NK	0.632*	0.260	0.500
GII	NKT	0.629*	0.046	-0.128
Bilirubin	NK	0.612*	0.738†	0.795†
	NKT	0.396	0.273	0.569 <b>φ</b>

Table 5:	CD107a	expression	correlates <sup>*</sup>	with liver	damage up	on HepG2	stimulation.

\* p<0.05 † p<0.01 Ф p=0.068

# 3.5.5 TRAIL expression and serum AST

Similar to evaluation of CD107a, TRAIL expression by ICCS was also assessed from patient PBMC cultured in medium or with K562 target cells to see any potential correlation with serum AST.

Spontaneous TRAIL expression within the total NK (Fig. 24a, r=0.433, p=0.05) and CD56bright (Fig. 24c, r=0.477, p=0.029) populations positively correlated with serum AST. In contrast, the CD56dim (Fig. 24b, r=0.313, p=0.167) and NKT populations (Fig. 24d, r=-0.057, p=0.806) did not. Upon K562 stimulation, TRAIL expression correlated with serum AST within the total NK (r=0.465, p=0.039) and CD56dim (r=0.454, p=0.034) populations. In contrast, TRAIL expression did not correlate with serum AST within the CD56bright (r=0.339, p=0.123) and NKT cell populations (r=0.164, p=0.477).

HepG2 targets cells were also used to evaluate any potential correlations between TRAIL expression and serum AST. Upon HepG2 stimulation, TRAIL expression did not correlate with serum AST within the total NK, CD56dim, CD56bright or NKT cell populations (Table 5).



**Figure 24: TRAIL expression within the total NK and CD56dim populations upon K562 stimulation correlate with baseline serum AST.** Frozen PBMC were thawed and incubated with culture medium (CM) or K562 target cells for 6 hours. Pre-treatment TRAIL expression was assessed by flow cytometry and plotted against serum AST for **A.** all NK cells, **B.** CD56dim, **C.** CD56bright and **D.** NKT populations. Spearman rank correlation, r, is shown. p<0.05 is considered significant.

# **3.6 Treatment Outcomes**

The exact mechanism by which current antiviral therapy eradicates chronic HCV infection has yet to be determined. The backbone of current antiviral therapy includes pegIFN. Since IFN $\alpha$ is a potent activator of NK cells, it is believed that NK cells may play a role in therapeutic clearance. Thus, we were interested to see if NK cell functions were beneficial during the course of antiviral therapy.

#### **3.6.1** Study demographics between treatment outcome cohorts

Our patient cohort was separated based on their treatment outcomes. Patients who achieved at least a 2 log drop in HCV RNA at 3 months of treatment relative to baseline were defined as EVR+ while those who did not or had stopped treatment were defined as EVR-. Similarly, patients who remain HCV RNA free after six months of treatment were defined as SVR+ while patients who did not or who had stopped treatment for any reason were defined as SVR-. Treatment outcomes had limited influence on subject demographics and disease characteristics (Table 6). The SVR+ cohort had a slightly higher percentage of males, a higher percentage of Caucasians and a lower median age, but these were not significant. The distribution of genotype 1 infections was also comparable (SVR+ 75% versus SVR- 100%, p=0.096). Baseline viral loads, liver enzymes including ALT, AST, GGT and bilirubin, fibrosis scores and grades of inflammation also did not differ between treatment outcomes.

Parameters	SVR+ (n=12)	SVR- (n=13)	
Patient factors			
Male (%)	50	38	
Age (median, range)	49 (23-59)	55 (40-65)	
Caucasian (%)	75	62	
Viral factors			
Genotype 1 (%)	75	100	
Viral Load (log, IU/ml, median, range)	6.26 (1.74-7.10)	5.84 (3.66-7.33)	
ALT (median, range)	79 (27-330)	55 (31-248)	
AST (median, range)	62 (22-221)	81 (27-168)	
GGT (median, range)	50.5 (10-172)	65 (26-361)	
Bilirubin (median, range)	9.5 (4-20)	10 (4-25)	
Fibrosis Scores (median, range)	2.5 (1-3)	.2.5 (1-4)	
Grade of Inflammation (median, range)	2 (1-3)	2 (1-3)	

# Table 6: Patient demographics of SVR+ and SVR- patients

#### 3.6.2 NK cell cytotoxicity and EVR

Patients donated blood at baseline and at 3 months of treatment to assess NK cell cytotoxicity at these time points. Freshly isolated PBMC were incubated overnight in culture medium or culture medium supplemented with IFN $\alpha$  (1000 IU/ml). The following day, PBMC were used in a standard four hour <sup>51</sup>Cr release assay as previously described. Our patient cohort was divided into two groups based on their ability to achieve an EVR. We were interested in examining whether there were differences in NK cell cytotoxicity between EVR+ and EVR-patients.

Our analysis revealed that overnight incubation with IFN $\alpha$  increased NK cell killing in both the EVR+ (Fig. 25a, n=13, 1.42 fold, p=0.003) and EVR- (n=6, 1.58 fold, p=0.033) cohorts. In contrast, at 3 months of treatment, relative to CM alone, overnight incubation with IFN $\alpha$  did not increase NK cell killing in both EVR+ (n=15, 1.36 fold, p=0.648) ) and EVR- (n=7, -1.14 fold, p=0.516) patients.

At baseline, limited differences between treatment cohorts were observed in spontaneous (p=0.251) and IFN $\alpha$ -induced (p=0.114) NK cell killing. Similarly, at 3 months of treatment our analysis revealed no differences between treatment cohorts in spontaneous (p=0.549) and IFN $\alpha$ -induced (p=0.438) NK cell killing.

A paired evaluation of baseline and 3 month samples from the same donor was performed. At baseline, a similar increase in NK cytotoxicity was observed upon overnight incubation of PBMC with IFN $\alpha$  relative to CM alone from both EVR+ (Fig. 25b, n=11, 1.42 fold, p=0.013) and EVR- (n=6, 1.58 fold, p=0.033) patients. In contrast, at 3 months, incubation of PBMC with IFN $\alpha$  relative to CM alone did not increase NK killing in either treatment cohort (EVR+: 1.33 fold, p=0.706; EVR-: -1.07 fold, p=0.591).

Further evaluation of paired samples at baseline revealed limited differences in spontaneous (p=0.393) and IFN $\alpha$ -induced (p=0.209) NK cell killing between the EVR+ and EVR- cohorts. Likewise, at 3 months of treatment, paired samples also had no differences in spontaneous (p=0.763) or IFN $\alpha$ -induced (p=0.725) NK cytotosicity between treatment cohort.

To further evaluate the impact of treatment on NK cell killing, the fold difference between cytotoxicity at 3 months relative to baseline was determined for paired samples. The fold change in spontaneous (Fig. 25c, p=0.960) and IFN $\alpha$ -induced (p=0.451) NK cell killing was similar between the EVR+ and EVR- cohorts.



Figure 25: NK cell cytotoxicity does not differ between patients who achieve and do not achieve an EVR. PBMC were incubated overnight in culture medium (CM) and IFN $\alpha$ . NK cell cytotoxicity was measured by <sup>51</sup>Cr release assay. A. At E:T ratio of 12.5:1, similar NK cell cytotoxicity was observed between the EVR+ and EVR- cohorts at baseline and at 3 months of treatment. B. For patients with samples available at baseline and 3 months, a paired analysis was performed. C. Fold change in NK cell cytotoxicity from baseline to 3 months for each condition indicated. Lines indicate an individual patient's values for each condition. Within cohort significant differences between CM and IFN $\alpha$  were determined by paired t test. Between cohort significant differences were determined by Mann-Whitney U test. Significant differences are indicated as \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01.

# 3.6.3 NK cell cytotoxicity and SVR

Different host and viral factors have been implicated with beneficial treatment outcomes. Please see Section 1.4.2 for these factors. We were interested to see if baseline NK cytotoxicity could predict treatment outcomes. Once again, PBMC were used in a standard four hour <sup>51</sup>Cr release assay as previously described after overnight incubation in culture medium or culture medium supplemented with IFN $\alpha$  (1000 IU/ml). Treatment cohorts were divided into SVR+ and SVR- for subsequent analysis.

This analysis revealed that overnight incubation with IFN $\alpha$  relative to CM alone increased cytotoxicity for both SVR+ (Fig. 26, n=10, 1.42 fold, p=0.013) and SVR- (n=7, 1.89 fold, p=0.018) cohorts. Between treatment cohorts, limited differences were seen in baseline spontaneous (p=0.536) and IFN $\alpha$ -induced (p=0.230) NK cell killing.



Figure 26: NK cell cytotoxicity does not differ between patients who achieve and don't achieve an SVR. PBMC were incubated overnight in culture medium (CM) and IFN $\alpha$ . NK cell cytotoxicity was measured by <sup>51</sup>Cr release assay. At 12.5E:1T ratios, similar NK cell cytotoxicity was observed between all SVR+ and SVR- patients at baseline. Lines indicate an individual patient's values for each condition. Within cohort significant differences between CM and IFN $\alpha$  were determined by paired t test. Between cohort significant differences were determined by Mann-Whitney U test. Significant differences are indicated as \*p<0.05.

#### 3.6.4 CD107a, TRAIL and PD-1 expression and SVR

We were interested to observe if CD107a, TRAIL and PD-1 expression on the surface of NK cells could predict treatment outcomes. CD107a is a marker of degranulation that indirectly measures NK cell killing. The appearance of CD107a on the surface of NK cells correlated with the magnitude of HCV-specific T cells, which may be beneficial during treatment [238]. TRAIL upregulation following IFN $\alpha$  stimulation on NK cells associated with control of HCV infection [106]. Increased PD-1 expression on HCV-specific CTLs has previously been associated with failed SVR rates [235]. The appearance of CD107a, TRAIL and PD-1 was evaluated by our ICCS protocol as previously described.

Our analysis revealed that relative to CM alone, K562 stimulation did not increase CD107a expression from the SVR+ cohort within the total NK population (Fig. 27a, n=7, 1.43 fold, p=0.113). In contrast, K562 stimulation upregulated CD107a expression from the SVR- cohort (n=8, 1.39 fold, p=0.026). Subsequent evaluation between treatment outcomes showed limited differences in spontaneous (p=0.318) and K562-stimulated (p=0.336) CD107a expression within the total NK population.

Evaluation of TRAIL expression showed that K562 stimulation, relative to CM alone, could not upregulate TRAIL expression in either treatment cohort (Fig. 27b, SVR+: p=0.788; SVR-: p=0.502). When comparing TRAIL expression between the SVR+ and SVR- cohorts, no differences were observed in spontaneous (p=0.710) or K562-stimulated (p=0.613) TRAIL expression within the total NK population.

Similar to TRAIL expression, K562 stimulation could not upregulate PD-1 expression within either the SVR+ (Fig. 27c, p=0.479) or SVR- (p=0.535) cohorts relative to CM alone.

95

Spontaneous (p=0.805) and K562-stimulated (p=0.728) PD-1 expression within the total NK population was also equivalent between SVR+ and SVR- patients.



Figure 27: CD107a, TRAIL and PD-1 expression are not predictors of SVR. Frozen PBMC were thawed and incubated with culture medium (CM) or K562 target cells for 6 hours. A. CD107a expression, B. TRAIL expression and C. PD-1 expression within the total NK population was evaluated between the SVR+ and SVR- cohorts. Lines indicate an individual patient's values for each condition. Within cohort significant differences between CM and K562 were determined by paired t test. Between cohort significant differences were determined by Mann-Whitney U test. Significant differences are indicated as \*p<0.05.
#### 3.6.5 NK cell cytokine production and SVR

NK cells can control viral replication indirectly through IFN $\gamma$  production. Strong Th1 cytokine profiles have been associated with increased therapeutic clearance of chronic HCV infections [236, 237]. TNF $\alpha$  is such a cytokine produced by NK cells which contributes to the anti-viral state. We were interested to see if baseline NK cell-specific IFN $\gamma$  and TNF $\alpha$  production could predict SVR. NK cell-specific IFN $\gamma$  and TNF $\alpha$  production were determined by our ICCS protocol as previously described.

Our analysis revealed that relative to CM alone, stimulation of NK cells with K562 targets could not upregulate IFN $\gamma$  production within the SVR+ (Fig. 28a, n=7, 3.88 fold, p=0.354) cohort. In contrast, it could within the SVR- (n=7, -1.04 fold, p=0.023) cohort. In between treatment cohorts, there were no differences in spontaneous (p=0.620) or K562-stimulated (p=0.867) NK cell-specific IFN $\gamma$  production.

When evaluating NK cell-specific TNF $\alpha$  production, relative to CM, K562 stimulation upregulated TNF $\alpha$  production from the total NK population within the SVR+ cohort (Fig. 28b, 2.43 fold, p=0.046), but not within the SVR- (1.49 fold, p=0.140) cohort. Limited differences were observed in spontaneous (p=0.456) and K562- stimulated (p=0.779) NK cell-specific TNF $\alpha$ production between the SVR+ and SVR- cohorts.



Figure 28: IFN $\gamma$  and TNF $\alpha$  production from NK cells cannot predict SVR. Frozen PBMC were thawed and incubated with culture medium (CM) or K562 target cells for 6 hours. A. IFN $\gamma$  production and **B**. TNF $\alpha$  production within the total NK population was evaluated between the SVR+ and SVR- cohorts. Lines indicate an individual patient's values for each condition. Within cohort significant differences between CM and K562 were determined by paired t test. Between cohort significant differences were determined by Mann-Whitney U test. Significant differences are indicated as \*p<0.05.

#### 3.6.6 NK cell functions and SVR

As another method to evaluate NK cell activity, the number of function displayed by NK cells within the SVR+ and SVR- cohorts were assessed. The NK cell functions of interest include the appearance of CD107a and NK cell-specific IFN $\gamma$  and TNF $\alpha$  production. NK cells were divided according to the number of functions they displayed.

The number of NK cell functions were evaluated between the SVR+ and SVR- cohorts prior to the start of treatment (Fig. 29). Relative to CM, incubation with K562 target cells could not increase the number of NK cell functions within either treatment cohort. In addition, between the SVR+ and SVR- cohorts, no differences were observed in the spontaneous or K562-stimulatied number of NK cell functions.



Figure 29: Number of NK cell functions are similar between SVR+ and SVR- patients. Frozen PBMC were thawed and incubated with culture medium for 6 hours to assess NK cell functions. NK cell functions examined include degranulation marker CD107a, NK cell-specific IFN $\gamma$  and TNF $\alpha$  production. Pre-treatment spontaneous and K562-stimulated NK cell functions were evaluated between the SVR+ and SVR- cohorts. The percentage of total NK cells with 0, 1, 2 or 3 functions are indicated as the median values for each cohort condition. Statistical significance of number of functions between cohorts was determined using the Mann-Whitney U test.

## 4 Discussion

NK cell function was assessed between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients. Ethnicity had limited influence on baseline subject demographics and disease characteristics. When NK cell cytotoxicity was assessed two different ways between ethnic cohorts at baseline, no difference was observed. In contrast, at three months of treatment, Caucasian patients had increased spontaneous and IFN $\alpha$ -induced NK cell cytotoxicity compared to Aboriginal patients. Baseline PD-1 expression also did not differ between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients. Caucasian NK, NKT and T cells could produce more IFN $\gamma$  spontaneously and upon K562 stimulation when compared to their counterparts within Aboriginal patients. Only NK cells from Aboriginal patients could upregulate IFN $\gamma$  production upon K562 stimulation. NK cell-specific TNF $\alpha$  production did not differ between ethnicities. However, in contrast to IFN $\gamma$  production, Caucasian NK cells could upregulate TNF $\alpha$  production upon K562 stimulation. Lastly, the number of NK cell functions were similar between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients at baseline.

NK cell function was also assessed against baseline viral loads. NK cell cytotoxicity negatively correlated with baseline viral load whereas CD107a and NK cell-specific IFNγ production positively correlated with viral loads. Interestingly, CD107a and NK cell-specific IFNγ production correlated with each other within the CD56bright NK cell population. PD-1 expression correlated with baseline viral loads upon K562 stimulation. Lastly, 1 spontaneous NK cell function positively correlated and 0 spontaneous functions negatively correlated with baseline viral loads.

We evaluated NK cell function too see if it reflected liver damage measured by fibrosis scores and serum liver enzymes levels. NK cell cytotoxicity measured by the <sup>51</sup>Cr release assay positively correlated with fibrosis, but not with any liver enzymes. In addition, spontaneous CD107a and TRAIL expression within the CD56bright population correlated with serum AST whereas K562-stimulated CD107a and TRAIL expression within the total NK and CD56dim populations correlated with serum AST. Spontaneous CD107a expression within the NKT population also correlated with serum AST. Lastly, HepG2 stimulation strengthened the relationships between NK cell function and liver damage. CD107a expression within the total NK cell population correlated with serum AST, GTT and bilirubin. TRAIL expression within the total NK cell population also correlated with serum AST, GTT and bilirubin. TRAIL expression within the total NK cell population also correlated with serum AST, GTT and bilirubin. TRAIL expression within the total NK cell population correlated with serum AST, GTT and Bilirubin. TRAIL expression within the total NK cell population correlated with serum AST, GTT and GTT.

Last of all, we examined if NK cell functions at baseline could predict EVR or SVR within our patient population. Limited differences in subject demographics and disease characteristics were apparent between treatment cohorts at baseline. In addition, NK cell cytotoxicity and cytokine production at baseline could not predict either EVR or SVR. Interestingly, SVR- patients could upregulate NK cell-specific IFN $\gamma$  production at baseline whereas SVR+ patients could upregulate NK cell-specific TNF $\alpha$  production at baseline. The number of NK cell functions were also similar between SVR+ and SVR- patients at baseline.

## 4.1 NK cell function in Caucasian and Aboriginal patients with chronic HCV infections

## 4.1.1 Differences in NK cell function between ethnic cohorts

Spontaneous clearance of the acute HCV infections has been shown to vary across different ethnicities [10-12, 122, 123]. Specifically, Aboriginal ethnicity is associated with enhanced spontaneous clearance relative to Caucasian and African-American populations [10-12,

122]. The Rempel lab has been investigating different factors which may account for the enhanced spontaneous clearance within the Aboriginal population. These include genetic and functional studies that show that Aboriginals have an enhanced pro-inflammatory microenvironment because of the role of specific KIR genes in promoting HCV clearance [134, 240, 241]. Dr. Rempel's lab also investigated the KIR genotypes in the Aboriginal and Caucasian populations. They demonstrated that Aboriginal KIR clusters displayed a greater immune activating phenotype due to a greater presence of genes from the B haplotype situated within the telomeric region of the KIR gene cluster relative to Caucasian counterparts. This was accompanied by a decrease in the presence of genes of the B haplotype located within the centromeric region [127]. This was the similar KIR profile observed for HCV clearance versus chronicity. KIR genes participate in regulating NK cells along with certain T cell subsets. Taken altogether, these suggest that Aboriginals have a 'natural" advantage' in NK cell function. The role of NK cells in chronic HCV infections has previously been discussed (see Section 1.3.8). Our first objective in this study was to evaluate whether NK cell functions differ between Caucasian and Aboriginal patients with chronic HCV infections.

In chronic HCV infected patients, subject demographics and disease characteristics did not differ between ethnic cohorts (Table 1). The Caucasian cohort had a slightly lower percentage of males and genotype 1 infections when compared to the Aboriginal cohort. This apparent 'treatment advantage' in Caucasians may contribute to slightly higher (but statistically similar) EVR and SVR compared to Aboriginals. When evaluating genotype 1 infections alone, SVR was achieved in 47% of Caucasians and 44% of Aboriginals (p>0.05). This observation agrees with previous published results that found comparable SVR rates between non-Aboriginal and Aboriginal people infected with genotype 1 virus [199]. The marginally higher rate of treatment discontinuation within the Aboriginal cohort is likely an artifact since in a previous study in Dr. Rempel's lab found that while 6 Caucasian men discontinued treatment, no Aboriginals did (personal communication, J. Rempel)

To determine whether NK cell function differed between Caucasian and Aboriginal HCV infected individuals, NK cell activity was examined. We did not find a difference in NK cell activity between ethnic cohorts based on similar NK cell cytotoxicity. NK cell cytotoxicity was assessed two ways; through a standard four hour <sup>51</sup>Cr release assay and through CD107a and TRAIL expression from our ICCS protocol, both of which have been previously described. No differences were observed in spontaneous or IFN $\alpha$ -induced cytotoxicity in the <sup>51</sup>Cr release assay (Fig. 2). Likewise, no differences were seen in spontaneous or K562-stimulated CD107a or TRAIL expression from the total NK, CD56dim (associated with cytotoxicity) and CD56bright (associated with cytokine production) populations (Fig. 5). Unfortunately, due to widespread lymphopenia within our study cohort at 3 months of treatment, there were not enough PBMC to use within our ICCS assay at this time point. It appears that the main mechanism of killing within our <sup>51</sup>Cr release assay is through the perforin/granzyme B pathway. This is indicated by the modest expression of CD107a and little expression of TRAIL. Taken altogether, our data suggests that the natural genetic advantage (based on the KIR data) Aboriginals have in spontaneously clearing HCV infection is not apparent in chronic HCV infection. This may result from interaction of the HCV virus with NK cells to inhibit the natural advantage in Aboriginals or from a selection bias in our Aboriginal cohort where only individuals who do not possess the advantageous KIR genes develop a chronic HCV infection.

Following three months of treatment, Caucasian patients have increased NK cell cytotoxicity compared to Aboriginal patients (Fig. 3). This increase does not appear to be beneficial during

treatment for chronic HCV as both ethnic cohorts have similar abilities to achieve EVR (Table 2). Subsequent analysis using paired patients, where cytotoxicity results were available at baseline and at 3 months of treatment, showed similar trends are observed in NK cytotoxicity although some significance is lost due to a decrease in sample size (Fig. 3).

The other NK cell activity we evaluated was cytokine production including the percent of cells producing IFNy and TNF $\alpha$ . IFNy and TNF $\alpha$  gene polymorphisms have been associated with differential expression of each respective cytokine. For IFN $\gamma$ , one such allelic polymorphism is at the +874 loci [242, 243]. More polymorphisms exist within the TNF $\alpha$  promoter region, with one notable polymorphism at the -308 loci [244, 245]. One study reports the frequency of these allelic polymorphisms between Canadian Aboriginals and Caucasians [246]. They found that when compared to Caucasians, individuals of Dené, but not Cree ancestry, had a higher frequency of the A allele which is associated with low IFN $\gamma$  production. Also, when compared to Caucasians, individuals of Dené and Cree ancestry had a significantly higher frequency of the G allele at the -308 location of the human TNFa promoter which is associated with low TNFa production [246]. In addition, it has been reported that when compared to Caucasians, Canadian Aboriginal individuals have a higher frequency of cytokine single-nucleotide polymorphisms favouring a low production of TNF $\alpha$ , IFN $\gamma$  and IL-10 and high production of IL-6 as compared to a Caucasian population [241]. Taken altogether, this suggests that Caucasians and Aboriginals have unique cytokine genotype profiles. Supporting this observation, our Caucasian cohort produced significantly more IFNy spontaneous and upon K562 stimulation compared to our Aboriginal cohort (Fig. 8). This difference in IFNy production was not restricted to the NK cell populations as it was also observed within the NKT and T cell populations. Also supporting the above observation but in contrast to IFNy production, TNFa production was similar between

ethnicities (Fig. 9). The difference in cytokine production between our ethnic cohorts may reflect the genetic bias of Aboriginal patients that develop chronic HCV infections.

To determine whether NK cell exhaustion played a role in our Caucasian and Aboriginal cohorts, PD-1 expression was evaluated on the total NK, CD56dim and CD56bright populations (Fig. 7). Exhaustion marker PD-1 has been shown to inhibit T cell functions and has been implicated in several viral infections [247-249]. Accordingly, chronic HCV infections are characterized by upregulation of PD-1 on HCV-specific CTLs in both the peripheral and intrahepatic compartments when compared to individuals who spontaneously recovery from acute HCV infections [250-252]. Additionally, PD-1 expression on NK cells from individuals with chronic HCV infections was found to be significantly higher compared to healthy individuals [235]. We did not observe a difference in PD-1 expression from any subset of NK cells between our Aboriginal and Caucasian cohorts. This observation agrees with a previous report that found no difference in PD-1 expression between ethnicities (Caucasian and African-American) [235]. Thus, it appears that NK cell exhaustion through PD-1 expression does not play a role within our study cohort.

The number of NK cell functions was also evaluated between the Caucasian and Aboriginal cohorts (Fig. 10). The number of NK cell functions have previously been shown to play a role in spontaneously resolving acute HCV infection [238]. We had hypothesized that Aboriginal patients would have NK cells with more functions compared to Caucasians due to unique KIR clusters that display a greater immune activating phenotype [127]. Our data does not support this hypothesis. NK cells from both ethnicities displayed similar percentages of functions. We are unsure as to whether this is a consequence of HCV infection within the Aboriginal patients or the selection bias towards Aboriginals that develop a chronic HCV infection.

## 4.1.2 Stimulation of NK cells between ethnic cohorts

An important factor we examined in this study was how a HCV infected patient's NK cells responded to stimulation. Within our <sup>51</sup>Cr release assay, PBMC were incubated overnight in culture medium or culture medium supplemented with IFN $\alpha$  whereas our ICCS protocol incubated PBMC for 4 hours prior to staining in culture medium or K562 targets. Within the <sup>51</sup>Cr release assay, NK cells from both patient cohorts are equally responsive to overnight IFN $\alpha$  stimulation as indicated by the increase in killing the following day (Fig. 3). This suggests that NK cells in chronic HCV infection are not fully stimulated as they can react to exogenous IFN $\alpha$ , a potent activator of NK cells. Caucasians have an increase in the fold change in IFN $\alpha$ -induced killing compared to Aboriginals suggesting that Aboriginal patients appear to be more refractory to in vitro IFN $\alpha$  stimulation when compared to Caucasian patients. Also following three months of treatment, relative to spontaneous killing, NK cells from both patient cohorts fail to increase IFN $\alpha$ -induced killing at 3 months of treatment (Fig. 3). This finding agrees with previously published results where NK cells become refractory to further in vitro IFN $\alpha$  stimulation after 1 weeks of pegIFN therapy and remained low for a further 11 weeks [253].

Within the ICCS protocol, not only did the total NK and CD56dim populations increase CD107a expression upon K562 stimulation from both ethnicities, but the CD56bright population did as well (Fig. 5). The observation that CD56bright NK cells can have markers of degranulation has previously been reported [254, 255]. In contrast, TRAIL expression could not be upregulated upon K562 stimulation relative to culture medium alone within all the examined NK populations for either ethnic cohort (Fig. 6). Another major stimulator of NK cells, IFN $\alpha$ , has been shown to upregulate TRAIL expression on both CD56dim and CD56bright NK cells [106]. Taken altogether, our results suggest other mediators, not cellular contact between NK cells and the

MHC-devoid K562 target cells, are required to upregulate TRAIL expression on NK cells. Similar to TRAIL expression, Caucasians and Aboriginals could not upregulate PD-1 expression upon K562 stimulation relative to culture medium alone suggesting that further stimulation of NK cells in chronic HCV infection does not cause NK cell exhaustion (Fig. 7). NK cell-specific IFN $\gamma$  production increased upon K562 stimulation within the total NK and CD56dim populations only within the Aboriginal cohort (Fig. 8) whereas NK cell-specific TNF $\alpha$  production increased upon K562 stimulation predominantly within the Caucasian cohort (Fig. 9). These different cytokine responses from NK cells may be a factor contributing to disease susceptibility and resistance between these two populations.

# 4.1.3 Summary of NK cell function in Caucasian and Aboriginal patients with chronic HCV infections

Taken altogether, our data suggests that the natural genetic advantage (based on the KIR data) Aboriginals have in spontaneously clearing HCV infection is not apparent in chronic HCV infection. This may result from interaction of the HCV virus with NK cells to inhibit the natural advantage in Aboriginals or from a selection bias in our Aboriginal cohort where only individuals who do not possess the advantageous KIR genes develop a chronic HCV infection. The Rempel lab is currently investigating these two hypotheses by conducting genetic studies examining KIR and HLA genes within Caucasians and Aboriginals with chronic HCV infections.

## 4.2 Viral loads and NK cell function

#### 4.2.1 NK cell functions between high and low viral

Controversy surrounds whether or not HCV can inhibit NK cell function. Numerous ex vivo studies have tried to evaluate NK cell function using PBMC from patients with chronic HCV infections only to yield conflicting results [109, 139, 142, 146]. In order to address these conflicting results, several studies tried to identify potential interaction mechanisms between NK cells and the hepatitis C virion. Initial mechanistic studies using immobilized recombinant HCV envelope proteins to investigate the effect of HCV envelop proteins on NK cell function showed that the envelop protein E2 inhibits NK cells in vitro by binding to CD81 on the surface of NK cells [93, 94]. However, this recombinant E2 protein does not represent naturally occurring E2 proteins which are found in a lipid bilayer enveloping the HCV virion. This problem was solved with the development of cell culture systems that can generate infectious HCV virions [20, 256]. These cultures systems provide a tool to study HCV replication and pathogenesis. Using these infectious cell culture systems, others have shown that naturally expressed E2 on infectious HCV particles do not inhibit NK cell functions unless the virions themselves are immobilized and concentrated on the surface of a plate [257, 258]. When this occurs, there is inhibited IFN $\gamma$ production by IL-12 activated NK which was mediated through engagement of cellular CD81 by HCV virion displayed E2 [257]. Furthermore, since the discovery of immunomodulatory effects of HCV proteins on innate immune responses of infected hepatocytes, it has been suggested that HCV may control NK cell functions through regulatory pathways of infected hepatocytes [259]. This was successfully shown in a study that investigated whether HCV can modulate NK cell functions through direct interactions with HCV-infected hepatocytes [260]. They found that direct cell-to-cell contact between infected hepatocytes and NK cells not only inhibited NK cell

cytotoxicity, but IFNγ secretion as well. Also, the reduction in cytotoxicity correlated with reduced expression of NK cell activation receptors including NKG2D and NKp30 on the surface of NK cells. Thus although there is no direct evidence that NK cells are inhibited in the HCV infected liver, there is evidence suggesting that the functional capacity of liver-infiltrating NK cells that interact with HCV infected hepatocytes may be reduced. It is possible that these reduced functional capacity, liver-infiltrating NK cells may migrate back into the peripheral blood.

We were interested to investigate any potential relationships between NK cell function and viral load within our HCV infected individuals. Using the <sup>51</sup>Cr release assay, we found a significant negative correlation between spontaneous cytotoxicity and baseline viral loads (Fig. 11). In addition, we found that IFNa-stimulated cytotoxicity was suggestive of a negative correlation with baseline viral loads (p=0.081). In contrast, we found that spontaneous CD107a expression, evaluated by our ICCS protocol, positively correlated with baseline viral loads (Fig. 12). This correlation was lost upon K562 stimulation. The discrepancy between our cytotoxicity results from the chromium release assay and CD107a assessment disagreed with another study that examined this relationship where the appearance of CD107a correlates with NK cell cytotoxicity in healthy individuals [261]. These contradicting results, however, can be explained. To our knowledge, no one has examined the relationship between cytotoxicity as measured by a <sup>51</sup>Cr release assay and by CD107a expression in HCV infected individuals. CD107a expression may not correlate with target cell lysis in individuals with chronic HCV infections. Another possible explanation involves our experimental design. The <sup>51</sup>Cr release assay using fresh PBMC measured NK cell killing through direct target cell lysis. The ICCS protocol using previously frozen and thawed PBMC measured NK cell killing indirectly through the appearance of CD107a on the NK cell surface. The freezing process of PBMC has been shown to reduce NK cell cytotoxicity measured through a <sup>51</sup>Cr release assay [262]. Furthermore, the same group also demonstrated that incubation of thawed cells with culture medium increased the cytotoxic potential unevenly. Thus we believe that the CD107a expression in our ICCS assay is measuring cytokine secretion and not NK cell killing. Others have shown that CD107a not only correlated with target cell lysis, but also with cytokine secretion [233]. This observation is further strengthened as CD107a expression was suggestive of a positive correlation with NK cell specific IFNγ production, especially within the CD56bright subset (Fig. 18). Taken altogether, our data suggests that viral loads negatively correlate with NK cytotoxicity and positively correlate with IFNγ production.

The correlations seen between NK cell function and viral loads may aid in the pathogenesis of HCV infection. These observations come from recent studies in the lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) model that suggest NK cell cytotoxocity plays a regulatory role in controlling the inflammatory cascade virus-specific CD4 and CD8 T cell responses [263, 264]. LCMV infections in murine hosts are often used to study the immune responses generated during the acute and chronic phases of infection. One study examined the pathogenesis of different doses of LCMV infection in the presence or absence of NK cells [263]. NK cell cytotoxicity was shown to be beneficial to the host after high-dose LCMV infection as they killed activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells which help to eliminate the CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell response. This resulted in CD8 T cell exhaustion, allowing LCMV to persist and the host to survive with minimal immunopathology. With medium-dose LCMV infection where the viral dose does not cause CD8 T cell exhaustion when NK cells eliminate CD4 T cells resulting in chronic infection and widespread immunopathology, NK cell killing is not beneficial. At low-dose LMCV infection, NK cells do not affect viral

persistence of immunopathology as the virus is cleared in the presence of absence of NK cells. Thus, it has been suggested that NK cells function as 'rheostats' for virus-specific T cell responses [263]. However, if NK cell cytotoxicity is inhibited by the HCV virus, then increased viral loads may cause NK cells to not sufficiently kill CD4 T cells. This might result in greater virus-specific CD8 T cell frequencies and function along with greater immunopathology.

It was interesting to see the association between viral load with NK cell killing and IFN $\gamma$  production (Fig. 16). At low viral loads, NK cells have high killing potential and low cytokine production. In contrast, at high viral loads, NK cells switch to low killing potential and high cytokine production. This "switch" between the two main functions of NK cells does make sense. At low viral loads, NK cells can focus on killing individual infected cells to control the infection. At high viral loads, NK cells would be better off producing IFN $\gamma$  which has broader anti-viral effects. Although we are unsure as to the cause of this "switch" between the two main functions of NK cells, it is possible that this is due to the balance between activation and inhibitory receptors (covered in Section 1.3.4).

The role of PD-1 expression on NK cells from HCV infected individuals has recently been identified [235]. Although there was no significant correlation between spontaneous PD-1 expression on NK cells with viral loads, further stimulation of NK cells with K562 targets had PD-1 expression that correlated with viral loads (Fig. 14). It may be that further stimulation is required to see the association between PD-1 expression and HCV viral load. Furthermore, higher PD-1 expression on NK cells was observed in patients with high viral loads compared to low viral loads. Others have observed similar trends in PD-1 expression on NK cells within Epstein-Barr virus infections [265]. It is possible that PD-1 on NK cells is a potential regulatory mechanism responsible for NK cell functional abnormalities seen during chronic viral infections.

Mechanistic studies examining the role of PD-1 expression on NK cell function within HCV infected patients have yet to be done. However, a group examining this in patients with post-transplantation lymphoproliferative disorders caused by Epstein-Barr virus have found that in their *in vitro* model, blocking PD-1 with an antibody only partially restored IFN $\gamma$  production but not CD107a expression [265]. They suggest that cytotoxicity and IFN $\gamma$  may be differently regulated in their setting. This observation supports our own conclusion that others factors such as the cytokine milieu and engagement of receptors with their corresponding ligands may control the two main functions of NK cells in chronic HCV infections.

#### 4.2.2 NK cell function between high and low viral loads

High baseline viral loads have previously been associated with worse therapeutic outcomes in particular for genotype 1 infections [173-175]. These studies define high viral loads as >800,000 IU/ml and low viral loads as  $\leq$ 800,000 IU/ml. Our study cohort was divided into two groups to assess NK cell function between high and low viral loads. In chronically HCV infected patients, viral loads had limited effect on subject demographics and disease characteristics (Table 3). The HVL cohort had a slightly higher percentage of males and more genotype 1 infections when compared to the LVL cohort. Despite these factors that according to the literature should reduce EVR and SVR rates [173-175], the HVL cohort have higher (but statistically similar) EVR and SVR rates compared to the LVL cohort.

Since NK cell killing negatively associated with viral loads, it is expected that the HVL cohort would have lower NK cytotoxicity compared to the LVL cohort (Fig. 11c). However, it is interesting to note that NK cell from both the high and low viral load cohorts could increase their cytotoxicity upon overnight stimulation with IFNa. This suggests that viral load does not

interfere with the ability of NK cells to respond to stimulation and may help to explain why a form of IFN $\alpha$  remains the backbone of antiviral therapy.

NK cells in patients with persistent HCV infections had higher PD-1 expression when compared to healthy controls suggesting that PD-1 may play a role in suppressing NK function during chronic HCV infection [235]. We observed that CD56dim NK cells had higher spontaneous and K52-stimulated PD-1 expression in HVL patients when compared to LVL patients (Fig. 15). This suggests that NK cells from HVL patients experience more exhaustion compared to LVL patients. This may play a role in the decreased cytotoxicity observed within the HVL cohort (Fig. 11c). The CD56bright NK also had increased PD-1 expression upon K562 stimulation in HVL patients compared to LVL patients. This did not result in a corresponding decrease in IFNγ production (Fig. 17b). Also, spontaneous PD-1 expression within the CD56bright population did not differ between viral load cohorts whereas spontaneous IFNγ production from CD56bright cells was higher from HVL patients compared to LVL patients. These inconsistencies between PD-1 expression and NK cell functions suggest that PD-1 does not affect NK cell function.

#### 4.2.3 Viral load and NK cell function summary

NK cell cytotoxicity negatively correlated with baseline viral loads (Fig. 11). This may reflect the ability of HCV-infected hepatocytes to inhibit NK cell function. This inhibition in NK cell function may also play a role in HCV pathogenesis. In contrast to NK cell cytotoxicity, NK cell-specific IFN $\gamma$  production positively correlated with baseline viral loads (Fig. 16). This suggests some plasticity within the NK cell response which is dependent upon viral load in an attempt to better control viral replication. Lastly, this difference in response at varying viral loads may be dependent upon receptors founds on the surface of NK cells including the expression of exhaustion marker PD-1.

## 4.3 NK cell function and liver damage

#### 4.3.1 NK cell function and fibrosis

Current evidence suggests that hepatic fibrosis is driven primarily by hepatic inflammation in response to liver injury. The complex mechanisms that drive chronic liver injury to fibrosis are not fully understood. However, mounting evidence suggests that hepatic stellate cell (HSC) activation during liver injury is vital in the development of liver fibrosis [266-268]. HSC activation is controlled by many different factors including different cytokines, growth factors and immune cells [266, 268, 269]. NK cells can kill activated HSC directly via cytotoxicity or indirectly via IFNγ production [270-272]. Furthermore, three studies from one group suggest that activated HSCs can stimulate NK cell activation which in turn will kill activated HSC to inhibit liver fibrosis [270, 273, 274]. Thus NK cells from individuals with high fibrosis scores may demonstrate greater cytotoxic potential. Our results agree with this hypothesis as NK cytotoxicity measured from our <sup>51</sup>Cr release assay was suggestive of a positive correlation with fibrosis (Fig. 22). Other markers of NK killing including CD107a and TRAIL expression did not correlate to fibrosis scores within our study cohort.

In contrast to NK cells, NKT cells can be pro-fibrotic [275, 276] or anti-fibrotic [277, 278]. No relationship was observed between NKT markers of killing and fibrosis scores suggesting that within our cohort, only NK cells, not NKT cells, reflect fibrosis in HCV-infected individuals.

## 4.3.2 NK cell function and liver enzymes levels

Since HCV has been shown to replicate non-cytopathically [279], it has been suggested that immune responses play an integral role in HCV-related liver damage through destruction of hepatocytes. This was observed in a longitudinal study of chronic HBV infection where correlations were observed between flares of liver inflammation and fluctuations in IL8, IFN $\alpha$ , and NK cell expression of TRAIL directly *ex vivo* [120]. This same study also shows that NK cells can lyse human hepatocytes which contribute to HBV-related liver damage. In the context of HCV, some studies have reported a relationship between elevated ALT levels and the presence of intrahepatic CD8+ T cells [280, 281], but these associations have not been a consistent finding. We found no correlation between the portions of NK cells with any of the four measured liver enzymes (data not shown). This result agrees with another study that found no significant correlations between the proportion of NK cells and ALT levels [282]. Thus the number of NK cells does not reflect liver damage measured by liver enzymes.

NK cells have been shown to eliminate HCV-infected hepatocytes via perforin/granzyme and TRAIL mediated mechanisms [106, 283]. Bystander killing via perforin/granzyme B and other killing mechanisms may play a role in HCV-mediated liver damage. This observation is supported as within hours after starting therapy for chronic HCV infections when NK cell degranulation and TRAIL production peak, there is a corresponding slight rise in serum ALT levels [253, 284]. When evaluating NK cell functions, no correlations were present between NK cell cytotoxicity and liver enzymes (Table 4). In contrast, TRAIL expression within the total NK and CD56bright populations positively correlated with AST (Fig. 24). The TRAIL pathway of killing is not the predominate mechanism of killing within the chromium release assay thus this difference may not be seen within the assay, or may not play a major role compared to other killing mechanisms. Taken altogether, our data suggests that NK killing potential does not affect liver enzyme levels in the blood. On the other hand, CD107a expression within the CD56bright populations but these were not significant. Stimulation with K562 targets

strengthened these observations thus CD107a is suggestive of a positive correlation with serum AST. However, no correlations were present between NK cell specific TNF $\alpha$  and IFN $\gamma$  production and serum AST. Since CD107a not only correlates with target cell lysis, but also with cytokine secretion [233], it appears that NK cell activity through secretion of mediators other than TNF $\alpha$  and IFN $\gamma$  reflect the degree of liver damage measured by serum AST within our study cohort. NK cell activity did not correlate with any other measured liver enzyme suggesting that NK cells do not reflect liver damage through measurement of ALT, GGT or bilirubin.

#### **4.3.3** NK cell function and liver damage summary

These results indicate that NK cell killing reflects the degree of fibrosis within our study cohort. In addition, the data suggests that NK cells may reflect some degree of liver damage indicated by elevated serum AST. Both unstimulated CD56dim NK cell and stimulated CD56bright NK cell CD107a and TRAIL expression correlated with serum AST. Thus NK cell functional tests may be used to assess the degree of liver damage in chronically HCV-infected individuals.

#### 4.4 The role of NK cells in treatment outcomes

#### 4.4.1 Baseline NK cell functions cannot predict EVR

Pegylated IFN and ribavirin have been standard of care anti-viral therapy for chronic HCV infection for over a decade. At best, it is effective in 50% of patients infected with genotype 1 infections. Pegylated IFN and ribavirin anti-viral therapy is associated with toxicity, including neuropsychiatric morbidity, cytopenias, rashes and influenza-like symptoms [285-288]. Even with the addition of direct acting antivirals, tolerability remains an issue due to adverse clinical

events. Thus there is much interest in identifying viral and host factors that could predict HCV treatment outcomes.

NK cell cytotoxicity at baseline did not differ between patients who subsequently developed an EVR and those who did not (Fig. 25). In addition, at 3 months of treatment when EVRs are assessed, there were no differences in NK killing between treatment cohorts. As was noted within the previous Caucasian and Aboriginal chapter of the discussion, this finding agrees with previously published results where NK cells become refractory to further in vitro IFNα stimulation after 1 week of pegIFN therapy [253]. Taken altogether, this suggests that NK cytotoxicity does not directly play a role in the development of an EVR.

#### 4.4.2 Baseline NK cell functions cannot SVR

Within our treatment cohort, there were limited differences between subject demographics and disease characteristics (Table 6). Individuals who achieved a SVR had a slightly lower (but not significant) median age compared to those who didn't achieve a SVR. This observation agrees with previously published results that found that younger individuals respond better to current antiviral therapy [152, 153, 172]. The lower prevalence of genotype 1 infections within the SVR+ compared to the SVR- cohort reflects the difficulty in achieving successful outcomes with this viral genotype. All patients who were genotypes 2/3 achieved SVR.

During HCV infection, chronic exposure of NK cells to endogenous IFN $\alpha$  results in increased STAT1 expression and preferential STAT1 phosphorylation over STAT4 phosphorylation [253, 289] resulting in increased cytotoxicity rather than IFN $\gamma$  production [107, 109]. IFN $\alpha$  can be produced by pDC and Kupffer cells that sense HCV RNA [290, 291]. This connected increase in pSTAT1-dependent cytotoxicity and decrease in pSTAT4-dependent IFN $\gamma$  production can be seen *in vitro* when NK cells from healthy donors are stimulated with IFN $\alpha$  [109] and is further

enhanced when chronic HCV infected individuals undergo IFNα-based therapies [253, 284]. These events correlate with STAT1 phosphorylation and reduction in HCV titer during the first 48 hours of therapy which mark the first phase of the virological response [253]. In contrast, NK cells from individuals with slow first-phase HCV RNA decline have lower pSTAT1 levels [253]. Treatment responders show greater levels of NK cell degranulation for at least the first 12 weeks of treatment compared to non-responders [253]. Patients who develop a SVR also show enhanced NK cytotoxicity [292].

We did not find any differences between the frequencies of total NK, CD56dim or CD56bright cells between SVR+ and SVR- patients. In contrast, others have found differences prior to the commencement of treatment. Patients who subsequently developed a SVR had increased frequencies of CD56dim NK cells while those who did not had increased frequencies of CD56bright NK cells [292, 293]. However, neither of these groups looked directly at NK cell cytotoxicity. One of these groups observed that NK cells from SVR+ patients displayed a greater perforin content than SVR- patients suggesting that cytotoxicity may be increased within the SVR+ patients [292]. But increased perforin content does not necessarily infer increased cytotoxix potential. Our results that measured cytotoxicity directly through a standard four hour <sup>51</sup>Cr release assay, found no differences in NK killing potential between treatment cohorts prior to starting treatment (Fig. 26). CD107a and TRAIL expression supported the above conclusion as they were also similar between treatment outcomes prior to starting treatment (Fig. 27).

TNF $\alpha$  and IFN $\gamma$  NK cell-specific cytokine production could not predict treatment outcomes within our treatment cohort (Fig. 28). Interestingly, NK cells from SVR+ patients responded to further stimulation to upregulate TNF $\alpha$  production. In contrast, NK cells from SVR- patients upreguated IFN $\gamma$  production upon further simulation. This suggests that TNF $\alpha$ , and not IFN $\gamma$ , is important to develop a SVR on treatment.

#### 4.4.3 The role on NK cells in treatment outcomes summary

Our results suggest that NK cell function does not directly play a role in therapeutic outcomes of chronic HCV infection. However, it is possible that they indirectly participate during antiviral therapy. NK cell killing is refractory to further IFN $\alpha$  stimulation after 3 months of pegylated IFN and ribavirin therapy suggesting that the exogenously administered IFN $\alpha$  does exert a role on NK cells. Strong, multi-specific T cell responses have been shown to clear the virus [56-58], thus it is possible that NK cells aid in the development of this adaptive immune responses. Furthermore, NK cells have been shown to eliminate HCV-infected hepatocytes via perforin/granzyme and TRAIL mediated mechanisms [106, 283]. Thus NK cells may contribute to clearing infected hepatocytes to eliminate viral reservoirs during treatment.

## 4.5 Conclusion

In conclusion, these findings suggest limited differences in NK cell functions between Caucasian and Aboriginals with chronic HCV infections. Although higher NK cell cytotoxicity was observed in Caucasian patients at 3 months of treatment relative to their Aboriginal counterparts, it does not appear to affect the ability of each ethnic cohort to achieve EVR. Whether these results are due to the interaction of the HCV virus with NK cells to inhibit an apparent natural advantage in Aboriginals, or from a selection bias in our Aboriginal cohort where only individuals who do not possess the advantageous KIR genes develop a chronic HCV infection is currently under investigation within the Rempel lab. These findings also suggest that viral loads affect NK cell function. NK cell cytotoxicity associated with low viral loads while IFNy production associated with high viral loads. This may play a role in further viral control along and may help to explain the pathogenesis of chronic HCV infection. In addition, certain NK cell functions may reflect liver damage measured by fibrosis and liver enzymes. Further work is required to evaluated whether or not NK functional assays may be used as biomarkers for liver damage. Lastly, NK cell functions prior to starting treatment for chronic HCV infection could not predict treatment outcomes suggesting that they do not directly play a role in therapeutic outcomes. Further research is necessary to identify specific NK cell phenotypic and functional properties that may play a role in treatment outcomes.

### 4.6 Considerations and limitations

The biggest limiting factor in this study was the small samples size. It is difficult to interpret data with a limited sample size. In addition, this gives us less power in our statistical analyses and therefore some significance in our results may be missed.

With the development of direct-acting antivirals to better treat genotype 1 infections in combination with pegIFN and ribavirin, it is difficult to interpret these results in the context of evolving treatment options. With these new antivirals, SVR rates are continuing to climb not only in treatment-naïve individuals, but also in treatment-experienced individuals. Further research is required to assess the role of NK cells with this new treatment regime.

Lastly, the NK cells we examined in this study came from peripheral blood. These may not be the most important NK cell in the development of a chronic HCV infection. Several studies have already emphasized differences between intrahepatic and peripheral blood NK cells in the context of HBV and HCV. Intrahepatic NK cells may behave differently compared to peripheral NK cells due to the tolerogenic environment of the liver. However, due to difficulties associated with organ immunology such as limited cell numbers and lack of healthy donors/controls, other alternative solutions to study the role of NK cells in chronic HCV must be sought.

## References

- 1. Choo, Q.L., et al., *Isolation of a cDNA clone derived from a blood-borne non-A, non-B viral hepatitis genome.* Science, 1989. **244**(4902): p. 359-62.
- 2. Kuo, G., et al., *An assay for circulating antibodies to a major etiologic virus of human non-A, non-B hepatitis.* Science, 1989. **244**(4902): p. 362-4.
- 3. Lauer, G.M. and B.D. Walker, *Hepatitis C virus infection*. N Engl J Med, 2001. **345**(1): p. 41-52.
- 4. Dienstag, J.L. and H.J. Alter, *Non-A*, *non-B* hepatitis: evolving epidemiologic and clinical perspective. Semin Liver Dis, 1986. **6**(1): p. 67-81.
- 5. Seeff, L.B. and J.L. Dienstag, *Transfusion-associated non-A, non-B hepatitis. Where do we go from here?* Gastroenterology, 1988. **95**(2): p. 530-3.
- 6. Shepard, C.W., L. Finelli, and M.J. Alter, *Global epidemiology of hepatitis C virus infection*. Lancet Infect Dis, 2005. **5**(9): p. 558-67.
- 7. Global surveillance and control of hepatitis C. Report of a WHO Consultation organized in collaboration with the Viral Hepatitis Prevention Board, Antwerp, Belgium. J Viral Hepat, 1999. **6**(1): p. 35-47.
- 8. Remis, R.S., *Modelling The Incidence and Prevalence of Hepatitis C Infection and its Sequelae in Canada, 2007. Final Report. HP40-39/2009E-PDF; 978-1-100-12614-2,* Community Acquired Infections Division, Centre for Communicable Diseases and Infection Control, Infectious Disease and Emergency Preparedness Branch, Public Health Agency of Canada.
- 9. Wilson, C., *Hepatitis C infection and type 2 diabetes in American-Indian women*. Diabetes Care, 2004. **27**(9): p. 2116-9.
- 10. Minuk, G.Y. and J. Uhanova, *Viral hepatitis in the Canadian Inuit and First Nations populations*. Can J Gastroenterol, 2003. **17**(12): p. 707-12.
- 11. Minuk, G.Y., et al., *Viral hepatitis in a Canadian First Nations community*. Can J Gastroenterol, 2003. **17**(10): p. 593-6.
- Dawood, M., et al., *Hepatitis C virus infection among First Nation and non-First Nation people in Manitoba, Canada: a public health laboratory study.* Can J Microbiol, 2006. 52(10): p. 999-1005.
- 13. *Recommendations for prevention and control of hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection and HCV-related chronic disease. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.* MMWR Recomm Rep, 1998. **47**(RR-19): p. 1-39.
- Busch, M.P., et al., A new strategy for estimating risks of transfusion-transmitted viral infections based on rates of detection of recently infected donors. Transfusion, 2005. 45(2): p. 254-64.
- 15. Roberts, E.A. and L. Yeung, *Maternal-infant transmission of hepatitis C virus infection*. Hepatology, 2002. **36**(5 Suppl 1): p. S106-13.
- 16. Terrault, N.A., *Sexual activity as a risk factor for hepatitis C.* Hepatology, 2002. **36**(5 Suppl 1): p. S99-105.
- 17. Sugano, M., et al., *Quantitation of hepatitis C viral RNA in liver and serum samples using competitive polymerase chain reaction.* J Clin Pathol, 1995. **48**(9): p. 820-5.
- 18. Pal, S., et al., *Intrahepatic hepatitis C virus replication correlates with chronic hepatitis C disease severity in vivo.* J Virol, 2006. **80**(5): p. 2280-90.

- 19. Tscherne, D.M., et al., *Time- and temperature-dependent activation of hepatitis C virus for low-pH-triggered entry.* J Virol, 2006. **80**(4): p. 1734-41.
- 20. Lindenbach, B.D., et al., *Complete replication of hepatitis C virus in cell culture*. Science, 2005. **309**(5734): p. 623-6.
- 21. Pileri, P., et al., *Binding of hepatitis C virus to CD81*. Science, 1998. **282**(5390): p. 938-41.
- 22. Bartosch, B., et al., *Cell entry of hepatitis C virus requires a set of co-receptors that include the CD81 tetraspanin and the SR-B1 scavenger receptor.* J Biol Chem, 2003. **278**(43): p. 41624-30.
- 23. Scarselli, E., et al., *The human scavenger receptor class B type I is a novel candidate receptor for the hepatitis C virus*. Embo J, 2002. **21**(19): p. 5017-25.
- 24. Agnello, V., et al., *Hepatitis C virus and other flaviviridae viruses enter cells via low density lipoprotein receptor*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1999. **96**(22): p. 12766-71.
- 25. Lozach, P.Y., et al., *C-type lectins L-SIGN and DC-SIGN capture and transmit infectious hepatitis C virus pseudotype particles.* J Biol Chem, 2004. **279**(31): p. 32035-45.
- 26. Lozach, P.Y., et al., *DC-SIGN and L-SIGN are high affinity binding receptors for hepatitis C virus glycoprotein E2*. J Biol Chem, 2003. **278**(22): p. 20358-66.
- 27. Evans, M.J., et al., *Claudin-1 is a hepatitis C virus co-receptor required for a late step in entry*. Nature, 2007. **446**(7137): p. 801-5.
- Wang, C., P. Sarnow, and A. Siddiqui, *Translation of human hepatitis C virus RNA in cultured cells is mediated by an internal ribosome-binding mechanism.* J Virol, 1993. 67(6): p. 3338-44.
- 29. Serafino, A., et al., Suggested role of the Golgi apparatus and endoplasmic reticulum for crucial sites of hepatitis C virus replication in human lymphoblastoid cells infected in vitro. J Med Virol, 2003. **70**(1): p. 31-41.
- 30. Choo, Q.L., et al., *Genetic organization and diversity of the hepatitis C virus*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1991. **88**(6): p. 2451-5.
- 31. Griffin, S.D., et al., *The p7 protein of hepatitis C virus forms an ion channel that is blocked by the antiviral drug, Amantadine.* FEBS Lett, 2003. **535**(1-3): p. 34-8.
- 32. Simmonds, P., et al., *Consensus proposals for a unified system of nomenclature of hepatitis C virus genotypes.* Hepatology, 2005. **42**(4): p. 962-73.
- 33. Moretta, A., et al., *What is a natural killer cell?* Nat Immunol, 2002. **3**(1): p. 6-8.
- 34. Raulet, D.H., *Interplay of natural killer cells and their receptors with the adaptive immune response*. Nat Immunol, 2004. **5**(10): p. 996-1002.
- 35. Doherty, D.G. and C. O'Farrelly, *Innate and adaptive lymphoid cells in the human liver*. Immunol Rev, 2000. **174**: p. 5-20.
- 36. Gregoire, C., et al., *The trafficking of natural killer cells*. Immunol Rev, 2007. **220**: p. 169-82.
- 37. Trinchieri, G., Biology of natural killer cells. Adv Immunol, 1989. 47: p. 187-376.
- 38. Biron, C.A., et al., *Natural killer cells in antiviral defense: function and regulation by innate cytokines.* Annu Rev Immunol, 1999. **17**: p. 189-220.
- 39. Moretta, A., et al., *Receptors for HLA class-I molecules in human natural killer cells*. Annu Rev Immunol, 1996. **14**: p. 619-48.
- 40. Fernandez, N.C., et al., *Dendritic cells directly trigger NK cell functions: cross-talk relevant in innate anti-tumor immune responses in vivo.* Nat Med, 1999. **5**(4): p. 405-11.

- 41. Gerosa, F., et al., *Reciprocal activating interaction between natural killer cells and dendritic cells*. J Exp Med, 2002. **195**(3): p. 327-33.
- 42. Banchereau, J., et al., *Immunobiology of dendritic cells*. Annu Rev Immunol, 2000. **18**: p. 767-811.
- 43. Steinman, R.M., *The dendritic cell system and its role in immunogenicity*. Annu Rev Immunol, 1991. **9**: p. 271-96.
- 44. Kadowaki, N., *The divergence and interplay between pDC and mDC in humans*. Front Biosci, 2009. **14**: p. 808-17.
- Auffermann-Gretzinger, S., E.B. Keeffe, and S. Levy, *Impaired dendritic cell maturation in patients with chronic, but not resolved, hepatitis C virus infection.* Blood, 2001.
   97(10): p. 3171-6.
- 46. Mengshol, J.A., et al., *Impaired plasmacytoid dendritic cell maturation and differential chemotaxis in chronic hepatitis C virus: associations with antiviral treatment outcomes.* Gut, 2009. **58**(7): p. 964-73.
- 47. Goutagny, N., et al., *Quantification and functional analysis of plasmacytoid dendritic cells in patients with chronic hepatitis C virus infection.* J Infect Dis, 2004. **189**(9): p. 1646-55.
- 48. Kanto, T., et al., *Reduced numbers and impaired ability of myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells to polarize T helper cells in chronic hepatitis C virus infection.* J Infect Dis, 2004. **190**(11): p. 1919-26.
- 49. Dolganiuc, A., et al., *Hepatitis C virus core and nonstructural protein 3 proteins induce pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines and inhibit dendritic cell differentiation.* J Immunol, 2003. **170**(11): p. 5615-24.
- 50. Ouyang, W., J.K. Kolls, and Y. Zheng, *The biological functions of T helper 17 cell effector cytokines in inflammation*. Immunity, 2008. **28**(4): p. 454-67.
- 51. Mosmann, T.R. and R.L. Coffman, *TH1 and TH2 cells: different patterns of lymphokine secretion lead to different functional properties.* Annu Rev Immunol, 1989. **7**: p. 145-73.
- 52. Sakaguchi, S., *Naturally arising CD4+ regulatory t cells for immunologic self-tolerance and negative control of immune responses.* Annu Rev Immunol, 2004. **22**: p. 531-62.
- 53. Nelson, B.H., *IL-2, regulatory T cells, and tolerance*. J Immunol, 2004. **172**(7): p. 3983-8.
- 54. Bluestone, J.A. and A.K. Abbas, *Natural versus adaptive regulatory T cells*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2003. **3**(3): p. 253-7.
- 55. Roncarolo, M.G., et al., *Interleukin-10-secreting type 1 regulatory T cells in rodents and humans*. Immunol Rev, 2006. **212**: p. 28-50.
- 56. Lloyd, A.R., et al., *Host and viral factors in the immunopathogenesis of primary hepatitis C virus infection.* Immunol Cell Biol, 2007. **85**(1): p. 24-32.
- 57. Thimme, R., et al., *Viral and immunological determinants of hepatitis C virus clearance, persistence, and disease.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2002. **99**(24): p. 15661-8.
- 58. Day, C.L., et al., Broad specificity of virus-specific CD4+ T-helper-cell responses in resolved hepatitis C virus infection. J Virol, 2002. **76**(24): p. 12584-95.
- 59. Wherry, E.J., et al., *Viral persistence alters CD8 T-cell immunodominance and tissue distribution and results in distinct stages of functional impairment.* J Virol, 2003. **77**(8): p. 4911-27.
- 60. Ulsenheimer, A., et al., *Detection of functionally altered hepatitis C virus-specific CD4 T cells in acute and chronic hepatitis C.* Hepatology, 2003. **37**(5): p. 1189-98.

- 61. Semmo, N., et al., *Preferential loss of IL-2-secreting CD4+ T helper cells in chronic HCV infection.* Hepatology, 2005. **41**(5): p. 1019-28.
- 62. Lauer, G.M., et al., *High resolution analysis of cellular immune responses in resolved and persistent hepatitis C virus infection.* Gastroenterology, 2004. **127**(3): p. 924-36.
- 63. Bolacchi, F., et al., Increased hepatitis C virus (HCV)-specific CD4+CD25+ regulatory T lymphocytes and reduced HCV-specific CD4+ T cell response in HCV-infected patients with normal versus abnormal alanine aminotransferase levels. Clin Exp Immunol, 2006. 144(2): p. 188-96.
- 64. Yang, J.H., et al., [CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells suppress CD4+ T cell responses in patients with persistent hepatitis C virus infection]. Zhonghua Nei Ke Za Zhi, 2006.
  45(1): p. 29-33.
- 65. Ge, J., et al., *Implication of Th17 and Th1 cells in patients with chronic active hepatitis B*. J Clin Immunol. **30**(1): p. 60-7.
- 66. Lemmers, A., et al., *The interleukin-17 pathway is involved in human alcoholic liver disease*. Hepatology, 2009. **49**(2): p. 646-57.
- 67. Zhang, J.P., et al., *Increased intratumoral IL-17-producing cells correlate with poor survival in hepatocellular carcinoma patients*. J Hepatol, 2009. **50**(5): p. 980-9.
- 68. Bowen, D.G. and C.M. Walker, *Adaptive immune responses in acute and chronic hepatitis C virus infection.* Nature, 2005. **436**(7053): p. 946-52.
- 69. Rehermann, B. and M. Nascimbeni, *Immunology of hepatitis B virus and hepatitis C virus infection*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2005. **5**(3): p. 215-29.
- 70. Timm, J., et al., *CD8 epitope escape and reversion in acute HCV infection*. J Exp Med, 2004. **200**(12): p. 1593-604.
- 71. Tester, I., et al., *Immune evasion versus recovery after acute hepatitis C virus infection from a shared source.* J Exp Med, 2005. **201**(11): p. 1725-31.
- 72. Curry, M.P., et al., *Expansion of peripheral blood CD5+ B cells is associated with mild disease in chronic hepatitis C virus infection.* J Hepatol, 2000. **32**(1): p. 121-5.
- 73. Zuckerman, E., et al., *Peripheral B-cell CD5 expansion and CD81 overexpression and their association with disease severity and autoimmune markers in chronic hepatitis C virus infection*. Clin Exp Immunol, 2002. **128**(2): p. 353-8.
- 74. Realdon, S., et al., *High levels of soluble tumor necrosis factor superfamily receptors in patients with hepatitis C virus infection and lymphoproliferative disorders.* J Hepatol, 2001. **34**(5): p. 723-9.
- 75. Gross, J.A., et al., *TACI and BCMA are receptors for a TNF homologue implicated in B-cell autoimmune disease*. Nature, 2000. **404**(6781): p. 995-9.
- Mayo, M.J., *Extrahepatic manifestations of hepatitis C infection*. Am J Med Sci, 2003. 325(3): p. 135-48.
- 77. Shresta, S., et al., *How do cytotoxic lymphocytes kill their targets?* Curr Opin Immunol, 1998. **10**(5): p. 581-7.
- 78. Griffiths, G.M., Endocytosing the death sentence. J Cell Biol, 2003. 160(2): p. 155-6.
- 79. Fehniger, T.A., et al., *Acquisition of murine NK cell cytotoxicity requires the translation of a pre-existing pool of granzyme B and perforin mRNAs.* Immunity, 2007. **26**(6): p. 798-811.
- Winchester, B.G., *Lysosomal membrane proteins*. Eur J Paediatr Neurol, 2001. 5 Suppl A: p. 11-9.

- 81. Martin, S.J., et al., *The cytotoxic cell protease granzyme B initiates apoptosis in a cell-free system by proteolytic processing and activation of the ICE/CED-3 family protease, CPP32, via a novel two-step mechanism.* Embo J, 1996. **15**(10): p. 2407-16.
- 82. Fernandes-Alnemri, T., et al., *In vitro activation of CPP32 and Mch3 by Mch4, a novel human apoptotic cysteine protease containing two FADD-like domains.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1996. **93**(15): p. 7464-9.
- 83. Gu, Y., et al., *Processing and activation of CMH-1 by granzyme B*. J Biol Chem, 1996. **271**(18): p. 10816-20.
- 84. Luo, X., et al., *Bid, a Bcl2 interacting protein, mediates cytochrome c release from mitochondria in response to activation of cell surface death receptors.* Cell, 1998. 94(4): p. 481-90.
- 85. Kuwana, T., et al., *Bid, Bax, and lipids cooperate to form supramolecular openings in the outer mitochondrial membrane.* Cell, 2002. **111**(3): p. 331-42.
- 86. Trinchieri, G. and N. Valiante, *Receptors for the Fc fragment of IgG on natural killer cells*. Nat Immun, 1993. **12**(4-5): p. 218-34.
- 87. Mandelboim, O., et al., *Human CD16 as a lysis receptor mediating direct natural killer cell cytotoxicity.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1999. **96**(10): p. 5640-4.
- 88. Zamai, L., et al., Natural killer (NK) cell-mediated cytotoxicity: differential use of TRAIL and Fas ligand by immature and mature primary human NK cells. J Exp Med, 1998.
  188(12): p. 2375-80.
- 89. Orange, J.S. and C.A. Biron, *Characterization of early IL-12, IFN-alphabeta, and TNF effects on antiviral state and NK cell responses during murine cytomegalovirus infection.* J Immunol, 1996. **156**(12): p. 4746-56.
- 90. Orange, J.S., et al., *Requirement for natural killer cell-produced interferon gamma in defense against murine cytomegalovirus infection and enhancement of this defense pathway by interleukin 12 administration.* J Exp Med, 1995. **182**(4): p. 1045-56.
- 91. Orange, J.S. and C.A. Biron, *An absolute and restricted requirement for IL-12 in natural killer cell IFN-gamma production and antiviral defense. Studies of natural killer and T cell responses in contrasting viral infections.* J Immunol, 1996. **156**(3): p. 1138-42.
- 92. Monteiro, J.M., C. Harvey, and G. Trinchieri, *Role of interleukin-12 in primary influenza* virus infection. J Virol, 1998. **72**(6): p. 4825-31.
- 93. Crotta, S., et al., *Inhibition of natural killer cells through engagement of CD81 by the major hepatitis C virus envelope protein.* J Exp Med, 2002. **195**(1): p. 35-41.
- 94. Tseng, C.T. and G.R. Klimpel, *Binding of the hepatitis C virus envelope protein E2 to CD81 inhibits natural killer cell functions.* J Exp Med, 2002. **195**(1): p. 43-9.
- 95. Ljunggren, H.G. and K. Karre, *In search of the 'missing self': MHC molecules and NK cell recognition*. Immunol Today, 1990. **11**(7): p. 237-44.
- 96. Watzl, C., *The NKG2D receptor and its ligands-recognition beyond the "missing self"?* Microbes Infect, 2003. **5**(1): p. 31-7.
- 97. Martin, A.M., et al., *Comparative genomic analysis, diversity and evolution of two KIR haplotypes A and B.* Gene, 2004. **335**: p. 121-31.
- 98. Yawata, M., et al., *Variation within the human killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor* (*KIR*) gene family. Crit Rev Immunol, 2002. **22**(5-6): p. 463-82.
- 99. Kulkarni, S., M.P. Martin, and M. Carrington, *The Yin and Yang of HLA and KIR in human disease*. Semin Immunol, 2008. **20**(6): p. 343-52.

- 100. Bauer, S., et al., Activation of NK cells and T cells by NKG2D, a receptor for stressinducible MICA. Science, 1999. **285**(5428): p. 727-9.
- 101. Cosman, D., et al., *ULBPs, novel MHC class I-related molecules, bind to CMV glycoprotein UL16 and stimulate NK cytotoxicity through the NKG2D receptor.* Immunity, 2001. **14**(2): p. 123-33.
- 102. Braud, V.M., et al., *HLA-E binds to natural killer cell receptors CD94/NKG2A, B and C.* Nature, 1998. **391**(6669): p. 795-9.
- 103. Ryan, J.C., et al., *NKR-P1A is a target-specific receptor that activates natural killer cell cytotoxicity*. J Exp Med, 1995. **181**(5): p. 1911-5.
- 104. Hecht, M.L., et al., *Natural cytotoxicity receptors NKp30, NKp44 and NKp46 bind to different heparan sulfate/heparin sequences.* J Proteome Res, 2009. **8**(2): p. 712-20.
- 105. Sivori, S., et al., *p46*, *a novel natural killer cell-specific surface molecule that mediates cell activation*. J Exp Med, 1997. **186**(7): p. 1129-36.
- 106. Stegmann, K.A., et al., *Interferon-alpha-induced TRAIL on natural killer cells is associated with control of hepatitis C virus infection.* Gastroenterology, 2010. **138**(5): p. 1885-97.
- 107. Bonorino, P., et al., *Fine characterization of intrahepatic NK cells expressing natural killer receptors in chronic hepatitis B and C.* J Hepatol, 2009. **51**(3): p. 458-67.
- 108. Oliviero, B., et al., *Natural killer cell functional dichotomy in chronic hepatitis B and chronic hepatitis C virus infections*. Gastroenterology, 2009. **137**(3): p. 1151-60, 1160 e1-7.
- 109. Ahlenstiel, G., et al., *Natural killer cells are polarized toward cytotoxicity in chronic hepatitis C in an interferon-alfa-dependent manner*. Gastroenterology, 2010. **138**(1): p. 325-35 e1-2.
- 110. Lanier, L.L., et al., *The relationship of CD16 (Leu-11) and Leu-19 (NKH-1) antigen expression on human peripheral blood NK cells and cytotoxic T lymphocytes.* J Immunol, 1986. **136**(12): p. 4480-6.
- 111. Nagler, A., et al., *Comparative studies of human FcRIII-positive and negative natural killer cells.* J Immunol, 1989. **143**(10): p. 3183-91.
- 112. Caligiuri, M.A., et al., Functional consequences of interleukin 2 receptor expression on resting human lymphocytes. Identification of a novel natural killer cell subset with high affinity receptors. J Exp Med, 1990. **171**(5): p. 1509-26.
- 113. Nagler, A., L.L. Lanier, and J.H. Phillips, *Constitutive expression of high affinity interleukin 2 receptors on human CD16-natural killer cells in vivo.* J Exp Med, 1990. 171(5): p. 1527-33.
- 114. Cooper, M.A., et al., *Human natural killer cells: a unique innate immunoregulatory role for the CD56(bright) subset.* Blood, 2001. **97**(10): p. 3146-51.
- 115. Perussia, B., Y. Chen, and M.J. Loza, *Peripheral NK cell phenotypes: multiple changing of faces of an adapting, developing cell.* Mol Immunol, 2005. **42**(4): p. 385-95.
- 116. Wisse, E., et al., *The pit cell: description of a new type of cell occurring in rat liver sinusoids and peripheral blood.* Cell Tissue Res, 1976. **173**(4): p. 423-35.
- 117. Vanderkerken, K., et al., *Origin and differentiation of hepatic natural killer cells (pit cells)*. Hepatology, 1993. **18**(4): p. 919-25.
- 118. Dunn, C., et al., *Temporal analysis of early immune responses in patients with acute hepatitis B virus infection.* Gastroenterology, 2009. **137**(4): p. 1289-300.

- 119. Lassen, M.G., et al., *Intrahepatic IL-10 maintains NKG2A+Ly49- liver NK cells in a functionally hyporesponsive state.* J Immunol. **184**(5): p. 2693-701.
- 120. Dunn, C., et al., *Cytokines induced during chronic hepatitis B virus infection promote a pathway for NK cell-mediated liver damage.* J Exp Med, 2007. **204**(3): p. 667-80.
- 121. Hoofnagle, J.H., *Course and outcome of hepatitis C*. Hepatology, 2002. **36**(5 Suppl 1): p. S21-9.
- 122. Grebely, J., et al., *Factors associated with spontaneous clearance of hepatitis C virus among illicit drug users.* Can J Gastroenterol, 2007. **21**(7): p. 447-51.
- 123. Shah, D.P., et al., *Demographics, socio-behavioral factors, and drug use patterns: what matters in spontaneous HCV clearance?* J Med Virol, 2012. **84**(2): p. 235-41.
- 124. Jamil, K.M. and S.I. Khakoo, *KIR/HLA interactions and pathogen immunity*. J Biomed Biotechnol, 2011. **2011**: p. 298348.
- 125. Khakoo, S.I., et al., *HLA and NK cell inhibitory receptor genes in resolving hepatitis C virus infection.* Science, 2004. **305**(5685): p. 872-4.
- 126. Hou, L., et al., *The characteristics of allelic polymorphism in killer-immunoglobulin-like receptor framework genes in African Americans*. Immunogenetics, 2011. **63**(9): p. 549-59.
- Rempel, J.D., et al., *The potential influence of KIR cluster profiles on disease patterns of Canadian Aboriginals and other indigenous peoples of the Americas*. Eur J Hum Genet, 2011. **19**(12): p. 1276-80.
- 128. Paladino, N., et al., *Increased frequencies of activating natural killer receptors are associated with liver injury in individuals who do not eliminate hepatitis C virus*. Tissue Antigens, 2007. **69 Suppl 1**: p. 109-11.
- 129. Montes-Cano, M.A., et al., *HLA-C and KIR genes in hepatitis C virus infection*. Hum Immunol, 2005. **66**(11): p. 1106-9.
- 130. Cabrera, R., et al., *An immunomodulatory role for CD4*(+)*CD25*(+) *regulatory T lymphocytes in hepatitis C virus infection.* Hepatology, 2004. **40**(5): p. 1062-71.
- 131. Hoffmann, S.C., et al., *Association of cytokine polymorphic inheritance and in vitro cytokine production in anti-CD3/CD28-stimulated peripheral blood lymphocytes.* Transplantation, 2001. **72**(8): p. 1444-50.
- 132. Mangia, A., et al., *IL-10 haplotypes as possible predictors of spontaneous clearance of HCV infection*. Cytokine, 2004. **25**(3): p. 103-9.
- 133. Knapp, S., et al., Interleukin-10 promoter polymorphisms and the outcome of hepatitis C virus infection. Immunogenetics, 2003. 55(6): p. 362-9.
- 134. Aborsangaya, K.B., et al., *Impact of aboriginal ethnicity on HCV core-induced IL-10 synthesis: interaction with IL-10 gene polymorphisms*. Hepatology, 2007. **45**(3): p. 623-30.
- 135. Amadei, B., et al., *Activation of natural killer cells during acute infection with hepatitis C virus.* Gastroenterology, 2010. **138**(4): p. 1536-45.
- 136. Pelletier, S., et al., *Increased degranulation of natural killer cells during acute HCV correlates with the magnitude of virus-specific T cell responses.* J Hepatol. **53**(5): p. 805-16.
- 137. Morishima, C., et al., *Decreased NK cell frequency in chronic hepatitis C does not affect ex vivo cytolytic killing.* Hepatology, 2006. **43**(3): p. 573-80.

- 138. Dessouki, O., et al., *Chronic hepatitis C viral infection reduces NK cell frequency and suppresses cytokine secretion: Reversion by anti-viral treatment.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun. **393**(2): p. 331-7.
- 139. Golden-Mason, L., et al., Altered natural killer cell subset distributions in resolved and persistent hepatitis C virus infection following single source exposure. Gut, 2008. 57(8): p. 1121-8.
- 140. De Maria, A., et al., Increased natural cytotoxicity receptor expression and relevant IL-10 production in NK cells from chronically infected viremic HCV patients. Eur J Immunol, 2007. 37(2): p. 445-55.
- 141. Dessouki, O., et al., *Chronic hepatitis C viral infection reduces NK cell frequency and suppresses cytokine secretion: Reversion by anti-viral treatment.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2010. **393**(2): p. 331-7.
- 142. Nattermann, J., et al., *Surface expression and cytolytic function of natural killer cell receptors is altered in chronic hepatitis C.* Gut, 2006. **55**(6): p. 869-77.
- Meier, U.C., et al., Shared alterations in NK cell frequency, phenotype, and function in chronic human immunodeficiency virus and hepatitis C virus infections. J Virol, 2005.
   79(19): p. 12365-74.
- 144. Corado, J., et al., *Impairment of natural killer (NK) cytotoxic activity in hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection.* Clin Exp Immunol, 1997. **109**(3): p. 451-7.
- 145. Harrison, R.J., et al., *Association of NKG2A with treatment for chronic hepatitis C virus infection.* Clin Exp Immunol, 2010. **161**(2): p. 306-14.
- 146. Jinushi, M., et al., Negative regulation of NK cell activities by inhibitory receptor CD94/NKG2A leads to altered NK cell-induced modulation of dendritic cell functions in chronic hepatitis C virus infection. J Immunol, 2004. **173**(10): p. 6072-81.
- 147. Takehara, T. and N. Hayashi, *Natural killer cells in hepatitis C virus infection: from innate immunity to adaptive immunity*. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2005. 3(10 Suppl 2): p. S78-81.
- 148. Varchetta, S., et al., *Impaired intrahepatic natural killer cell cytotoxic function in chronic hepatitis C virus infection*. Hepatology, 2012.
- 149. Yamagiwa, S., et al., Sustained response to interferon-alpha plus ribavirin therapy for chronic hepatitis C is closely associated with increased dynamism of intrahepatic natural killer and natural killer T cells. Hepatol Res, 2008. **38**(7): p. 664-72.
- 150. Kawarabayashi, N., et al., *Decrease of CD56(+)T cells and natural killer cells in cirrhotic livers with hepatitis C may be involved in their susceptibility to hepatocellular carcinoma.* Hepatology, 2000. **32**(5): p. 962-9.
- 151. Davis, G.L., et al., *Treatment of chronic hepatitis C with recombinant interferon alfa. A multicenter randomized, controlled trial. Hepatitis Interventional Therapy Group.* N Engl J Med, 1989. **321**(22): p. 1501-6.
- 152. Fried, M.W., et al., *Peginterferon alfa-2a plus ribavirin for chronic hepatitis C virus infection*. N Engl J Med, 2002. **347**(13): p. 975-82.
- 153. Manns, M.P., et al., *Peginterferon alfa-2b plus ribavirin compared with interferon alfa-2b plus ribavirin for initial treatment of chronic hepatitis C: a randomised trial.* Lancet, 2001. **358**(9286): p. 958-65.
- 154. Lau, D.T., et al., *10-Year follow-up after interferon-alpha therapy for chronic hepatitis C*. Hepatology, 1998. **28**(4): p. 1121-7.

- 155. McHutchison, J.G., et al., *Hepatic HCV RNA before and after treatment with interferon alone or combined with ribavirin.* Hepatology, 2002. **35**(3): p. 688-93.
- 156. Neumann, A.U., et al., *Hepatitis C viral dynamics in vivo and the antiviral efficacy of interferon-alpha therapy*. Science, 1998. **282**(5386): p. 103-7.
- 157. Perelson, A.S., et al., *New kinetic models for the hepatitis C virus*. Hepatology, 2005.
  42(4): p. 749-54.
- 158. Feld, J.J. and J.H. Hoofnagle, *Mechanism of action of interferon and ribavirin in treatment of hepatitis C.* Nature, 2005. **436**(7053): p. 967-72.
- 159. Hofmann, W.P., et al., *Mutagenic effect of ribavirin on hepatitis C nonstructural 5B quasispecies in vitro and during antiviral therapy*. Gastroenterology, 2007. **132**(3): p. 921-30.
- 160. Lutchman, G., et al., *Mutation rate of the hepatitis C virus NS5B in patients undergoing treatment with ribavirin monotherapy*. Gastroenterology, 2007. **132**(5): p. 1757-66.
- 161. Chevaliez, S., et al., *Analysis of ribavirin mutagenicity in human hepatitis C virus infection.* J Virol, 2007. **81**(14): p. 7732-41.
- 162. Feld, J.J., et al., *Hepatic gene expression during treatment with peginterferon and ribavirin: Identifying molecular pathways for treatment response*. Hepatology, 2007. 46(5): p. 1548-63.
- 163. Rigopoulou, E.I., et al., *Direct evidence for immunomodulatory properties of ribavirin on T-cell reactivity to hepatitis C virus*. Antiviral Res, 2007. **75**(1): p. 36-42.
- 164. Krueger, C., et al., *Persistent pro-inflammatory cytokines following the initiation of pegylated IFN therapy in hepatitis C infection is associated with treatment-induced depression.* J Viral Hepat, 2011. **18**(7): p. e284-91.
- 165. Lin, W., et al., *Hepatitis C virus core protein blocks interferon signaling by interaction with the STAT1 SH2 domain.* J Virol, 2006. **80**(18): p. 9226-35.
- Poordad, F., et al., *Boceprevir for untreated chronic HCV genotype 1 infection*. N Engl J Med, 2011. 364(13): p. 1195-206.
- 167. Jacobson, I.M., et al., *Telaprevir for previously untreated chronic hepatitis C virus infection*. N Engl J Med, 2011. **364**(25): p. 2405-16.
- 168. Bacon, B.R., et al., *Boceprevir for previously treated chronic HCV genotype 1 infection*. N Engl J Med, 2011. **364**(13): p. 1207-17.
- Zeuzem, S., et al., *Telaprevir for retreatment of HCV infection*. N Engl J Med, 2011.
   364(25): p. 2417-28.
- 170. Uprichard, S.L., *Hepatitis C virus experimental model systems and antiviral drug research*. Virol Sin, 2010. **25**(4): p. 227-45.
- 171. Tencate, V., et al., *Potential treatment options and future research to increase hepatitis C virus treatment response rate.* Hepat Med, 2010. **2010**(2): p. 125-145.
- 172. Hadziyannis, S.J., et al., *Peginterferon-alpha2a and ribavirin combination therapy in chronic hepatitis C: a randomized study of treatment duration and ribavirin dose*. Ann Intern Med, 2004. **140**(5): p. 346-55.
- 173. Martinot-Peignoux, M., et al., Pretreatment serum hepatitis C virus RNA levels and hepatitis C virus genotype are the main and independent prognostic factors of sustained response to interferon alfa therapy in chronic hepatitis C. Hepatology, 1995. 22(4 Pt 1): p. 1050-6.

- 174. Berg, T., et al., *Prediction of treatment outcome in patients with chronic hepatitis C: significance of baseline parameters and viral dynamics during therapy.* Hepatology, 2003. **37**(3): p. 600-9.
- 175. Martinot-Peignoux, M., et al., *Predictors of sustained response to alpha interferon therapy in chronic hepatitis C.* J Hepatol, 1998. **29**(2): p. 214-23.
- 176. Jensen, D.M., et al., *Early identification of HCV genotype 1 patients responding to 24 weeks peginterferon alpha-2a (40 kd)/ribavirin therapy.* Hepatology, 2006. **43**(5): p. 954-60.
- 177. Zeuzem, S., et al., *Efficacy of 24 weeks treatment with peginterferon alfa-2b plus ribavirin in patients with chronic hepatitis C infected with genotype 1 and low pretreatment viremia.* J Hepatol, 2006. **44**(1): p. 97-103.
- 178. Mangia, A., et al., *Peginterferon alfa-2b and ribavirin for 12 vs. 24 weeks in HCV genotype 2 or 3.* N Engl J Med, 2005. **352**(25): p. 2609-17.
- 179. von Wagner, M., et al., *Peginterferon-alpha-2a (40KD) and ribavirin for 16 or 24 weeks in patients with genotype 2 or 3 chronic hepatitis C.* Gastroenterology, 2005. **129**(2): p. 522-7.
- 180. Lee, S.S. and P. Ferenci, *Optimizing outcomes in patients with hepatitis C virus genotype 1 or 4.* Antivir Ther, 2008. **13 Suppl 1**: p. 9-16.
- McHutchison, J.G. and T. Poynard, Combination therapy with interferon plus ribavirin for the initial treatment of chronic hepatitis C. Semin Liver Dis, 1999. 19 Suppl 1: p. 57-65.
- 182. Lindsay, K.L., et al., *A randomized, double-blind trial comparing pegylated interferon alfa-2b to interferon alfa-2b as initial treatment for chronic hepatitis C.* Hepatology, 2001. **34**(2): p. 395-403.
- 183. Bressler, B.L., et al., *High body mass index is an independent risk factor for nonresponse to antiviral treatment in chronic hepatitis C.* Hepatology, 2003. **38**(3): p. 639-44.
- 184. D'Souza, R., C.A. Sabin, and G.R. Foster, *Insulin resistance plays a significant role in liver fibrosis in chronic hepatitis C and in the response to antiviral therapy*. Am J Gastroenterol, 2005. 100(7): p. 1509-15.
- 185. Jian Wu, Y., L. Shu Chen, and W. Gui Qiang, *Effects of fatty liver and related factors on the efficacy of combination antiviral therapy in patients with chronic hepatitis C.* Liver Int, 2006. **26**(2): p. 166-72.
- 186. Tabone, M., et al., Alcohol abstinence does not offset the strong negative effect of lifetime alcohol consumption on the outcome of interferon therapy. J Viral Hepat, 2002. 9(4): p. 288-94.
- 187. Alberti, A., *What are the comorbidities influencing the management of patients and the response to therapy in chronic hepatitis C?* Liver Int, 2009. **29 Suppl 1**: p. 15-8.
- Chu, C.J. and S.D. Lee, *Hepatitis B virus/hepatitis C virus coinfection: epidemiology, clinical features, viral interactions and treatment.* J Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2008. 23(4): p. 512-20.
- Alberti, A., et al., Short statement of the first European Consensus Conference on the treatment of chronic hepatitis B and C in HIV co-infected patients. J Hepatol, 2005.
   42(5): p. 615-24.
- 190. Poynard, T., et al., Randomised trial of interferon alpha2b plus ribavirin for 48 weeks or for 24 weeks versus interferon alpha2b plus placebo for 48 weeks for treatment of

*chronic infection with hepatitis C virus. International Hepatitis Interventional Therapy Group (IHIT).* Lancet, 1998. **352**(9138): p. 1426-32.

- 191. Zeuzem, S., *Do differences in pegylation of interferon alfa matter*? Gastroenterology. 138(1): p. 34-6.
- 192. Schalm, S.W., et al., *Interferon-ribavirin for chronic hepatitis C with and without cirrhosis: analysis of individual patient data of six controlled trials. Eurohep Study Group for Viral Hepatitis.* Gastroenterology, 1999. **117**(2): p. 408-13.
- 193. Brau, N., et al., Black patients with chronic hepatitis C have a lower sustained viral response rate than non-Blacks with genotype 1, but the same with genotypes 2/3, and this is not explained by more frequent dose reductions of interferon and ribavirin\*. J Viral Hepat, 2006. **13**(4): p. 242-9.
- 194. Conjeevaram, H.S., et al., Peginterferon and ribavirin treatment in African American and Caucasian American patients with hepatitis C genotype 1. Gastroenterology, 2006.
   131(2): p. 470-7.
- 195. McHutchison, J.G., et al., *The impact of interferon plus ribavirin on response to therapy in black patients with chronic hepatitis C. The International Hepatitis Interventional Therapy Group.* Gastroenterology, 2000. **119**(5): p. 1317-23.
- 196. Hepburn, M.J., et al., *Differences in treatment outcome for hepatitis C among ethnic groups*. Am J Med, 2004. **117**(3): p. 163-8.
- 197. Missiha, S., et al., Impact of asian race on response to combination therapy with peginterferon alfa-2a and ribavirin in chronic hepatitis C. Am J Gastroenterol, 2007. 102(10): p. 2181-8.
- 198. Cheung, R.C., et al., *Chronic hepatitis C in Latinos: natural history, treatment eligibility, acceptance, and outcomes.* Am J Gastroenterol, 2005. **100**(10): p. 2186-93.
- 199. Cooper, C.L., et al., *Outcomes of peginterferon alpha-2a and ribavirin hepatitis C therapy in Aboriginal Canadians*. Can J Gastroenterol, 2008. **22**(8): p. 677-80.
- 200. Tanaka, Y., et al., *Genome-wide association of IL28B with response to pegylated interferon-alpha and ribavirin therapy for chronic hepatitis C.* Nat Genet, 2009. 41(10): p. 1105-9.
- 201. Ge, D., et al., *Genetic variation in IL28B predicts hepatitis C treatment-induced viral clearance*. Nature, 2009. **461**(7262): p. 399-401.
- 202. Yee, L.J., et al., Interleukin 10 polymorphisms as predictors of sustained response in antiviral therapy for chronic hepatitis C infection. Hepatology, 2001. **33**(3): p. 708-12.
- 203. Kuzushita, N., et al., *High levels of serum interleukin-10 are associated with a poor response to interferon treatment in patients with chronic hepatitis C.* Scand J Gastroenterol, 1997. **32**(2): p. 169-74.
- 204. Jia, H., et al., *Clinical observation of serum IL-18, IL-10 and sIL-2R levels in patients with chronic hepatitis C pre- and post antiviral treatment.* Chin Med J (Engl), 2003. **116**(4): p. 605-8.
- 205. Dogra, G., et al., Polymorphism of tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-10 gene promoter region in chronic hepatitis C virus patients and their effect on pegylated interferon-alpha therapy response. Hum Immunol. **72**(10): p. 935-9.
- 206. Vidigal, P.G., J.J. Germer, and N.N. Zein, *Polymorphisms in the interleukin-10, tumor necrosis factor-alpha, and transforming growth factor-beta1 genes in chronic hepatitis C patients treated with interferon and ribavirin.* J Hepatol, 2002. **36**(2): p. 271-7.
- 207. Chuang, J.Y., et al., *IL-10 promoter gene polymorphisms and sustained response to combination therapy in Taiwanese chronic hepatitis C patients*. Dig Liver Dis, 2009. 41(6): p. 424-30.
- 208. Knapp, S., et al., *Consistent beneficial effects of killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor* 2DL3 and group 1 human leukocyte antigen-C following exposure to hepatitis C virus. Hepatology. **51**(4): p. 1168-75.
- 209. Vidal-Castineira, J.R., et al., *Effect of killer immunoglobulin-like receptors in the response to combined treatment in patients with chronic hepatitis C virus infection.* J Virol, 2010. **84**(1): p. 475-81.
- 210. Honda, K. and T. Taniguchi, *IRFs: master regulators of signalling by Toll-like receptors and cytosolic pattern-recognition receptors.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2006. **6**(9): p. 644-58.
- 211. Wathelet, M.G., et al., Virus infection induces the assembly of coordinately activated transcription factors on the IFN-beta enhancer in vivo. Mol Cell, 1998. 1(4): p. 507-18.
- 212. Sarasin-Filipowicz, M., et al., *Interferon signaling and treatment outcome in chronic hepatitis C.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2008. **105**(19): p. 7034-9.
- 213. Der, S.D., et al., *Identification of genes differentially regulated by interferon alpha, beta, or gamma using oligonucleotide arrays.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1998. **95**(26): p. 15623-8.
- 214. de Veer, M.J., et al., *Functional classification of interferon-stimulated genes identified using microarrays.* J Leukoc Biol, 2001. **69**(6): p. 912-20.
- 215. van Boxel-Dezaire, A.H., M.R. Rani, and G.R. Stark, *Complex modulation of cell type-specific signaling in response to type I interferons*. Immunity, 2006. **25**(3): p. 361-72.
- 216. Platanias, L.C., *Mechanisms of type-I- and type-II-interferon-mediated signalling*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2005. **5**(5): p. 375-86.
- 217. Brass, A.L., et al., *The IFITM proteins mediate cellular resistance to influenza A H1N1 virus, West Nile virus, and dengue virus.* Cell, 2009. **139**(7): p. 1243-54.
- 218. Sakamoto, E., et al., *Type I and type II interferons delay human neutrophil apoptosis via activation of STAT3 and up-regulation of cellular inhibitor of apoptosis 2.* J Leukoc Biol, 2005. **78**(1): p. 301-9.
- Kropp, K.A., et al., *Reversible inhibition of murine cytomegalovirus replication by gamma interferon (IFN-gamma) in primary macrophages involves a primed type I IFN-signaling subnetwork for full establishment of an immediate-early antiviral state.* J Virol. **85**(19): p. 10286-99.
- Martinez, J., X. Huang, and Y. Yang, Direct action of type I IFN on NK cells is required for their activation in response to vaccinia viral infection in vivo. J Immunol, 2008. 180(3): p. 1592-7.
- 221. Stetson, D.B. and R. Medzhitov, *Type I interferons in host defense*. Immunity, 2006. **25**(3): p. 373-81.
- 222. Szabo, S.J., et al., *Distinct effects of T-bet in TH1 lineage commitment and IFN-gamma production in CD4 and CD8 T cells*. Science, 2002. **295**(5553): p. 338-42.
- 223. Rogge, L., et al., *The role of Stat4 in species-specific regulation of Th cell development by type I IFNs.* J Immunol, 1998. **161**(12): p. 6567-74.
- 224. Tough, D.F., P. Borrow, and J. Sprent, *Induction of bystander T cell proliferation by viruses and type I interferon in vivo*. Science, 1996. **272**(5270): p. 1947-50.
- 225. Luft, T., et al., *Type I IFNs enhance the terminal differentiation of dendritic cells.* J Immunol, 1998. **161**(4): p. 1947-53.

- 226. Santini, S.M., et al., *Type I interferon as a powerful adjuvant for monocyte-derived dendritic cell development and activity in vitro and in Hu-PBL-SCID mice.* J Exp Med, 2000. **191**(10): p. 1777-88.
- 227. Willberg, C.B., et al., *Protection of hepatocytes from cytotoxic T cell mediated killing by interferon-alpha*. PLoS One, 2007. **2**(8): p. e791.
- 228. Brassard, D.L., M.J. Grace, and R.W. Bordens, *Interferon-alpha as an immunotherapeutic protein*. J Leukoc Biol, 2002. **71**(4): p. 565-81.
- 229. Takaoka, A. and H. Yanai, *Interferon signalling network in innate defence*. Cell Microbiol, 2006. **8**(6): p. 907-22.
- 230. Fathy, A., et al., *Interferon therapy shifts natural killer subsets among Egyptian patients with chronic hepatitis C.* Braz J Infect Dis. **14**(4): p. 398-405.
- 231. Lee, S., et al., Increased proportion of the CD56(bright) NK cell subset in patients chronically infected with hepatitis C virus (HCV) receiving interferon-alpha and ribavirin therapy. J Med Virol. **82**(4): p. 568-74.
- 232. Par, G., et al., *Decrease in CD3-negative-CD8dim(+) and Vdelta2/Vgamma9 TcR+ peripheral blood lymphocyte counts, low perforin expression and the impairment of natural killer cell activity is associated with chronic hepatitis C virus infection.* J Hepatol, 2002. **37**(4): p. 514-22.
- 233. Alter, G., J.M. Malenfant, and M. Altfeld, *CD107a as a functional marker for the identification of natural killer cell activity*. J Immunol Methods, 2004. **294**(1-2): p. 15-22.
- 234. Barber, D.L., et al., *Restoring function in exhausted CD8 T cells during chronic viral infection*. Nature, 2006. **439**(7077): p. 682-7.
- 235. Golden-Mason, L., et al., *Cutting edge: programmed death-1 expression is increased on immunocytes in chronic hepatitis C virus and predicts failure of response to antiviral therapy: race-dependent differences.* J Immunol, 2008. **180**(6): p. 3637-41.
- 236. Cramp, M.E., et al., *Hepatitis C virus-specific T-cell reactivity during interferon and ribavirin treatment in chronic hepatitis C.* Gastroenterology, 2000. **118**(2): p. 346-55.
- 237. Shoukry, N.H., A.G. Cawthon, and C.M. Walker, *Cell-mediated immunity and the outcome of hepatitis C virus infection*. Annu Rev Microbiol, 2004. **58**: p. 391-424.
- 238. Pelletier, S., et al., *Increased degranulation of natural killer cells during acute HCV correlates with the magnitude of virus-specific T cell responses.* J Hepatol, 2010. **53**(5): p. 805-16.
- 239. McClatchey, K.D., *Clinical Laboratory Medicine*. 2nd Edition ed. 2002: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins. 288.
- 240. Rempel, J.D., et al., *The influence of North American Aboriginal ethnicity on proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokine responses to IFN-alpha.* J Viral Hepat, 2009. **16**(4): p. 292-7.
- 241. Larcombe, L., et al., *Differential cytokine genotype frequencies among Canadian Aboriginal and Caucasian populations*. Genes Immun, 2005. **6**(2): p. 140-4.
- 242. Hoffmann, S.C., et al., *Ethnicity greatly influences cytokine gene polymorphism distribution*. Am J Transplant, 2002. **2**(6): p. 560-7.
- 243. Kaur, G., et al., *Frequency distribution of cytokine gene polymorphisms in the healthy North Indian population.* Tissue Antigens, 2007. **69**(2): p. 113-20.
- 244. Wilson, A.G., et al., *Single base polymorphism in the human tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF alpha) gene detectable by NcoI restriction of PCR product.* Hum Mol Genet, 1992. **1**(5): p. 353.

- 245. D'Alfonso, S. and P.M. Richiardi, *A polymorphic variation in a putative regulation box of the TNFA promoter region*. Immunogenetics, 1994. **39**(2): p. 150-4.
- 246. Larcombe, L.A., et al., *Functional gene polymorphisms in canadian aboriginal populations with high rates of tuberculosis.* J Infect Dis, 2008. **198**(8): p. 1175-9.
- 247. Golabek, V., et al., [Role of the PD-1/PD-L1 pathway in immunopathology of HBV infection as the chance on the new therapeutic strategy]
  Upregulation of PD-1 expression on circulating and intrahepatic hepatitis C virus-specific CD8+ T cells associated with reversible immune dysfunction
  Restoring function in exhausted CD8 T cells during chronic viral infection. Przegl Epidemiol, 2007. 64(4): p. 485-9.
- 248. Trautmann, L., et al., *Upregulation of PD-1 expression on HIV-specific CD8+ T cells leads to reversible immune dysfunction*. Nat Med, 2006. **12**(10): p. 1198-202.
- 249. Petrovas, C., et al., *PD-1 is a regulator of virus-specific CD8+ T cell survival in HIV infection.* J Exp Med, 2006. **203**(10): p. 2281-92.
- 250. Golden-Mason, L., et al., *Upregulation of PD-1 expression on circulating and intrahepatic hepatitis C virus-specific CD8+ T cells associated with reversible immune dysfunction.* J Virol, 2007. **81**(17): p. 9249-58.
- 251. Radziewicz, H., et al., *Liver-infiltrating lymphocytes in chronic human hepatitis C virus infection display an exhausted phenotype with high levels of PD-1 and low levels of CD127 expression.* J Virol, 2007. **81**(6): p. 2545-53.
- 252. Urbani, S., et al., *PD-1 expression in acute hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection is associated with HCV-specific CD8 exhaustion.* J Virol, 2006. **80**(22): p. 11398-403.
- Edlich, B., et al., Early changes in interferon signaling define natural killer cell response and refractoriness to interferon-based therapy of hepatitis C patients. Hepatology, 2012. 55(1): p. 39-48.
- 254. Hotho, D.M., et al., *Natural killer cell activity and function in chronic HCV-infected patients during peg interferon and ribavirin: Early effects of active substance use.* Antiviral Res, 2013. **97**(3): p. 347-55.
- 255. Korbel, D.S., et al., *Heterogeneous human NK cell responses to Plasmodium falciparuminfected erythrocytes.* J Immunol, 2005. **175**(11): p. 7466-73.
- 256. Wakita, T., et al., *Production of infectious hepatitis C virus in tissue culture from a cloned viral genome*. Nat Med, 2005. **11**(7): p. 791-6.
- 257. Crotta, S., et al., *Hepatitis C virions subvert natural killer cell activation to generate a cytokine environment permissive for infection.* J Hepatol, 2010. **52**(2): p. 183-90.
- 258. Yoon, J.C., et al., *Natural killer cell function is intact after direct exposure to infectious hepatitis C virions*. Hepatology, 2009. **49**(1): p. 12-21.
- 259. Gale, M., Jr. and E.M. Foy, *Evasion of intracellular host defence by hepatitis C virus*. Nature, 2005. **436**(7053): p. 939-45.
- 260. Yoon, J.C., et al., *Cell-to-cell contact with hepatitis C virus-infected cells reduces functional capacity of natural killer cells.* J Virol, 2011. **85**(23): p. 12557-69.
- 261. Konjevic, G., et al., *Distribution of several activating and inhibitory receptors on CD3-CD16+ NK cells and their correlation with NK cell function in healthy individuals.* J Membr Biol, 2009. **230**(3): p. 113-23.
- 262. Duske, H., et al., *Assessment of physiologic natural killer cell cytotoxicity in vitro*. Hum Immunol, 2011. **72**(11): p. 1007-12.

- 263. Waggoner, S.N., et al., *Natural killer cells act as rheostats modulating antiviral T cells*. Nature, 2011. **481**(7381): p. 394-8.
- 264. Bukowski, J.F., et al., *Natural killer cell depletion enhances virus synthesis and virus-induced hepatitis in vivo.* J Immunol, 1983. **131**(3): p. 1531-8.
- 265. Wiesmayr, S., et al., *Decreased NKp46 and NKG2D and elevated PD-1 are associated with altered NK-cell function in pediatric transplant patients with PTLD*. Eur J Immunol, 2012. **42**(2): p. 541-50.
- 266. Friedman, S.L., *Mechanisms of hepatic fibrogenesis*. Gastroenterology, 2008. **134**(6): p. 1655-69.
- 267. Pinzani, M. and J. Macias-Barragan, *Update on the pathophysiology of liver fibrosis*. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2010. **4**(4): p. 459-72.
- 268. Bataller, R. and D.A. Brenner, *Liver fibrosis*. J Clin Invest, 2005. 115(2): p. 209-18.
- 269. Marra, F., et al., *Mononuclear cells in liver fibrosis*. Semin Immunopathol, 2009. **31**(3): p. 345-58.
- 270. Glassner, A., et al., *NK cells from HCV-infected patients effectively induce apoptosis of activated primary human hepatic stellate cells in a TRAIL-, FasL- and NKG2D-dependent manner.* Lab Invest, 2012. **92**(7): p. 967-77.
- 271. Yoshida, K., et al., Lymphocyte subset characterization associated with persistent hepatitis C virus infection and subsequent progression of liver fibrosis. Hum Immunol, 2011. 72(10): p. 821-6.
- 272. Jeong, W.I., et al., *STAT1 inhibits liver fibrosis in mice by inhibiting stellate cell proliferation and stimulating NK cell cytotoxicity.* Hepatology, 2006. **44**(6): p. 1441-51.
- 273. Kramer, B., et al., *Natural killer p46High expression defines a natural killer cell subset that is potentially involved in control of hepatitis C virus replication and modulation of liver fibrosis.* Hepatology, 2012. **56**(4): p. 1201-13.
- 274. Eisenhardt, M., et al., *The CXCR3(+)CD56Bright phenotype characterizes a distinct NK cell subset with anti-fibrotic potential that shows dys-regulated activity in hepatitis C.* PLoS One, 2012. 7(7): p. e38846.
- 275. Syn, W.K., et al., *NKT-associated hedgehog and osteopontin drive fibrogenesis in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease.* Gut, 2012. **61**(9): p. 1323-9.
- 276. Jin, Z., et al., Accelerated liver fibrosis in hepatitis B virus transgenic mice: involvement of natural killer T cells. Hepatology, 2011. **53**(1): p. 219-29.
- 277. Miyagi, T., et al., *Absence of invariant natural killer T cells deteriorates liver inflammation and fibrosis in mice fed high-fat diet.* J Gastroenterol, 2010. **45**(12): p. 1247-54.
- 278. Park, O., et al., *Diverse roles of invariant natural killer T cells in liver injury and fibrosis induced by carbon tetrachloride.* Hepatology, 2009. **49**(5): p. 1683-94.
- 279. Pasquinelli, C., et al., *Hepatitis C virus core and E2 protein expression in transgenic mice*. Hepatology, 1997. **25**(3): p. 719-27.
- 280. Kurokohchi, K., et al., *CD28-negative CD8-positive cytotoxic T lymphocytes mediate hepatocellular damage in hepatitis C virus infection.* J Clin Immunol, 2003. **23**(6): p. 518-27.
- 281. Freeman, A.J., et al., *The presence of an intrahepatic cytotoxic T lymphocyte response is associated with low viral load in patients with chronic hepatitis C virus infection*. J Hepatol, 2003. 38(3): p. 349-56.

- 282. Pernollet, M., et al., *Simultaneous evaluation of lymphocyte subpopulations in the liver and in peripheral blood mononuclear cells of HCV-infected patients: relationship with histological lesions.* Clin Exp Immunol, 2002. **130**(3): p. 518-25.
- Larkin, J., et al., Cytokine-activated natural killer cells exert direct killing of hepatoma cells harboring hepatitis C virus replicons. J Interferon Cytokine Res, 2006. 26(12): p. 854-65.
- 284. Ahlenstiel, G., et al., *Early changes in natural killer cell function indicate virologic response to interferon therapy for hepatitis C.* Gastroenterology, 2011. **141**(4): p. 1231-9, 1239 e1-2.
- 285. Grebely, J., G.V. Matthews, and G.J. Dore, *Treatment of acute HCV infection*. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2011. **8**(5): p. 265-74.
- 286. Fried, M.W., *Side effects of therapy of hepatitis C and their management*. Hepatology, 2002. **36**(5 Suppl 1): p. S237-44.
- 287. Sulkowski, M.S., et al., *Management of adverse effects of Peg-IFN and ribavirin therapy for hepatitis C.* Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2011. **8**(4): p. 212-23.
- 288. Reddy, K.R., D.R. Nelson, and S. Zeuzem, *Ribavirin: current role in the optimal clinical management of chronic hepatitis C.* J Hepatol, 2009. **50**(2): p. 402-11.
- 289. Miyagi, T., et al., *Altered interferon-alpha-signaling in natural killer cells from patients with chronic hepatitis C virus infection.* J Hepatol, 2010. **53**(3): p. 424-30.
- 290. Takahashi, K., et al., *Plasmacytoid dendritic cells sense hepatitis C virus-infected cells, produce interferon, and inhibit infection.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2010. **107**(16): p. 7431-6.
- 291. Lau, D.T., et al., *Innate immune tolerance and the role of kupffer cells in differential responses to interferon therapy among patients with HCV genotype 1 infection*. Gastroenterology, 2013. **144**(2): p. 402-413 e12.
- 292. Oliviero, B., et al., *Natural killer cell dynamic profile is associated with treatment outcome in patients with chronic HCV infection.* J Hepatol, 2013.
- 293. Bozzano, F., et al., *Activating NK cell receptor expression/function (NKp30, NKp46, DNAM-1) during chronic viraemic HCV infection is associated with the outcome of combined treatment.* Eur J Immunol, 2011. **41**(10): p. 2905-14.